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The
Macdonough - Hackstaff Ancestry

HERE bhas just been issued from the
press of Samuel Usher, Boston, a hand-
some, illustrated edition of a work
entitled “ The Macdonough - Hackstaff
Ancestry,” by Rodney Macdonough.

The volume consists of a series of fifty-five articles
on the writer’s ancestors from the time of their ar-
rival in this country to the present day. An article
has been written on each male ancestor in which, in
addition to what is known of his wife, is contained
all the information obtainable as to his birth, mar-
riage and death; where he lived ; purchase and sale
of property ; civil offices held; naval and military ser-
vice; children; and such events and particulars in
his life as would be interesting to his descendants.
Although the volume is printed for private distribu-
tion, it contains much that will be of interest to
genealogists in the shape of wills, inventories, ex-
tracts from and illustrations of original records, etc.
The articles include the families of

BARKER HAWXHURST SHALER
BIGG HOPKINS SINCLAIR
BURROWES LAROUX SPENCER
COIT MACDONOUGH STOCKING
COLE MORRELL STOW
DENNING MOULD SWAZY
GARR PRATT TOWNSEND
GRIGGS PRIEST VANCE
HACKSTAFF REDDOCKE WILLIAMS
HALLOCK

[yt



But three or four of the twenty wills and eighteen
inventories here given have ever been printed before.
The illustrations include numerous ancient docu-
ments of much interest and value. There is a full
set of ancestral charts and a complete index of per-
sons and places.

Probably the most valuable portion of the work,
historically, is that devoted to Commodore Thomas
Macdonough, U. S. N., the writer's grandfather.
This article contains the greater part of an autobi-
ography left by the Commodore which has never
been made public. The article is preceded by a full
page half-tone reproduction of the Stuart portrait of
Commodore Macdonough, and also contains half-tone,
full page illustrations of the battle on Lake Cham-
plain, September 11, 1814, the autograph despatch
from the Commodore to the Secretary of the Navy
announcing the result of the engagement, and the
obverse and reverse of the gold medal granted by
Congress,

D

“The Macdonough-Hackstaff Ancestry ; lkimited edition
of 300 copies, printed from Wype on high grade paper, wide
margin and uncut; square octavo; 526 pages, 36 full page
half-tone sllustrations and complete index; bound in linen ;
$5.00 a copy, After January 1,1902,87.50 a copy.” OPder

7om Rodney Macdonough, 205 Washington Street, Boston,
Mass.
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INTRODUCTION.

For several years the writer was engaged in tracing the ances-
tors of Captain Charles Shaler McDonough, U. S. N,, and Clara
(Hackstaff) McDonough, his father and mother, and in collecting
all the information possible concerning them. No systematic
effort in that direction had ever been made. The search resulted
in the acquisition of a large quantity of interesting and valuable
material gathered from standard genealogical works ; state, county
and town histories ; government, state and town records, original
and printed ; and, in the case of the later generations, from the
personal recollections of various members of the family.

About a year ago it was suggested that the information so
obtained be printed, both to preserve it and to enable other mem-
bers of the family, who might be interested in such matters, to
enjoy it. This volume is the result of that suggestion. It is the
writer’s first attempt at book making and is offered with consid-
erable diffidence on that account. The sole object in view is to
present certain facts in a plain, direct way. The utmost pains
have been taken in the collection and preparation of its contents
-and it is thought that the result will be found as nearly absolutely
accurate in every respect as the nature of the work will allow.

The names herein will be found arranged in groups, each group
representing a generation. The first generation consists of the
‘writer with his brother and sisters ; the second generation of their
parents; the third generation of their grandparents; the fourth
generation of their great-grandparents, and so on. An article has
been written on each male ancestor in which, in addition to what
is known of his wife, is contained all the information obtainable as
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to his birth, marriage and death; where he lived ; purchase and
sale of property; civil offices held ; naval and military service;
children; and such events and particulars in his life as would be
interesting to his descendants. Copies have been made of many
quaint and curious wills, inventories and signatures.

In the table of contents the subjects of the articles are arranged
alphabetically, but the names of members of the same family are
arranged according to generations, the latter being indicated by
figures following the names. The ancestral charts will enable
the reader to distinguish between the Macdonough and the Hack-
staff ancestors, and the table of contents will enable him to follow
the line of any family from generation to generation. The charts
are so arranged that additional names may be inserted at any
time. With one or two exceptions the different branches have
been traced only to the time of their appearance in this country.
For various reasons it has not been found practicable to attempt
to carry on investigations abroad.

In regard to the spelling of proper names the writer would say
that for genealogical reasons he has adhered to the form of the
name used by the subject of each article, although that form may
not have been used by other members of the same generation or
other generations.

To those who have occasion to consult genealogical and kindred
works, for pleasure or profit, a good index is indispensable. The
writer has endeavored to provide this volume with an index so
complete and comprehensive that any person or any place men-
tioned herein may be found with a minimum expenditure of time
. and trouble. [Each female who married is indexed not only under
her maiden name but also under her married name with the maiden
name added. For instance, Samuel Stocking’s daughter Bethia
is indexed first as Bethia Stocking. She married Thomas Stow
and is then again indexed as Bethia (Stocking) Stow. By this
system of indexing a female may be traced by either her maiden
or her married name.
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The writer desires to record his grateful appreciation of the
kindness of those who have aided him in his work in various ways.
Many valuable suggestions were made by Mr. George Ernest
Bowman, editor of “The Mayflower Descendant,” and much
assistance was also rendered by him in connection with the Plym-
outh Colony records. Mr. George W. Cocks of Glen Cove, Long
Island, very kindly placed at the writer's disposal his valuable col-
lection of notes regarding the Pratt, Hawxhurst and Townsend
families, and Mr. Robert B. Miller of New York also furnished
considerable information concerning the same families. Mr. A. R.
Macdonough of New York, Mr. William G. Hackstaff and Mr.
Alexander G. Hackstaff of Morristown, N. J.,, Mrs. Mary K. Van
Rensselaer of New York, Mr. William Shaler Johnson of Chester,
Pa., Mrs. Jacob Lockman of New York, Mr. Henry E. Woods of
Boston, Mrs. Ryer of New York, Mr. Edward Field of Providence,
R. I, and Alfred B. Nichols, a.B, D.B., of Harvard University,
have each placed the writer under obligations by rendering assist-
ance in one way or another.

The hope is expressed that the present work will serve as a
foundation for future investigations by those whose interest it may
arouse to the end that additional information may be secured con-
cerning those who are mentioned herein and that, in the course of
time, the names now missing from the ancestral charts may be
found and inserted in their proper places so as to form a complete,
harmonious whole.

RODNEY MACDONOUGH.
205 WASHINGTON STREET, BOSTON, MAss.,
August 1, 190I.
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FIRST GENERATION.

The children of Captain Charles Shaler and Clara (Hackstaff)
McDonough are:—

1. WiLLiaAM RobNEY MAcDONOUGH, born in Middletown, Conn.,
May g, 1862 ; died May 10, 1862.

2. RopNEY MaAcpONOUGH, born in Middletown, Conn., June 7,
1863 ; went to Martinsburg, N. Y., in 1867, and from there to
Montclair, N. J., in 1871 ; at Ury House School, Fox Chase, Pa.,
from September, 1872, to June, 1877, and at Trinity Military In-
stitute, Tivoli, N. Y., from September, 1877, to lTune, 1881 ;
admitted to Yale in 1881 ; entered the service of the Pennsylvania
Railroad Company (Passenger Department, General Office, Phila-
delphia, Pa.) April 14, 1885, and transferred to Boston, Mass,, as
Traveling Passenger Agent, New England District, February 4,
1889. Member of the Delaware State Society of the Cincinnati ;
Society of Mayflower Descendants; Society of Colonial Wars;
Naval Order of the United States ; Society of Sons of the Revolu-
tion ; Society of the War of 1812 ; Society of Sons of the Ameri-
can Revolution; New England Historic Genealogical Society.
Clubs : — Germantown Cricket Club, Philadelphia; University,
New Haven ; Algonquin, Boston.

3. Lucy SHALER MacpoNouGH, born in Middletown, Conn.,
December 8, 1865 ; went to Martinsburg, N. Y., in 1867, and from
there to Montclair, N. J., in 1871; thence to Conway, Mass.
Greenfield, Mass., and Philadelphia, Pa. ; at Germantown, Pa., from
1887 to 1892, and in Cleveland, Ohio, until January, 1894, when
she returned to Philadelphia and has since lived there. She was

1



2 THE MACDONOUGH-HACKSTAFF ANCESTRY.

married November 22, 1900, at her home in Philadelphia, to
Charles Holcombe, son of James Edward and Emma (Jones) Reade,
of “Holly Bank,” Princes Park, Liverpool, England, by the Rev-
erend Richard H. Nelson, Rector of St. Peter's Church, assisted by
the Reverend Thomas Frederick Davies, Jr.

4. GEORGE HACKSTAFF MAcDONOUGH, born in Martinsburg,
N. Y, August 12, 1867 ; went thence to Montclair, N. J., Conway,
Mass., Greenfield, Mass., and Philadelphia, Pa.; at Ury House
School, Fox Chase, Pa., from September, 1874, to June, 1879, and
at Trinity Military Institute, Tivoli, N. Y., from September, 1879,
to June, 1882 ; at Montclair, N. J., until 1883, and with the Amer-
ican Ship Building Company, Kensington, Pa., until November 17,
1884 ; entered the service of the Erie Railway Company (Jersey
City shops) November 24, 1884 ; transferred to office of the Chief
Engineer, New York city, January 7, 1889 ; transferred to office
of the Signal Engineer, Cleveland, Ohio, as Engineer of Signals,
January 11, 1892. Member of the Society of Sons of the Revolu-
tion. Club : — Roadside, Cleveland.

The only child of Clara (Hackstaff) McDonough by her second
marriage to Robert Adams is : —

I. MARTHA ARABELLA DE PAU ApaMms born in Philadelphia, Pa.,
December 7, 1878 ; married at St. Peter’s Church, Philadelphia,
November 25, 1899, to Charles, son of Améde¢ Depau and Helen
(Morgan) Moran, of New York city, by the Right Reverend
Thomas Frederick Davies, D.D., Bishop of Michigan, assisted by
the Reverend Richard H. Nelson, Rector of St. Peter’s, and the
Reverend Thomas Frederick Davies, Jr. She has a daughter,
Helen Morgan, born in New York city January 25, 1901.
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SECOND GENERATION.

CAPTAIN CHARLES SHALER McDONOUGH, U. S. N.

b. June 28, 1818.
m. October 18, 1855.
d. December 1, 1871.

CAPTAIN CHARLES SHALER McDonNouaH, U. S. N,, son of Com-
modore Thomas and Lucy Ann (Shaler) Macdonough, was born
-in Middletown, Conn., June 28, 1818. His early boyhood was
spent in Middletown. When eight years old he went to Strat-
ford, Conn., where he remained a few years with Mr. Edward
" Rutledge who had been appointed guardian of the Macdonough
children January §, 1826. From Stratford he went to Phila-

Gofpt £ Py §rrroegl

From the fiyleaf of a book, 1870.

delphia, Pa., with Mr. Rutledge and lived there about three years.
On Mr. Rutledge’s death he returned to Middletown and lived
for several years with Mr. Edwin F. Johnson, who had been
appointed to succeed his former guardian. In 1833 he entered
Hamilton College, Oneida County, N. Y., where he remained
until he received his appointment as Acting Midshipman in the
United States Navy April 8, 1835.

His service record as furnished by the Navy Department,
Washington, is as follows : —

3
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1835v April 8.
Appointed Acting Midshipman.
1836, April g.
Ordered to the Frigate Umited States to report by the 1st of
May.
1837, March 27.
Warranted as Midshipman.

1838, March 27.

Granted leave of absence for six months from the expiration
of the cruise of the Frigate United States in the Mediterranean,
and at the expiration of the leave to report for duty on the
Mediterranean Squadron.

1840, November §.
Reported his return from the Mediterranean.

1840, November 11.
Granted leave of absence until the sth of January.

1840, December 2.

Permitted to attend the Naval School, Philadelphia, on the s5th
of January.
1841, June §.

Ordered to examination for promotion on June 14th.

1841, June 30.

Warranted as Passed Midshipman, to rank from June 22nd.
1841, July 12.

Ordered to the Receiving Ship Nortk Carolina at New York.
1841, September 7.

Ordered to the Schooner Pianix.
1841, September 14.

Previous order revoked and to resume duty on the Receiving
Ship at New York.
1842, February 3.

Ordered to the Steamer Missousrs.




CAPTAIN CHARLES SHALER McDONOUGH, U. S. N. 5

1842, February 14.
Transferred to the Dolphin as Acting Master.

1842, December 12.
Detached from the Dolpkin when successor reports and granted
leave for two months,

1843, April 28.

To the Receiving Ship at New Orleans. Transferred to the
Dolpkin.
1844, February 6.

Detached and to the Store Brig Pioncer as Acting Master.
1844, February 14.

Detached and to the Zruxfon as Acting Master.

1844, March 29.
Reports his return to the United States sick.

1845, March 31.
Granted leave for three months.

1846, May 29.
Ordered to the Store Ship Lexington.
1846, June 8.
Previous order revoked on account of ill health.

1847, March 15.
Ordered to the Steamer Union as Acting Master.

1847, March 22,
Previous order revoked on account of ill health.

1847, September 1.
Warranted Master from August 12, 1847.

1847, October 21.
Ordered to the /ris for Home Squadron.

1847, November g.
Ordered to Vera Cruz, via New Orleans, for duty on the Home
Squadron,
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1847, November 26.
Previous order revoked on account of ill health, and ordered to
report health monthly to the Department.

1848, May 16.
Promoted to Lieutenant.

1848, June 22.
Commissioned Lieutenant from 16th of May, 1848.

1848, August 21.
Ordered to the Frigate Cumberland.

1848, November 2.
Detached from the Cumberiand and to the Frigate Raritan.

1848, November 30.
Detached from the Raritan and to the Frigate Savannak.

1852, February 2.
Detached from the Falmout/ and granted three months leave of
absence.

1852, November 19.
Ordered to the Frigate Constitution.
1855, August 13.

Detached from the Marion and granted three months leave of
absence.

1855, October 11.
Ordered to the Navy Yard, Boston.

1857, September 4.

Detached from the Navy Yard, Boston, and ordered to the
Frigate Merrimack.
1858, July 28.

Ordered to the Frigate Sabsne.

1859, May 26.
Detached from the Sadine and ordered to the Constellation.







CLARA (HACKSTAFF) McDoONOUGH.
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1860, September 6.
Detached from the Constellation.

1862, April 14.
Placed on the retired list.

1863, November 12.
To the Receiving Ship at New York.

1864, November 21.
Detached and to the Receiving Ship Vandalia.

1865, May 3.
Detached and placed on waiting orders.

1867, April 4.
Commissioned Captain on the retired list.

After being placed on the retired list he made his home in
Middletown when not on duty assigned him by the Navy Depart-
ment. He continued to reside in Middletown until 1867, when,
his health failing, he moved to Martinsburg, Lewis County, N. Y.,
expecting to receive some benefit from the change. He remained
in Martinsburg until 1870 and then went to Montclair, N. J.,
where he died December 1, 1871.

Captain McDonough was an excellent sailor and stood high in
his profession. He was of an exceedingly warm hearted and
affectionate disposition, a staunch friend, and generous to a fault.
He had a sailor’s bright and cheery manner with a never failing
sense of humor and a keen appreciation of the brighter side of
life. Like his Shaler ancestors he had the gift of writing easily,
and his letters from home and foreign stations were always bright
and entertaining.

He was a member of St. John’s Lodge of Masons, Middletown,
having been admitted March 19, 1847.

Captain McDonough’s wife was Clara, daughter of William G.
and Anna (Garr) Hackstaff, to whom he was married October 18,
1855, by the Reverend Frederick J. Goodwin, Rector of the
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Church of the Holy Trinity, Middletown. After his death she
married, December 18, 1873, Robert Adams of Philadelphia, Pa.,
who died January 21, 1894. She has continued to make Phila-
delphia her home since Mr. Adams’ death.
Sweet and lovable in
; é é . Q ;  character, cultivated in
M74_,_. mind and gentle in her
ways, she was ever a faith-
From her prayer book, 186s. ful and affectionate wife,
a loving, unselfish and de-
voted mother. It is the hope of her children that she may long
be spared to those whose greatest privilege and pleasure is in
attempting to repay a portion of her lifelong devotion to their
welfare and happiness.
The children of the first marriage are : —

1. William Rodney, born in Middletown, Conn.,, May g, 1862;
died May 10, 1862.

2. Rodney, born in Middletown, Conn., June 7, 1863.

3. Lucy Shaler, born in Middletown, Conn., December 8, 1865 ;
married Charles Holcombe, son of James Edward and Emma
(Jones) Reade, November 22, 1900.

4. George Hackstaff, born in Martinsburg, N. Y., August 12,
1867.

The only child of the second marriage is : —

1. Martha Arabella de Pau, born in Philadelphia, Pa.,, December
7, 1878 ; married Charles, son of Améde¢ Depau and Helen
(Morgan) Moran, November 25, 1899, and has issue.

AUTHORITIES.

Family Records.
Records of the Navy Department, Washington, D. C.
Middletown (Conn.) Record of Births, Marriages and Deaths.
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(From the Stuart Portrail.)



THIRD GENERATION.

COMMODORE THOMAS MACDONOUGH, U. S. N.

5. December 31, 1783,
m. December 12, 1812,
d. November 10, 1823.

Though small in area, Delaware has furnished her full propor-
tion of those who have counted it a privilege to serve their coun-
try in their country’s need. In the stormy days which preceded
the birth of the young Republic and in the stirring times which
followed her voice was heard in the halls of Congress and her arm
was bared on land and sea in support of liberty, justice and
equality.

Delaware may well be proud of her children and they of her.
Among those who were glad to call themselves her sons was one
who was a Delawarean by birth, a Delawarean by training, and,
above all, a Delawarean in his intense love and loyalty to his
country and in the undaunted courage with ‘which he maintained
her honor at home and abroad — Commodore Thomas Macdon-
ough, United States Navy.

Commodore Macdonough was the son of Thomas and Mary
(Vance) McDonough and was born December 31, 1783, at the
Trap, New Castle County, Delaware, on the farm on which his
father and grandfather had lived before him. For sixteen years
he lived at or near his home, haopy and contented and doing the
duty that came to his hand. He always retained a lively recol-
lection and affection for the home of his youth, and in a letter

9
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written to his sister Lydia from Middletown, Connecticut, in after
years he says, “I should like to visit the old home where I have
spent some youthful happy hours; to stroll about the fields and
woods as I used to do.” Just after completing his sixteenth year
he entered the Navy.

It is not hard to understand why he should have chosen this
course. His early associations were all of such a character as to
make the choice a perfectly natural one for one of his tempera-
ment and disposition. His father had served with honor as an
officer in the Revolution and many a time, no doubt, in the long
winter evenings, seated before the generous fireplace filled with
blazing logs, with his children around him, had told the story of
the war; told of the long and weary march, of the camp-fire and
the bivouac, the cold, hunger and fatigue, the battle and the gal-
lant deeds of gallant men for love of liberty. How the boy’s
heart must have throbbed as he heard the story from his fath-
er's lips! In the same regiment with the lad’s father was his
uncle James, a gallant young officer who died in the service
of his country. His uncle Michael had been a soldier, too, and
had seen service as an officer under St. Clair in his ill-fated ex-
pedition against the Indians in 1791. His own elder brother
James was a midshipman in the Navy and had taken part in the
engagement between the Conmstellation and the Imsurgente. He,
no doubt, had often poured into the boy’s willing ears the stories
of the sea. With such influences surrounding him it needed but
a breath to fan the spark of patriotism into a bright and steady
flame.

In preparing this article the writer has drawn largely upon an
autobiography left by the Commodore which covers the period
from 1800 to 1822. It contains many interesting passages and is
of great value historically and genealogically.

ENTERSs THE Navy.

“On the sth February, 1800,” he writes, “ I received a War-
rant as Midshipman in the Navy of the United States from John
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Adams, then President, through the influence of Mr. Latimer, a
Senator from the state of Delaware. Soon after my appointment
I joined the U. S. Ship Ganges, Captain Mullowney, at New Castle
and proceeded on a cruise in the West Indies against the French
with whom the U. States were at war. On this cruise we
.captured two Guineamen and a French privateer and sent them to
the United States. The privateer was run on shore. After con-
-siderable firing on her, her crew deserted her and got on shore.
She was boarded by our boats, on board of one I was.

“ About this time the yellow fever made its appearance on
board and many of the men and officers fell victims, after a few
hours illness, to its destructive ravages. Several Midshipmen
and myself, with a number of men, having caught this fever were
sent on shore at the Havanna and put into a dirty Spanish hos-
pital. Nearly all of the men and officers died and were taken out
in carts as so many hogs would have been. A Midshipman, a
surgeon’s mate and myself, through the blessing of divine provi-
dence, recovered and took passage for the U. States, desti-
tute of all the comforts and even conveniences of life. The
consul, however, supplied us with shirts and some other articles
of clothing. Off the capes of Delaware we were captured by an
English ship of war on account of our vessel (a Merchantman
belonging to Phila.) having Spanish property on board. I, with
the other gentlemen, were put on board the an
American ship, and landed at Norfolk, Virginia.

“There the consul supplied us with money &c. to enable us to
join the Ganges, which ship had left the Havanna on account of
the fever which raged on board of her and with difficulty reached
the U. States with the loss of many men and officers. Took passage
on board the ferry boat, crossed the Chesapeake bay and travelling
up through the country got out of the stage at the Trap, my
native place, after an absence of nearly a year, with straw hat,
-canvas shoes and in other respects poor enough. My relatives
and friends were much surprised to see me as my death was, if
not published, it was stated that I could not recover.
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“] remained some short time at the Trap; then joined the
Ganges again. Took a short cruise in the West Indies and re-
turned to Phila. where the ship was sold and the Navy, by law,
reduced, and almost all the officers dismissed. Through the
influence of C. A. Rodney Esq., my father’s and my friend, I was
continued.”

THE WAR wITH TRIPOLIL

“When I quitted the ship Ganges I joined the Frigate Constel-
lation, Commodore Murray, and sailed for the Mediterranean,
where we remained for about twelve months, Visited many ports
in that sea and had a brush with the Gun Boats off Tripoli.”

The Constellation returned to the United States in the latter
part of 1802. In May, 1803, he was ordered to the Frigate Pkil-
adelphia, then being fitted for Mediterranean service. The
Philadelphia sailed in July and reached Gibraltar August 24.
Continuing, the Commodore says : —

‘“ Soon after our arrival in that sea we captured a Moorish ves-
sel of 30 guns without resistance and I was put on board to assist
in taking her to Gibraltar. The U. S. were at this time at war
with the Regency of Tripoli and not with the Moors, though the
latter had commenced depredations on our commerce. I was left
by the Philadelphia, Captain Bainbridge, on board the Moorish
ship at Gibraltar and she went up the Mediterranean to cruise off
Tripoli, where she was lost by running on shore in chase and
was taken possession of by the enemy, the officers and men put
into close confinement and kept there for 19 months. Thus
was I providentially saved from this prison and the apprehension
of death which surrounded those of my shipmates in the power
of a merciless foe.

“ About this time Commodore Preble came out and took the
command of the Squadron, under whom, a daring and vigilant
officer, may be considered the first impulse given to the Navy in
his conduct before Tripoli. He took his squadron to Tangier,
had negotiations opened with the Emperor of Morocco, and com-
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ing to an arrangement of the difficulties the prize ship was given
up. I then quitted her, not caring to be in his Majesty’s service,
and joined the Commodore’s ship as passenger until we met with
the Philadelphia, but on our passage up we spoke a British Frigate
who informed us of her loss as stated.

«] then, in the harbour of Syracuse, joined the Schooner Enter-
prise, Lieutenant Stephen Decatur, commander. Was with him
when the Frigate Pkiladelphia was burned in the harbour of Trip-
oli and when he captured, by boarding, the Gun Boats in one of
the actions with the enemy’s vessels and batteries.”

In the general plan which had been formed for the capture and
destruction of the Pkiladelphia, Lieutenant Lawrence and ten
men, with Midshipmen Laws and Macdonough, were directed by
Decatur to fire the berth deck and forward store-room, and they
did their duty courageously and well. Admiral Nelson at this
time was in command of the English fleet blockading Toulon, and
when he heard of the destruction of the Priiladelphia and the
way it was effected he declared it to be “the most bold and daring
act of the age.” For his service on this occasion the young mid-
shipman was promoted to the rank of lieutenant, his commission
being dated May 18, 1804. The young Delawarean was among
those especially mentioned for gallantry in the bombardment of
Tripoli August 3, 1804.

“ Here I consider,” the Commodore writes, referring to the
operations in the Mediterranean, ‘ was the school where our Navy
received its first lessons, and its influence has remained to this
day and will continue as long as the Navy exists. I remained in
the Squadron during all its operations against Tripoli, presented
the Flags of the captured Boats to Com. Preble at the request of
Capt. Decatur, and was in 180§ or 6 appointed by the Commodore
a Lieutenant of the Schooner Enterprise.

“ Captain Robinson now took the command of this vessel and
sailed up the Adriatic to Trieste, thence to Venice, where she was
hauled up in the arsenal and repaired. Passed the winter of, I
think, 1805 in Venice. From Venice I went to Ancona and pre-
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pared four small vessels for Gun Boats to be employed against
Tripoli. Thence sailed to Syracuse and joined the Squadron with
the Boats. On our arrival at Syracuse found peace had been
made with Tripoli. Joined the Schooner, Capt. David Porter as
commander. Soon after I exchanged my station as first Lieu-
tenant of the Enterprise for the first Lieutenancy of the U. States
Brig Syren, Capt. John Smith, with Lieutenant Warrington.

“ Having now not much to do, visited many of the interesting
ports and places along the shores of this sea. From Naples I
went to Rome by land, visited Pompeii, Herculanzeum, Mount
Aitna, Malta and the towns of the Barbary powers and returned
to the United States.

“When I was first Lieutenant of the Syres Brig an occurrence
took place in the harbour of Gibraltar which excited a good deal
of feeling both on the side of the English and ourselves. A
British Man-of-war’s Boat boarded an American Merchantman
which lay near the Syren and took out, or impressed, one of her
men. I went alongside the British Boat in one of ours and de-
manded him, which demand was refused. I then took hold of the
man and took him in my Boat and brought him on board the
Syren. He was an American and of course we kept him.”

Before leaving the Mediterranean he met with an adventure
that nearly cost him his life. While lying off Syracuse he ob-
tained permission one day to go ashore. Just as he was stepping
into a boat to return to his ship he was set upon by three cut-
throats armed with daggers. They found, however, that they had
caught, not a Tartar, but an American. The young officer drew
his sword and though the odds were three to one, two of his
assailants were soon disabled and the third, taking to flight and
being followed by the lieutenant, ran into a building and upon the
roof from whence, there being no way of escape, he threw himself
to the ground to avoid being taken.

His service in the Mediterranean showed his superiors some-
thing of the spirit that was in him. He was the gallant Decatur’s
favorite officer, and “ wherever Decatur led he dared to follow.”
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VOYAGE IN THE MERCHANT SERVICE.

On his return to the United States in 1806 he was detached
from the Syren and ordered to Middletown, Connecticut, under
Captain Hull. Thence he was ordered to the Wasp, under his
old commander, Capt. Smith, and sailed for England and France
with despatches, returning by way of the Mediterranean. On
reaching home the Wasp cruised along the coast from Boston to
Charleston, enforcing the embargo laws. From the Wasp he was
ordered to the ship /ok»n Adams and then to the frigate Essex.

On May 22, 1810, he was furloughed and ordered to make a
voyage in the merchant service. Soon after he sailed from New
York to Liverpool as captain of the brig Gullsver. From Liver-
pool he proceeded to Calcutta and then home, being absent about
fifteen months. According to family tradition an incident hap-
pened on this trip which was of considerable interest.

The Gulliver had discharged her cargo at Liverpool, taken in
a fresh one, and was ready to sail. On the evening preceding
her departure, Tom, as he was usually called by his family, went
on shore. As he was about to return to the brig later in the
evening he was approached, in the vicinity of the docks, by a
stranger who asked him if he belonged to any of the vessels in
the river. He replied that he belonged to the American brig
Gulliver. Upon this the stranger gave a signal, and before Tom
knew it he was surrounded by a press-gang, thrown into a boat,
and presently found himself on board an English frigate lying at
the mouth of the river. He at once demanded to see the com-
manding officer. On being taken before him he demanded his re-
lease, declaring that he was not only an American seaman but
an officer of the American Navy. The only reply vouchsafed was
an order to go forward, and forward he went.

His name was entered on the purser’s books, his station and
mess assigned him and a hammock and bedding served out to him
with directions to “ turn in " as soon as possible. Accordingly he
hung his hammock up and got into it, but without undressing,
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having determined to seize the first chance of escape. Shortly
after midnight the corporal of the guard which had been relieved
came below, unlashed the hammock next his own, undressed and
turned in. Tom waited until the corporal was sound asleep, then
slipped quietly out of his hammock, took off his own clothes and
put on those of the sleeping corporal, and then, as soon as the
corporal of the new guard had passed below to make his rounds,
climbed up the ladder and gained the spar-deck. The officer of
the deck was aft upon the starboard side and the sentries were
walking their posts with regular tread. The starboard gangway
was shaded from the light of the moon by awnings, and walking
deliberately up the ladder Tom looked over the ship’s side.

“ Sentry,” said he, “ what boat is that at the boom ? "

“ The second cutter, sir,” replied the marine without discover-
ing the identity of his questioner.

Tom immediately walked up to the officer of the deck, and
being assured by the mistake of the sentry that he would not be
discovered, touched his cap respectfully and said,

“I would like to overhaul the second cutter, sir. I think there
is rum aboard her.”

“ Very well, corporal,” replied the officer, “search the boat and
see what you can find.”

Tom started quickly forward, but just as he got abreast of the
fore hatchway he saw the real corporal’s head rising above the
combings. He ascended no higher, for with one blow of his fist
Tom knocked him down the ladder and then sprang quickly out
through the port upon the swinging boom and dropped into the
boat. The flood tide was setting up the river strongly, and quick
as thought Tom cut the rope which secured the boat and it
dropped rapidly astern.

“Help! help!” shouted he, “the boat’s loose.”

“ Get out a couple of oars,” cried the officer of the deck as the
boat swept past the quarter, “and you can hold her against the
tide.”

Tom did get out a couple of oars, but the moment they struck
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the water he began pulling rapidly up the river. The sentries on
deck immediately discharged their muskets and a boat was called
away, but before she could be manned Tom had reached the shore
and shortly was on board his own brig.

The next morning the Gulliver dropped down with the ebb tide,
and as she passed the frigate Tom saw the second cutter swinging
in her usual place. As he gazed upon the flag that floated at the
Englishman’s peak he said to himself,

“If I live I'll make England remember the day she impressed
an American sailor.”

When war was declared against Great Britain shortly after, the
rallying cry — ‘“ No Impressment "’ — must have appealed to him
with peculiar significance, and the memory of this experience
must have been with him on the 11th of September, 1814

Continuing the history of his naval life, the Commodore
writes: —

“On my return from my India voyage I took charge of a
merchant ship from New York and sailed for Lisbon, but the
vessel springing a leak in a gale when out a few days, I was com-
pelled from this circumstance to return to New York. The Non-
intercourse law now taking place, I, of course, could not prose-
cute the voyage and quitted the ship. During the gale I was
obliged to throw overboard part of the cargo.

“ War having now been declared against Great Britain by the
United States, I applied for service and received orders to repair
to Washington and join the Frigate Constellation as first Lieuten-
ant. I did not remain long on board this ship for it required
some time to complete her repairs and the time was irksome

there. I therefore applied for and obtained command of the
Portland station where were several fine Gun Boats. After re-
maining a few months at Portland I was ordered by Mr. Madison
to take the command of the vessels on Lake Champlain. Pro-
ceeded thither across the country through the Notch of the
White Mountains, partly on horseback, carrying my bundle with
a valise on behind, and a country lad only in company to return
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with my horses. Arrived fatigued at Burlington on the lake in
about four days and took command of the vessels after waiting on
the commanding General Bloomfield.”

The order directing him to take command of the naval force
on Lake Champlain was dated September 12, 1812. On Decem-
ber 12 of the same year he married at Middletown, Connecticut,
Lucy Ann, daughter of Nathaniel and Lucretia Ann (Denning)
Shaler of that place. There he afterwards made his home when

/«w W"ﬁ%ﬂm—-‘%\

From a letter to ber sister-in-law, Lydia (McDonough) Roberts, July as, 1816.

absent from professional duty and there his children were born.
One of them, “whom,” as he writes in 1822 to his sister Lydia
in Delaware, “I call Rodney after my friend in Wilmington,” is
now living in New York city and is the Commodore’s only sur-
viving child.

The family home in Middletown was on Main street, where the
building of the Young Men’'s Christian Association now stands.
In the latter part of 1818 the Commodore purchased this prop-
erty, measuring 82 feet on Main street and 82 feet deep, from the
estate of his father-in-law, Nathaniel Shaler, and erected a hand-
some and commodious house thereon. The property passed out
of the hands of the family some time ago, but the house remained
standing and was used for various purposes up to within a few
years, when it was torn down to make room for the building
which now occupies its site.

The family were members of the Episcopal Church of the Holy
Trinity, or Christ Church, as it was then called. In 1821 and
1823 Commodore Macdonough was a delegate to the diocesan con-
vention.
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DESPATCH ANNOUNCING THE VICTORY ON LAKE CHAMPLAIN, SEPTEMBER 11, 1814.
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THE BATTLE ON LAKE CHAMPLAIN.

On July 24, 1813, he was commissioned Master Commandant.

War had been declared against Great Britain on June 18, 1812,
and in view of the plans of the British the command of Lake
Champlain at the time the Commodore was ordered there was of
vital importance to American interests. Nobly did the young
Master Commandant fulfil the duty entrusted to him.

The morning of Sunday, September 11, 1814, broke bright and
clear. From the green slopes of Cumberland Head the eye takes
in the gently curving shore, still clad in summer verdure, the sun-
light dancing on the waters of the bay, and, just below, the
American squadron skilfully disposed to the best advantage by its
wise commander and waiting the coming of the foe. All is quiet
and peaceful. Presently around the point sweeps the British
fleet, the red ensign of old England fluttering defiantly from
every masthead in the morning breeze. Then comes the calm
before the storm and then the smoke and shock of battle, the
cries of the wounded and all the horrors of war. Then —then
the simple message, “ The Almighty has been pleased to grant us
a signal victory on Lake Champlain in the capture of one Frigate,
one Brig and two sloops of war of the enemy.”

To this message came the following response : —

NAvy DEPARTMENT, Sept. 19th, 1814.

THOMAS MACDONOUGH, EsQ.,
COMMANDING THE U. S. NAVAL FORCE ON LAKE CHAMPLAIN, PLATTSBURG.

Sir, — With the highest gratification which noble deeds can inspire, I acknowl-
edge the receipt of your letter of the 11th instant announcing the glorious victory
which your skill and valor, aided by the intrepidity and discipline of your gallant
associates, had achieved over a confident, vigorous and powerful foe. Our lakes,
hitherto the objects only of natural curiosity, shall fill the page of future history
with the bright annals of our Country’s fame, and the imperishable renown of
our Naval Heroes.

*T is not alone the brilliancy of your victory in a Naval view, but its importance
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and beneficial results that will fix the attention and command the gratitude of
your admiring country.

Accept, sir, the assurance of the high respect and warm approbation of the
President of the U. S. which I am commanded to present, and my sincere
congratulations. Very respectfully,

Your obedient servant,
W. JoNEs.

This victory had an important effect upon the negotiatit;ns for
peace which were being carried on at this time between the
American Commission and the English Government. The latter
had submitted a proposition which involved the acquisition of
considerable new territory containing several strategic points.
This proposition was promptly rejected by the American Com-
mission and the negotiations came to an abrupt halt. In this cri-
sis the English Government appealed to the Duke of Wellington,
who, in a letter of November 9, 1814, to the Cabinet Council, said,

“T confess that I think you have no right, from the state of
the war, to demand any concession of territory from America.
Considering everything, it is my opinion that the war has been a
most successful one, and highly honorable to the British arms;
but from particular circumstances, suck as the want of the naval
superiority on the Lakes, you have not been able to carry it into
the enemy’s territory, notwithstanding your military success and
now undoubted military superiority, and have not even cleared
your own territory of the enemy on the point of attack. You
cannot, then, on any principle of equality in negotiation, claim a
cession of territory excepting in exchange for other advantages
which you have in your power.”

The Government took his advice, withdrew the obnoxious prop-
osition, and the treaty of peace was signed soon after.

INCIDENTS OF THE BATTLE.

The technical details of the battle are matters of history.
While waiting the approach of the enemy the Commodore knelt
on the deck of the Sarafoga with his officers and crew and in-
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voked the aid of the God of battles in the approaching conflict.
In clearing the decks of the Sarafoga for action some coops
had been thrown overboard and the poultry given their liberty.
Just as the engagement was about to begin a rooster flew up
into the rigging, flapped his wings and crowed loudly and de-
fiantly. He was answered by three hearty cheers from the men,
who regarded it as a sign of good luck.

The first shot fired on the Saratoga was fired by the Commo-
dore himself. With his own hands he trained a 24-pounder on
the British flag-ship Comfiance as she advanced bow on, and when
within range discharged the piece. The shot raked the Confiance,
killing and jwounding several of her men and carrying away her
wheel. During the action he repeatedly assisted in working the
guns and was three times thrown across the deck by splinters.
At one time, while sighting his favorite gun, a shot cut the
spanker boom in two, and a piece of the heavy spar, falling upon
his back, knocked him senseless to the deck and it was some
minutes before he recovered consciousness.

Soon after a shot took off the head of the captain of the same
gun and hurled it against him, knocking him across the deck and
into the scuppers, where he fell unconscious between two guns.
He quickly recovered and returned to his post. Every one of
the officers of the_Saratoga was either killed or wounded except
Macdonough, and when he was asked how he had escaped serious
injury, he replied, ““ There is a power above which determines the
fate of man.”

Mr. Clayton, of Delaware, has left the following account of a
visit to the Saratoga after the battle by an eye-witness to the
engagement.

Mr. Clayton says, “I was told by Mr. Phelps, a Senator from
Vermont, that he was a boy living on his father’s farm near the
banks of Lake Champlain when Macdonough’s action of 1814
with the British occurred. That after the English had surren-
dered and the action had ceased, he took a boat and went off to
the flag-ship Saratoga that he might say he had seen Macdonough.
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When he bad climbed up on deck he found it slippery with
blood and almost covered with the wounded and the dead. That
he saw a man walking back and forth rapidly on the quarter-deck,
his hat pulled down nearly over his eyes, and his face and hands
almost black with powder and smoke, and upon asking a seaman
who that man was he said, ¢ That’s Commodore Macdonough.’”

During the action he was the commander, cool, confident, and
with the air of authority born of command. In the hour of vic-
tory he was the friend and companion-in-arms, his heart torn by
the suffering of the gallant fellows who had made that victory
possible. No wonder he was an object of love and admiration to
his crew. At the time of this engagement he still lacked a few
months of being 31 years old. It is doubtful if history can show
another case where a commander so young in years achieved a
victory so important in its results.

Within a short time after the battle he received from Congress
a vote of thanks and a gold medal. Vermont presented him with
a tract of land owned by it in New York near Cumberland Head,
overlooking the scene of the engagement. From Connecticut he
received a pair of gold mounted pistols. The state of New York
presented him with a sword and one thousand acres of land.
Delaware gave him a sword and a set of silver plate. From the
city of Lansingburgh, N. Y., he received two silver pitchers with
a dozen goblets, and the cities of Albany and New York each
gave him a gold box containing the freedom of the city.

His AFTER LIFE.

On November 30, 1814, he was commissioned captain, then the
highest rank in the Navy, to take rank from September 11, 1814.
On the same date he was ordered to command the steam frigate
Fulton First. On May 13, 1815, he was ordered to Portsmouth,
N. H,, to take command of the Navy Yard and superintend the
equipment of the ship Waskington until the arrival of Commodore
Chauncey. On April 22, 1818, he was directed to proceed to
Boston, assume command of the frigate Guerriére, and convey to




OBVERSE. REVERSE.

‘“ Resolved by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
That the thanks of Congress be, and the same are hereby, preseunted to Captain Thomas Macdonough, and through
him to the officers, petty officers, seamen, marines, and infantry serving as marines, attached to the squadron under his
command, for the decisive and splendid victory gained on Lake Champlain, on the el h -of September in the year

P

one thousand eight hundred and fourteen, over a British squadron of superior force.

Resolved, That the President of the United States be requested to cause gold medals to be struck emblematical
of the action between the two squadrons, and to present them to Captain Macdonough and Captain Robert Henly, and
also to Licutenant Stephen Cassin, in such manner as may be most honourable to them, . . . .” (Resolutions of Con-
gress, October 20, 1814.)







COMMODORE THOMAS MACDONOUGH, U. S. N. 23

Russia the Hon. G. W. Campbell, Minister to the Court of St.
Petersburg. After performing this service he returned to the
United States by way of the Mediterranean. “ At Naples,” he
writes, “ I was presented to the Emperor of Austria, Francis II,
and also Ferdinand, King of Naples, on board the U. States Ship
of the Line Franklin, which ship these Sovereigns visited.”

On March 11, 1820, he was ordered to command the “74”
building at New York. This ship was the O/%7o, and was launched
the same year. He was attached to her until April, 1824, four

Signature to a legal paper, 1815.

years, but as she was laid up in ordinary at New York during that
period, he spent much of the time at his home in Middletown.
On May 31, 1824, he was ordered to New York to command the
Conststution of glorious memory, and on October 29 sailed once
more for the Mediterranean on the last cruise he was ever to
make.

On his arrival in the Mediterranean, being the senior officer on
the station, he assumed command of the American squadron.
Owing to ill health, however, he was relieved of the command of
the Constitution on October 14, 1825, with permission to return to
the United States, but he never lived to see his native land, dying
at sea while homeward bound, ten days' out from Gibraltar,
November 10, 1825. He was buried at Middletown, Saturday,
December 1, 1825, with military, civil and Masonic honors. His
wife had died a few months before and they now lie side by side
in the quaint old Riverside cemetery overlooking the Connecticut
River. The simple inscriptions on the monument over their
graves read as follows: —

e
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Sacred
to the memory of
Com. Thomas Macdonough
of the U. S. Navy.

He was born in the State of Del-
aware Dec. 1783, & died at sea of
pulmonary consumption while
on his return from the command
of the American Squadron in the
Mediterranean on the 10 Nov. 1825.
He was distinguished in the world
as the Hero of Lake Champlain ; in
the Church of Christ as a faithful, zealous
and consistent Christian ; in the com-
munity where he resided when absent
from professional duties as an amiable,
upright and valuable citizen.

Sacred
to the memory of
Mrs. Lucy Ann,
Wife of
Com. Thomas Macdonough
& daughter of
Nathaniel & Lucy Ann Shaler.
The richest gifts of Nature & of Grace
adorned her mind & heart, & at her
death Genius, Friendship & Piety
mourned their common loss.
She preceded her husband to the realms
of Glory only a few short months, baving
departed this life Aug. 9, 1825, &£. 35.

They were lovely and pleasant in their lives,
and in their death they were undivided.
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Their children were : —

. Thomas Nathaniel, born October 25, 1814; died June 20,

1816.

. James Edward Fisher, born April 12, 1816; died unmarried

May 13, 1849.

. Mary Ann Louisa, born June 6, 1817; died December s, 1817.

Charles Shaler twins, born June 28, 1818. The former

married Clara, daughter of William G. and Anna (Garr)
Hackstaff, October 18, 1855, and had issue; died December
1, 1871. The latter died February 14, 1821.

. Augustus Rodney, born November 20, 1820; married Frances

Brenton McVickar June 10, 1846. She died December 6, 1846.

. Thomas, born July 11, 1822; married first Hilda Palmer and

had no issue ; married second Mary Oakley June 6, 1867, and
had issue; died June 25, 1894.

. Frances Augusta, born September 20, 1823; died October 4,

1824.

. Charlotte Rosella, born June 23, 1825; married Henry G.

Hubbard June 19, 1844, and had issue; died March 4, 1900.

AUTHORITIES.
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WILLIAM G. HACKSTAFF.

b. April 14, 1795.
m. August 26, 1831.
d. November 16, 1869.

WiLLiaM G. HACKSTAFF, son of Lodowick and Anne (Hallock)
Hackstaff, was born in Sing Sing, N. Y., April 14, 1795. In
1801 he went to New York with his parents. It is said that when
quite young he ran away to sea. This is not unlikely, for while
it is probable that he inherited from his father a liking for a
sailor’s life, it is also probable that his father, knowing something
of the hardships of a sailor’s calling, was averse to his son follow-
ing in his footsteps and withheld the permission the lad desired.
But whether he ran away to sea or not, he afterwards adopted a
sailor’s life and became a prominent figure in our merchant
service.

In 1814, actuated by patriotic impulses, as were no doubt many
of his young companions, he enlisted in the New York state
militia for service in the war with England. The records of the
Record and Pension Office, War Department, Washington, show
that he served as a private in Captain Daniel W. Crocker’s com-
pany of New York State Horse Artillery in the Independent
Battalion of Governor’s Guards, commanded by Major Daniel E.
Dunscombe. His name appears on the rolls for the period from
September 2 to December 3, 1814, with the following endorse-
ments. “Com. of service, Sept. 2, 1814.” “Exp. of service,
Dec. 3, 1814.” *“Term charged, 3 mos. 2 days.” “ Station, West
Battery, N. Y.” Captain Crocker, in whose company he enlisted,
was his brother-in-law, and his term of enlistment was three
months.

“Early in the month of August,” says Booth’s History of the



WiLLiaAM G. HACKSTAFF.







WILLIAM G. HACKSTAFF, 27

Tity of New York, referring to the military operations of
1814, “a requisition was made by Congress for twenty thou-
-sand troops to be stationed in and around New York, and the
«corporation raised the necessary funds to meet the expense
under pledge of reimbursement by the general government.
‘Volunteers speedily flocked in from the surrounding country and
-on the 1st of September all the artillery and infantry in the city
and county were consolidated and mustered into the United
‘States service, under their own officers, subject to the same rules
and regulations and receiving the same pay and rations as the
regular troops. Daniel D. Tompkins, at this time governor of
the State, and Major-General Morgan Lewis were the command-
ers at the post. The whole detached division was placed under
the command of Major-General Ebenezer Stevens. Commodore
Decatur was stationed in the city with a small force of picked
men to be ready for action by sea or land, and a strong fleet lay
in waiting in the harbor. The active duty required was performed
in turn by the companies with their officers. Each company had
its parade-ground where the men who quartered at home were
drilled for three or four hours every morning and afternoon. The
battalions formed twice each week, the regiments once a week
-and the brigade once in two or three weeks, while the whole divi-
sion under General Stevens had three or four parades during their
three months’ service.”

It is not known in what capacity or in what vessels he got his
first nautical training. His first voyage as the master of a vessel
was in 1824, when he sailed from New York for Liverpool in com-
mand of the Mankattan, owned by Byrnes, Trimble & Co., and it
is natural to suppose that the position of captain came in the
ordinary course of promotion after several years of service in that
or some other vessel belonging to that firm. By a curious coinci-
dence his last voyage in 1851 was also in the Mankattan; not the
Mantattan of 1824, however, but a new ship built in 1849.

From 1824 to 1851, when he retired from the sea, he made
fifty-four voyages from New York to Liverpool and return and
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three from New York to Havre and return. During that period
he never lost a vessel, gained the reputation of being a prudent
and skilful navigator and made for himself an honored name in
the merchant service of our country. In those days the packet
ships carried all the passengers and he always had a full list.

Several very

complimen-

tary letters,

ﬂ M yet preserved,

d A addressed to

From his prayer book, 1830. him by his

passengers

testify to his personal popularity and his skill as a seaman, while

the many valuable presents of silver, still in the family, show even

more clearly the estimation in which he was held as a man and
a sailor. .

During his twenty-eight and more years of seafaring life he
underwent all the vicissitudes and experiences of those who “go
down to the sea in ships” except shipwreck and its attendant
hardships. He became familiar with the ocean in all its moods.
He knew it when the favoring breeze swept his vessel steadily
onward over untroubled seas, and he knew it in the shrieking of
the tempest and the savage leaping of huge waves which threat-
ened to engulf his ship and the lives committed to his care.
Changeable and exacting a mistress as it was he loved the sea and
seemed to draw from it, in part, some of those qualities which so
endeared him to those who knew him. The breath of it was in
his frank and cheery manner and a sailor’s sturdy manhood was
his with a sailor’s tender heart and generous disposition.

On September 11, 1826, he was elected a member of “ The
Marine Society in the City of New York, in the State of New
York.” This society was instituted in 1769 for “the improve-
ment of maritime knowledge and the relief of indigent and dis-
tressed members, who are or have been masters of vessels, or
their widows and orphans.” It was composed of two classes of
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members, those who were masters of vessels and those who were
not, the latter being designated honorary members. As the mas-
ter of a vessel Captain Hackstaff was a member of the former
class. The society is still in active existence and carrying out the
purposes of its original institution.

The following is a record of the voyages made by Captain
Hackstaff, chronologically arranged, from 1824 to 1851. The
table has been compiled after a very careful and exhaustive search
among the records of the New York custom house and in the
newspapers of the day, and it is believed that every voyage made
by him will be found in its proper place. Most of the items have
been copied literally and such information added as would be
interesting to his descendants. The vessels commanded by Cap-
tain Hackstaff were of the class known as ‘“packet ships,” or
“packets.” They were built for speed as well as safety and
carried both passengers and freight. No better vessels than the
New York and Liverpool packets and no finer class of men than
their commanders could be found in the merchant service of any
country.

1824, July 22.

Cleared from New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool.

The Manhattan was owned by the firm of Byrnes, Trimble &
Co., of New York. Mr. Trimble was a warm personal friend of

Captain Hackstaff and the latter named one of his sons George
Trimble.

1824, October 11.
Arrived at New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, 32 days from

Liverpool, with dry goods, hardware, crates &c to the owners and
others.

1824, November 23.

Cleared from New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool.
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1825, February 26.
Arrived at New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, 48 days from
Liverpool, with dry goods, hardware &c to the owners and others.
“Captain Hackstaff reports a severe gale in English channel
which lasted 56 hours.”

1825, March 23.
Cleared from New York ship Mamkattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-

pool.

1825, June 19.
Arrived at New York ship Manhkattan, Hackstaff, from Liver-

pool.

1825, July 23.
Cleared from New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-

pool.
1825, October 24.

Arrived at New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, 41 days from
Liverpool, with dry goods &c to the owners and others.

Among the passengers were C. L. Hackstaff, brother of Captain
Hackstaff, and Thomas S. Byrnes. The latter, of the firm of
owners, died during the voyage.

1826, January 21.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

The William Byrnes also belonged to the firm of Byrnes,
Trimble & Co. of New York.

1826, April 7.

Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.

“ Captain Hackstaff informs that during his passage he fell in
with thirty-five ice bergs, and passed through several miles of
field ice — in going through which he was occupied two days and
three nights.”
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1826, May 22.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
1826, August 14.

Arrived at New York ship William Byrmes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool

1826, September 23.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
1826, December 13.

Arrived at New York ship William Bymes, Hackstaff, 35 days
from Liverpool, with dry goods &c to the owners and others.

1827, January 23.
Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

1827, April 24.

Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, 46 days
from Liverpool, with dry goods &c to the owners and others.

“ Capt. H. has experienced an uninterrupted succession of ad-
verse gales and calms, which have naturally prolonged his arrival.”

1827, May 22.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

1827, August 23.
Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, 43 days
from Liverpool, with dry goods &c to the owners and others.

One of the passengers was Jerome Napoleon Bonaparte, nephew
of the Emperor Napoleon.

1827, September 22.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
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1827, December 11.
Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.

1828, January 22.
Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

1828, April 29.

Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.

“ Experienced for 38 days a continual succession of westerly
gales — 7th inst. lat. 437, long. 48-50, fell in with immense quan-
tities of ice, some of the islands very large. 16th, lat. 40, lon. 61,
in a heavy gale, lost the rudder.”

1828, May 23.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
1828, August 25.

Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.

1828, September 23.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff for
Liverpool.

Captain Pattison brought the ship home.
1829, May 23.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

1829, August 18,

Arrived at New York ship William Byrmes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.
1829, September 23.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrmes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
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1829, December 12.
Arrived -at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool. ’

1830, January 22.

Cleared from New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
1830, April 15.

Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.

1830, September 24. .
Cleared from New York ship William Byrmes, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

1830, December 28,

Arrived at New York ship William Byrnes, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool. !

“ The William Byrnes was 8% days getting to the Tuskar, which
is about 16 hours sail from Liverpool, experiencing most severe
gales from S. W. to W. Nov. 26, off Cape Clear, lying to under
mizzen staysail, in a heavy gale from Wd., at 10 P.M. a heavy sea
struck the ship abaft and carried away the rudder braces; and
have had most severe weather during the whole passage.”

1831, May 23.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffeld, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
This was the S/keffie/d’s maiden voyage. She was a fine vessel
owned by Wood & Trimble, New York, probably successors to
the firm of Byrnes, Trimble & Co.

1831, August I0.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
The following letter was addressed to Captain Hackstaff by
his passengers on reaching New York:—

The passengers in the Ship Skefield beg Capt. Hackstaff to accept their
thaoks for the uniform courtesy and accommodation they have experienced dur-
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ing their voyage: at the same time they feel bound to express their admiration
of the skill he has manifested in conducting his splendid and excellent ship

across the Atlantic.
B. F. PHELPS

New York, August 10, 1831. STEPHEN PRICE
GEORGE PEABODY
S. CUNARD
SAMUEL WILLIAMS
W. ]J. ROBINSON
W. S. STELL

1831, September 23.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

1831, December 26.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1832, January 23. .
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
On this voyage Captain Hackstaff took with him his wife and
her maid.

1832, April 18.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffield, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
After clearing for home and while lying in the Mersey below
Liverpool waiting for Captain Hackstaff to come aboard, the crew
mutinied. Mrs. Hackstaff, who was returning with her husband,
took possession of and held the ship until his arrival. (A fuller
account of this incident will be found later.)

1832, May 22.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

1832, August 17. .
Arrived at New York ship S/keffie/d, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1832, September 22.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffield, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.




WILLIAM G. HACKSTAFF. 35

The following letter was addressed to Captain Hackstaff on
reaching Liverpool : —

LiverpoOL, 17 October 1832.
CAPTAIN WM. G. HACKSTAFF

Ship Shefield
dear Str;

At the request of the cabin passengers on our late pleasant voyage from New
York to this port we have great pleasure in presenting to you the accompanying
piece of Plate, as a mark of their high estimate of your character as a man, your
skill as a sailor & your kindness and attention to them; and We beg to add our
individual testimony with best wishes for your countinued health & prosperity!

RoBERT Dyson

C. I. WaADDINGTON

Wu. S. CLARK
Committce on bekalf of the passengers

1833, January 4.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffield, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
“The Skeffield sailed from Liverpool Nov. 8th and had her sails
blown away while furled, in a hurricane, 28th Nov. in lat. 55,
long. 26.”

1833, January 22.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

1833, April q.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffield, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1833, May 22.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
The following letter was addressed to Captain Hackstaff by his
passengers on reaching Liverpool : —

LiverpooL 1gth June 1833
Dear Sir,

The passengers on board of your Ship the SA¢fie/d on her recent voyage from
New York to this port have delegated to us the very pleasing duty of expressing
to you their high sense of your uniform kindness and attention to them while on
board of the Skeffield ; they beg us also to testify their feelings for the comfort
and pleasure they experienced on board in consequence of the admirable arrange-
ments of your vessel.
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As a testimony of their regard we are deputed to present to you, in their
name, a piece of Plate, which we pray you will accept.
With the highest assurance of our individual esteem, We Are,

Dear Sir,
Yours very Respectfully,
James LawsoN
To S. J. Josern
CArt. WM. G. HACKSTAFF
Ship Sheffield

1833, August 13.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1833, September 23.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

1833, December 18.
Arrived at New York ship Sheffie/d, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1834, January 23.

Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
1834, April 12.

Arrived at New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1834, May 22.
Cleared from New York ship Skeffie/d, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

1834, August 19.
Arrived at New York ship Skeffield, Hackstaﬁ from Liverpool.

1835, June o.
Cleared from New York shlp Scotland, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

The Scotland was a fine new vessel of 627 tons and this was her
first voyage. Her New York agents, and probable owners, were
R. & D. S. Dyson.

1835, August 27.
Arrived at New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1835, September 23.
Cleared from New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
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1835, December 27.
Arrived at New York ship Scozland, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

1836, February 3.
Cleared from New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

1836, June 16.
Arrived at New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, from Liverpool
via Ireland.

1836, July 2r1.
Cleared from New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
Crew, 22,

1836, October 14.
Arrived at New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, from leerpool

1836, November 12.
Cleared from New York ship Scot/and, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
Crew, 24.

1837, January 31.
Arrived at New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, from Lwerpool
with loss of foremast January 4th.

1837, March 2.
Cleared from New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, for New
Orleans.

1837, March 21.

Arrived at New Orleans ship Scot/land, Hackstaff, from New
York.

1837, April 21.
Cleared from New Orleans ship Scotland, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool.

1837, August 15.
Arrived at New York ship Scotland, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
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1839, January 14.

Cleared from New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, for New
Orleans.

The Adirondack was a new vessel of 699 tons and this was her
first voyage. Her New York agents were G. T. Trimble and
Wotherspoon & Co.

1839, February 9.

Arrived at New Orleans ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, from New
York.

1839, April 6.
Cleared from New Orleans ship Adtrondack, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool. :

1839, July 31

Arrived at New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.
1839, September 6.

Cleared from New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 22.
1839, December 7.

Arrived at New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.
1840, January 3.

Cleared from New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, for New
Orleans.
1840, January 27.

Arrived at New Orleans ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from New
York.
1840, March 23.

Cleared from New Orleans ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.
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1840, July 2s.

Arrived at New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.
1840, August 18.

Cleared from New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 21.

1840, November 3.
Arrived at New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-

pool.
1841, February 24.

Cleared from New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 22.

“ Struck on the S W Spit, while the Pilot was on board, but
got off without damage and proceeded.”
1841, May 21.

Arrived at New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.

1841, October 25,
Cleared from New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-

pool. Crew, 22.

1842, February 24.

Arrived at New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.

“ Ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from Liverpool, for this port
(New York), was spoken 7th inst. lat. 43, long. §59; had ex-
perienced a hurricane 14th ult. from S. S. W.; shipped a sea,
carried away rails, bulwarks, stove in the cabin windows, and
took in considerable water — lost the carpenter overboard and the
captain was badly hurt ; 7th inst. in a tornado, lost jibstaysail and
foresail.”

1842, August 2,
Cleared from New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 24.
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1842, November 19.

Arrived at New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.

« Ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, at this port (New York) from
Liverpool sth November, off Bermuda, in a heavy gale from N.
N. E. to N. N. W. stove bulwarks and received other damage.”

1842, December 17.
Cleared from New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 26.

1843, August 31I.

Arrived at New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.
" 1843, November 2.

Cleared from New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool.
1844, January 18.

Arrived at New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.
1844, April 3.

Cleared from New York ship Adsrondack, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool.

1844, June 27.

Arrived at New York ship Adirondack, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.
1845, July 15.

Cleared from New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.

This was the Fidelia's maiden voyage. She was a fine vessel
of 895 tons and was named after the beautiful daughter of Mr.
Charles H. Marshall, the founder of the house of Charles H. Mar-
shall & Co., proprietors of the “ Black Ball” line of Liverpool
packets of which the Fidelia was one.
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1845, October 1.

Arrived at New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
1845, November 15.

Cleared from New York ship Fidelta, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
1846, February 22

Arrived at New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
1846, March 16.

Cleared from New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
1846, May 31.

Arrived at New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
1846, July 1s.

Cleared from New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
1846, October 4.

Arrived at New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

“Packet ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, at this port (New York) from
Liverpool, 19th and 2oth ult. experienced a severe gale from
S. S. W. to N. W. in lat. 45-20, lon. 46-40, blowing away top-
gallant masts ; while lying to, split sails, &c.”
1846, November 16.

Cleared from New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
1847, February 23.

Arrived at New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.

“ Had severe gales and snowstorms ; was 16 days making 100
miles Westing ; has been 18 days N. of the Banks.”

“ Experienced severe weather on the passage, lost sails &c—
was driven up near Greenland by a heavy S. W. gale.”
1847, March 16.

Cleared from New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, for Liverpool.
Crew, 30.
1847, May 26. .

Arrived at New York ship Fidelia, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.



42 THE MACDONOUGH-HACKSTAFF ANCESTRY.

1848, April 7.

Cleared from New York steamship United States, Hackstaff, for
Liverpool.

The United States was a new wooden, three masted, side wheel
steamer of 1857 tons, 270 feet long and 40 feet beam, with a
draught of about 16 feet. She had a cargo capacity of 800 to
1000 tons and a fuel (anthracite coal) capacity of 800 to goo
tons, with accommodations for 160 passengers. The passage
rate from New York to Liverpool was $120, and from Liverpool
to New York £40. The newspaper account of her trial trip on
March 15, 1848, concludes with the announcement, *“ The United
States is under the command of Capt. Wm. G. Hackstaff, long and
favorably known to the mercantile community, and will sail from
this Port for Liverpool direct, Saturday, 8th prox.”

The Unsted States also belonged to the “Black Ball” line of
ships.

1848, May 31
Arrived at New York steamship United States, Hackstaff, from
Liverpool.

1848, June 10.

Cleared from New York steamship United States, Hackstaff, for
Southampton and Havre. Crew, 67.

The United States was the first steam vessel from New York to
Havre. A newspaper notice says, ‘This ship is intended to
run regularly between this port (New York) and Havre. The
United States has proved a remarkable fast vessel and an excellent
sea boat, having performed the passage from this port to Liver-
pool, and that from Liverpool to New York, in less than fourteen
days.

Cabin passage outward, exclusive of wines and liquors, $120."”

1848, July 2s.

Arrived at New York steamship Unsted States, Hackstaff, from
Havre and Southampton. .

“ Has made a most speedy and successful voyage from Havre
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to this port (New York); her cargo consists of 1989 packages
Merchandise — she has 112 cabin passengers, and her freight and
passage money, not including Postage, amounts to over $32,000.”

The United States was detained at Havre two days by neap
tides. She grounded in the harbor and was not able to get off
until two days after her sailing date.

1848, August 4.
Cleared from New York steamship United States, Hackstaff, for
Cowes and Havre. Crew, 75.

1848, October 26.
Arrived at New York steamship United States, Hackstaff, from
Havre and Southampton.

1848, December s.
Cleared from New York steamship Unsted States, Hackstaff, for
Havre. Crew, 70.

1849, February s.

Arrived at New York steamship United States, Hackstaff, from
Havre via Southampton and Halifax.

“Fell in with a large quantity of floating ice Jan. 29 between
Cape Race and Cape Breton ; carried away three buckets and part
of the wheel house.”

1849, April 16.

Cleared from New York ship Yorkskire, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 30.

The Yorkshire, also of the “ Black Ball” line of packets, was a
vessel of gg7 tons, 167 feet long and 36 feet beam, built in 1843.
A newspaper notice says of her, “We feel bound to say that to
our eye the Yorkskire presents the most exquisite model that has
yet been produced — and to the most beautiful symetrical pro-
portions is added a surpassing exterior finish. Her spars, too, are
in beautiful harmony with the model and finish of her hull.”

The following description of the Yorkskire may be of interest
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as showing what the packet ships of those days were like and what
comforts and conveniences were provided for their passengers.

“ Her cabins are seven feet in the clear—light and airy —
finished with highly polished mahogany panels, with white polished
pilasters slightly gilt — stained glass windows — rosewood and
crimson sofas — Turkey carpets, &c. The staterooms have in-
terior communications one with another, well lighted from the
deck, and each with a window in the side, which may be opened
to admit air —berth boards of polished mahogany —and all the
necessary accompaniments of the sleeping room and the toilet.
From the ladies’ saloon there is a private staircase to the prome-
nade deck. There are also two entrances to the gentlemen’s
cabin from the after part of the same deck. The ship is fur-
nished with the newly invented patent steering apparatus, and
the men at the wheel are perfectly sheltered from the weather.
The crew also are amply provided for under a quarter deck fore-
castle, with ingress and egress free from the inconvenience of a
perpendicular ladder. Her between decks present a most sightly
area, being seven feet in the clear fore and aft.”

1849, July 3.

Arrived at New York ship Yorksksre, Hackstaff, from Liverpool.
1850, January 12.

Cleared from New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 36.

The Manhattan was a new vessel of 1200 tons and this was her
first voyage. She belonged to the “Black Ball” line. A de-
scription of her, too long for insertion here, is appended to this
article.

1850, April 8.

Arrived at New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.

1850, May 16.

Cleared from New Vork ship Manhkattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 38.
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1850, August 1.
Arrived at New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.

1850, September 16.
Cleared from New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, for Liver-
pool. Crew, 29.

1851, January 5.

Arrived at New York ship Mankattan, Hackstaff, from Liver-
pool.

« Experienced very severe weather during the passage, having
encountered twenty-six gales of wind from the Westward, lasting
from 12 to 18 hours, attended with thunder and lightning, hail &c.”

After the death of his father, Lodowick Hackstaff, Captain
Hackstaff made his home, while ashore, at 45 White street, New
York. On August 26, 1831, he was married by the Rev. William
Ware, of the Unitarian Church of All Souls, New York, to
Anna, daughter of Andrew Sheffield and Elizabeth (Sinclair)
Garr, born February 27, 1812. After his marriage they lived on
Broadway for several years, a portion of the time at No. 505, the
residence of Mrs. Hackstaff’s father, Mr. Garr. In 1835 or 1836
they moved to Jersey City and took a house on Essex street near
Mr. Garr who was then living there.

On May 4, 1833, Captain Hackstaff bought from James Calder,
for $4950, a house and lot on the north side of Broome street,
New York. In the deed he is described as “of the City of New
York, Ship Master.” On April 17, 1835, he sold the Broome street
property to George L. Pride, for $12,500. In this deed he is also
described as “of the City of New York, Ship Master.” On July
28, 1852, he sold to Ralph J. Bust, for $4500, the Duane street
property (185 Duane street) which he had inherited from his
father Lodowick Hackstaff, who bought it from Garrett Van
Horn March 18, 1801.

e e A et S Bl . &
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On February 3, 1837, the state of New Jersey passed “ An act
to establish and regulate pilots for the ports of Jersey City,
Newark and Perth Amboy, by the way of Sandy Hook.” In the
same year the legislature of the state of New York passed a law
for the better government of the pilots of the port of New York
by the way of Sandy Hook. This action on the part of the two
states was made necessary by the fact that previous to that time
the New York pilots, from the absence of competition, had become
exceedingly independent. In stormy weather their boats would
lie at anchor inside of Sandy Hook and a ship approaching the
coast would look in vain for a pilot and be obliged to go out to
sea again and wait until the weather moderated and it pleased the
pilots to go outside the Hook. Captain Hackstaff was chiefly
instrumental in having the bill passed by the New Jersey legisla-
ture, and also used his influence to have the existing pilot laws of
New York amended. Both laws were of benefit to ship owners
and captains and were of advantage to the pilots as well.

In accordance with the provisions of the act passed by the state
of New Jersey, Captain Hackstaff was appointed one of the Com-
missioners of Pilotage of that state February 15, 1843; February
15, 1844 ; February 14, 1845; February 13, 1847; February 22,
1850; and February 22, 1853. It is probable that he was also a
Commissioner continuously from 1837 to the last named date, but
owing to the incompleteness of the New Jersey records, it cannot
be shown. There was for many years in active service a New
Jersey pilot boat named the William G. Hackstaff.

On April 19, 1838, Andrew S. Garr, Mrs. Hackstaff’s father,
bought for his son-in-law, Captain Hackstaff, what was known as
the Mortimer property! in Middletown, Connecticut, and the latter

1 The record of this property is as follows : —

Philip Mortimer to Philip M. Starr, grandson, by inheritance.
Philip M, Starr to John D. Johnson.

John D. Johnson to Rev. Smith Pyne, April 22, 1829.

Rev. Smith Pyne to William L. Storrs, August 35, 1837.

William L. Storrs to Andrew S, Garr, of Jersey City, April 19, 1838,
Andrew 8. Garr to Willlam G. Hackstaff, August 19, 1840,




TR AT .

AHRETING

rudence, mtey.

B o
w required ol y
rileges, fces, pey

y is hicreunto affived.

“\Mﬁ the Ste'e of Nex: -

’ .—l\\
wly [
7

i

CoMMISSION As COMMISSIONER OF PILOTAGE, FEBRUARY 1 5 1843.






WILLIAM G. HACKSTAFF. 47

moved there from Jersey City in April or May of the same year.
The Mortimer property was situated at the upper end of Main
street and extended from the street to the Connecticut River.
It contained a fine large, old fashioned, comfortable dwelling house
built by Philip Mortimer, an Englishman, prior to the Revolution.
The house was surrounded by attractive grounds and was an ideal
harbor for an old sea captain to lie at anchor in for the rest of his
life. The following extract is taken from a historical sketch of
Middletown prepared in connection with the celebration, in 1850,
of the two hundredth anniversary of its founding.

Philip Mortimer came here from Boston some time before the Revolution
and went largely into the rope making business. The inventory of his estate was
£6,177: 7: 8. Mr. Mortimer was a man of taste. He built a large and beauti-
ful house for that day, on the bank of the river, now owned by Capt. William G.
Hackstaff, ornamented a tract of several acres around it, planted lines of button-
ball trees from it to Main Street, made a walk, placed seats by it under the trees
and threw it open to the public, which became an object of attraction, not only
to people of the town, old and young, but to strangers. When a portion of the
French army in the Revolution were on their way from the east to Washington's
encampment, stopping over the Sabbath in Middletown, the officers amused
themselves by dancing in the evening under the shades. The names of Wash-
ington, Lafayette and other interesting characters were cut in the trees.

From 1860 to 1865 inclusive, six years, Captain Hackstaff was
an Alderman. In 1860 he was a grand juror and in the same
year and in 1861 and 1863 he served on the Committee on Streets,
Walks and Public Grounds. In 1864 and 1865 he was a member
of the Committee on Fire Department and Public Buildings, and
a state director of the Middlesex County Bank, Middletown, being
appointed by the Governor to fill the vacancy caused by the resig-
nation of Mr. Samuel C. Hubbard.

His daughter Clara writes as follows concerning her parents : —

My remembrance of my dear father is very vivid. He was a bandsome man,
tall, with fine figure, carried himself with grace and dignity and had the manners
of a gentleman of the old school. There was nothing of the roughness of the
seaman about him, although a better sailor, I have heard it said, never trod the
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deck of a ship. He had a warm and tender heart and a generous disposition;
was easily moved by any tale of want and was always ready to give of his means.
He was a great favorite among all classes of people, with hosts of friends and
not a single enemy. Especially was he a favorite with the young to whom he
always had something bright and pleasant to say. He was a very graceful
dancer, with a sailor’s lightness on his feet, and at the numerous parties given in
Middletown in those days the girls would rather dance with the ¢ Captain * than
with any of the younger men. When a young man he was presented at the
Court of St. James and the London papers of the following day spoke of him as
being one of the handsomest men seen at Court since the days of George IV.
My mother, in her youth and middle age, was a very pretty woman. She had
charming and engaging manners, a very bright mind and was fond of books
from her earliest years. This trait she inherited from her father. I remember
well her telling me that one
day when she was about six

L i fotRe years old she hid herself in a

s corner of the parlor with a

— book and became so deeply

s F. M% “  absorbed in the story that she

did not notice the entrance of

From a letter to her daughter Clara, August 21, 188s. any one until she saw a large

hand laid on the page before

her. Looking up she saw their minister, 2 man of great dignity and of whom,

child like, she stood very much in awe. He said to her, ¢* My child, which do

you like best, this book or the bible ?” Without hesitation she answered, ** This

book.” The honesty of the answer pleased him and he afterwards related the
incident to her father.

That she had plenty of determination and more than usual courage and quick-
ness of thought and action was shown by her quelling, single banded, a mutiny
on one of her husband's ships. In 1832, when she was but twenty years old, and
just married, my father took her with him in the Siefield to Liverpool. The
Sheffield had cleared for home and had dropped down the Mersey a little way
below Liverpool. While she lay waiting for my father to come aboard the crew,
for some reason, mutinied. The passengers, three in number, all men, fled to
their staterooms in terror and locked themselves in. My mother went to my
father's room, got a pair of pistols and went straightway on deck where she
faced the crew with a pistol in each hand and told them that she would shoot
down the first man who came aft. With the pistols in front of her and a stout
heart behind them she held the ship until the arrival of my father. The ring-
leaders of the mutiny were sent in irons to Liverpool, a new crew shipped and
the Sheffield sailed for home.

Both my father and mother were very fond of having their friends about them,
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and among their constant visitors were Judge Samuel Cooper, Mr. and Mrs.
Daniel Glover, Mr. and Mrs. Augustus Russell, Reverend Dr. Goodwin. Mr. and
Mrs. Eben Jackson, Captain Charles Jackson, U.S.N., Mr. Charles Alsop, Mr.
and Mrs. Samuel Russell, Mr. and Mrs. John Russell and many others who
made society in those days so bright and pleasant.

The family attended the Church of the Holy Trinity. My mother was pre-
pared for confirmation by the Rev. Samuel Farmer Jarvis, and confirmed by
Bishop Brownell. My father was confirmed late in life by Bishop Williams.

Captain Hackstaff died in Middletown, November 16, 1869, and
was buried in the family lot in beautiful Indian Hill cemetery.
Soon after his death two railroads secured the right of way
through the property and the family home was broken up. Mrs.
Hackstaff died in Philadelphia at the home of her daughter Mary
(Hackstaff) Davies, 717 Pine street, May 5, 1888, after an illness
which she bore with great sweetness and patience, and was laid
beside her husband in Middletown, the funeral service being at
Holy Trinity Church.

The children of William G. and Anna (Garr) Hackstaff were : —
1. Anna, born in New York city; died in infancy.

2. Clara, born in New York city August 9, 1834 ; married first
Capt. Charles Shaler McDonough, U. S. N., October 18, 1855,
and has issue; married second Robert Adams December 18,
1873, and has issue.

3. Anna, born in Jersey City, N. J.,, January 7, 1836; died June,
1836.

4. William George, born in Middletown, Conn., June 19, 1838.

5. Mary Lang, born in Middletown, Conn., June 18, 1842 ; mar-
ried Reverend Thomas Frederick Davies, Jr., April 29, 1862,
and has issue.

6. George Trimble, born in Middletown, Conn., April 27, 1848 ;
died unmarried July 24, 1870.

7. Alexander Garr, born in Middletown, Conn., May 16, 1852; mar-
ried Cornelia Tilden Allen February 20, 1879, and has issue.

8. Charles Ludovic, born in Middletown, Conn., April 7, 1854 ;
married Margaret Hoffman January 11, 1882, and has issue.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE SHIP MANHATTAN.
(From the Liverpool Standard, February 10, 1850.)

The island of Manhattan, on which stands the prosperous city
of New York, has given birth to the title of another magnificent
liner packet. Her name is certainly appropriate, for she is one of
that class of vessels, which in size and accommodation present not
only space but capacity to entitle them to the appellation of Float-
ing Islands. Old legends say one “Ben Bowers” built ships by
the mile, cutting them off, and turning in the ends to suit them to
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the rig of brig, barque, or schooner; but while in the western
world “ Uncle Sam ” seems to aim at the dimensions of the car-
penter of old, he is evidently studying the great essentials of naval
architecture, the combination of bearing and capacity with speed.
We had the pleasure on Saturday of a cursory glance at the Man-
hattan, and cannot withhold our admiration of her proportions;
indeed, they would, we judge, meet the approval of those whose
perceptions form the climax of the beautiful. She is a fine stately
looking ship, of enormous length and breadth, but still particularly
clean fore and aft. Her lines are easy, graceful, and well rounded.
Her stem is ornamented with a billet head, and her counter deco-
rated by a boldly carved bust of Washington, supported by the
British and American flags, gracefully folding amidst trophies of
war, and symbols of commerce — power — and — peace.  She is
neatly sparred, and tautly rigged. The fore and mainmast are built,
but the mizzen, which is “no small stick,” is grown.
The Manhattan is by measurement, in

Lengthoverall . . . . . . . . 190 feet.
»»  between perpendiculars . . . . 180 —
» onmaindeck . . . . . . . 18 —
Beam . . . . . . . .. ... 40 —
Depthofhod . . . . . . . . . 2784 —
Tonnage (carpenter’'s) . . . . . . I500 tons.
N (register) . . . . . . 1400 —

She was built at New York, for C. W. Marshall, Esq., as one of
the Old Black Line of Liverpool packets (the first line of vessels
permanently stationed in the trade), by Mr. W. H. Webb, whose
celebrity in the nautical world is established by the Yorkshire, the
Fidelia, the Guy Mannering, the Ivanhoe, the Marmion, the Albert
Gallatin, and other clipper transatlantic traders of his drafting and
construction. As no expense has been spared, there is no scarcity
of timber or fastening in the Manhattan. Her deck beams are
complete balks ; the lodging knees being long in the shanks, are
overlapped and bolted through ; the hanging knees under every
beam, are “monsters,” and would certainly do credit to the naval
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yard of her Britannic majesty. They are from 22 to 24 inches in
the throat, and average 12 inches in thickness, and each is fastened
with no less than 16 bolts. The stem framework of the Manhattan,
and the dead wood fore and aft, are of live oak. The keel and
kelsons are 8 feet in thickness, and as an addition she has sister
kelsons and heavy bilge pieces, running the full length of the craft,
and thoroughly bolted through. Breast hooks are plentifully used,
and are well formed and lengthy. The waterways of yellow pine
are 18 inches thick, and the clamps of white oak, 8 inches. The
floor timbers are 22 inches up and down. The planking is of Jer-
sey oak, commencing with the guardboard shark at 8 inches. The
floorings are 5% inches, varying up to the bends, where it is 7 inches
in thickness. The ceiling of the lower hold is heavy planking of
white oak, the between decks Georgia pine. All her minor timber-
ing is proportionately great in size, and from the manner in which
she is fastened, she is one of the strongest ships that ever entered
the Mersey, and could vie in strength and quality with a seventy-
four.

The Manhattan was constructed expressly for the transit of
passengers, and in her is combined all the improvements that past
experience has suggested. She is a three-decker. The lower deck
is, with the exception of a storeroom, classed as a steerage. The
main or middle deck is so arranged as to form a second cabin, an
intermediate cabin, in which permanent private rooms are formed,
and the captain’s cabin, the latter being “ chock aft.” The height
between decks is nearly 8 feet, and she is ventilated fore and aft,
as well as between the inner and outer skin. In a sanatory point,
she will present to the emigrant no small desideraza. On the upper
deck there are eight hatchways, which are either covered to form
skylights or used as entrances to the lower decks. In the houses
there is excellent accommodation for culinary purposes. There is
a hospital, so as to separate the sick from the bulk of pas-
sengers. An extensive wheel-house, in which the officers of the
ship have rooms, forms a capital entrance to the cabin.

The capacity of the Manhattan is as follows : —
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Superficial feet. Passengers.
On thelowerdeck . . . 5367 . . whichallows. . . 383
s s upperdeck. . . 4827 . . ” . . . 344
State-roomsonpoop . . 136 . . " A -
Deck-houses . . . . 211 . . " N {3
The number of passengers she willcarryis . . . . . 750

‘The cabin of the Manhattan, though large and substantially fitted
up in beautiful mahogany is not decorated in the gorgeous style
of some, for there has been evidently more attention paid to sub-
stantial comfort than pleasing ornaments. The state-rooms are
very large and well lighted.

The Manhattan is commanded by Capt. W. G. Hackstaff, who,
since the year 1824, has commanded one or other of the liners from
this port to New York, and whose urbanity of manner, and knowl-
edge of the trade in which he is engaged, have gained for him an
appreciation that he richly deserves. She is consigned to Messrs.
Baring Brothers, and Co.: Messrs. Harnden and Co. managing
the passenger department.
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FOURTH GENERATION.

MAJOR THOMAS McDONOUGH.

b. 1747.
m. 1770.

d. November 10, 1795.

Major THoMAs McDoNouUGH, son of James and Lydia (Laroux)
McDonough, was born at the Trap, New Castle County, Delaware,
in 1747. He was educated as a physician, and his practice was
probably in and about his native place.

When the Revolution broke out the state of Delaware raised
and placed in the field a battalion of eight hundred men under
command of Colonel John Haslet. This battalion was composed
of state troops in Continental service —that is, troops organized
under the colonial laws and furnished by the state of Delaware
upon the call of Congress, who appointed their field officers.
John Macpherson was elected Major of the regiment January 19,
1776, but he was not then living, having been killed in the storm-
ing of Quebec in December, 1775. The intelligence of his death
did not reach Delaware, however, until March, 1776, and on hear-
ing of it the General Assembly passed the following : —

Wednesday .M., March 20, 1776.

On motion made, Resolved, That Dr. Thomas McDonough, of the County of
Newcastle, be, and he is hereby, recommended to the honourable the Conti-
nental Congress, as Major in the Delaware Battalion, vice John Macpherson,
Jun., Esq., deceased.

55
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Under date of Friday, March 22, 1776, the following entry, an
exact copy of the original, appears in the Journal of the Conti-
nental Congress : —

The Assembly of the counties on Delaware having recommended a gentle-
man to 2 Major in the batallion ordered to be raised in that colony in the room
of John Macpherson jun'r Esq’r who fell before Quebec & never received his
commission, The Congress proceeded to the election & the ballots being taken
& examined Thomas M'Donough was elected.

Major McDonough at once joined his command, which was in
camp at Dover, and prepared for active duty. The history of
Colonel Haslet’s Delaware battalion has never been fully written.

From his note book, 179z.

The writer presents here such facts as he has been able to gather,
feeling sure that it will interest the descendants of Major McDon-
ough, from his connection with it, to follow its movements and
note the honorable record it made during its term of service.

It appears from correspondence between Colonel Haslet and
Congress that in March, 1776, the former- sent two companies of
the battalion to Lewes, Del., which were followed in April by an-
other company. On April 7 this detachment repulsed, in a spir-
ited engagement, an attempt of the tender of the British 44-gun
ship Roebuck to capture an American schooner which had been
run on shore to avoid its being taken.

PHILADELPHIA, May 2, 1776.

Sir : You are hereby directed to station thirty-five men, with a proper officer,
of your battalion, at the False Cape, to protect the navigation, and do duty there
until further orders.

I am, sir, your very humble servant,
Jorn HANCOCK, President.

To the Officer commanding the Battalion of Continental Troops in Delaware
Government.
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PHILADELPHIA, June 18, 1776.

S¥r: The two companies which were stationed at Cape May being ordered to

join their regiment and proceed to Canada, and the service requiring a constant

force there, I have it in charge from the Congress to direct that you immediately

order two companies of the battalion of Continental Troops under your command

to proceed to Cape May, there to protect the inhabitants and the navigation, and
to do duty until further order of Congress.

I am, sir, your most obedient servant,
Joun HANCOCK, President.

“To Colonel Haslett, or Officer commanding the Battalion of Continental Troops
in Delaware Government.

PHILADELPHIA, July 5, 1776.

Ssr - I have it in command from Congress to direct you to station one Com-

pany of the Battalion under your command at Lewistown,' and to march the

remaining seven companies to the town of Wilmington, and there remain until

the further order of this Congress. You will therefore immediately put this
.order into execution.

I am, sir, your most obedient servant,
JouN HANCOCK, President.

“To Colonel Haslett, or Officer commanding the Battalion of Continental Troops
in Delaware Government.

This movement was ordered to afford protection to Philadelphia
and the lower counties in the absence of the Pennsylvania troops
who, on July 10, began their march to New York to join General
Washington.

PHILADELPHIA, Sunday morning, July 21, 1776.

Sér : In consequence of a resolution of Congress passed yesterday evening, I

am to direct you, immediately and without loss of time after the receipt of this,

to march with the troops under your command to Philadelphia, there to do duty

until the further orders of Congress. If the company ordered to Lewistown !

be still there, you are not to include that company in your marching orders for

Philadelphia. On your arrival here, you will station your troops in the barracks.
1 am, with respect, sir, your most obedient servant,

JoHN HANCOCK, President.

“To Colonel Haslett, or Officer commanding the Battalion of Continental Troops
in the Delaware Government.

1Lewes, Del.
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PHILADELPHIA, August 3, 1776.

Sir : You are hereby directed to order the company of your battalion posted

at Lewis-Town * as soon as possible to march to Philadelphia and join their bat-
talion now stationed at the barracks in this city.

I am, sir, your very humble servant,
JouN HANCOCK, President.
To the Officer commanding the Battalion of Continental Troops now in this city,.
Colonel Haslett’s Battalion.

The battalion arrived at Philadelphia from Wilmington August
3, as we learn from a letter of that date from Caesar Rodney to
his brother, Thomas Rodney.

PHILADELPHIA, August 6, 1776.

Sir : The congress having instructed their Committee immediately to deliver
as many arms as are necessary for your battalion, Robert Morris, Esq., will give
the orders for their delivery. And I have it in charge from the Congress to
direct, that as soon as the arms are received, you do, without loss of time, march
your battalion to Amboy, New-Jersey, and acquaint General Washington of your
arrival there, and follow such orders as you shall receive from him.

1 am, sir, your very humble servant,
Joun HANCOCK, President.

To the Officer commanding the Battalion of Continental Troops at the Barracks,
Philadelphia, Colonel Haslett's Battalion.

The battalion was now well drilled and well equipped. * They
are completely armed — as fine guns as you could wish to see,”
wrote Czsar Rodney to Thomas Rodney August 8. On August
6 Mr. Abram Clark wrote from Philadelphia to Colonel Dayton,
«I dare say you have a good regiment, and hear their commenda-
tion with pleasure ; but had you seen a regiment, that went near
two weeks ago to New-York, raised in Maryland, and another
paraded this day in the State-House yard, from the Delaware Gov-
ernment, you would have altered your opinion ; they were all shirt-
men,? mostly of an age and size. The two battalions above men-
tioned were the finest I ever saw.”

As General Mercer, in a letter to General Washington from

1 Lewes, Del.

1 Shirtmen —Le., supplied with the shirts being furnished the troops as part of their outfit of
clothing.
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Powles Hook August 15, mentions “a body of four hundred men,
well accoutred, from the Delaware Counties” as being under his
command, the battalion must have joined him from Philadelphia
on or before that date. Shortly after it joined the main army at
New York under General Washington and was brigaded with
Smallwood’s Maryland regiment and four Pennsylvania regiments,
Lord Stirling being in command of the brigade. On August 27
the battalion took part in the battle of Long Island and behaved
with the courage, discipline and steadiness of veteran troops.

In describing that part of the battle in which the Delaware
battalion participated, George Bancroft, the historian, says,

At three in the morning of the twenty-seventh, Putnam was told that the picket
which guarded the approach to the coast-road had been driven in; and without
further inquiry he ordered Stirling, then a brigadier, with two regiments nearest
at hand, to advance beyond the lines and repulse the enemy. The two regiments
that were chosen for this desperate service were the large and well-equipped one
of Delawares and that of Maryland, composed of the young sons of free-
holders and men of property from Baltimore and its neighborhood, though the
colonels and lieutenant-colonels of both chanced to be absent on duty in New
York city. . . .

Putnam’s rash order, directing Stirling to stop the approach of a detachment
which might have been ten times his number, left him no discretion. The posi-
tion to which he was sent was dangerous in the extreme. His course was
oblique, inclining to the right; and this movement, relinquishing his direct com-
munication with the camp, placed in his rear a marsh extending on both sides of
Gowanus creek, which was scarcely fordable even at low tide, and was crossed
by a bridge and a causeway that served as a dam for one of two tide-mills; on
his left he had no connecting support; in front he had to encounter Grant’s
division which outnumbered him four to one; and on his right he had the bay,
commanded by the fleet of Lord Howe. About where now runs Nineteenth
street in Brooklyn, he formed his line along a ridge from the left of the road to
woods on a height now enclosed within the cemetery and known as Battle hill.
Two field-pieces, all that he had to oppose against ten, were placed on the side
of the hill so as to command the road and the only approach for some hundred

yards.

Lord Stirling was re-enforced by Colonel Atlee’s regiment and
Kichline's rifiemen, both Pennsylvania troops, but these seem to
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have been soon dispersed, leaving the Delaware and Maryland
troops to bear the brunt of the attack of Grant’s division which
consisted of two brigades of four regiments each. The immense
superiority in numbers and experience made the success of the
British arms practically certain.

Bancroft attributes the disasters of the day to General Putnam,
“who, in spite of warning, suffered himself to be surprised ; and
having sent Stirling and ‘the flower of the American army’ into
the most dangerous position into which brave men could have
been thrown, neglected to countermand his orders.” Lord Stirling
and his gallant band held their position until it became untenable
and were the last of the American forces to give up the unequal
struggle of that eventful day. Bancroft says,

None remained in the field, but Stirling with the regiment of Maryland and
that of Delaware. For nearly four hours they had stood in their ranks with
colors flying ; when Stirling, finding himself without hope of a reenforcement
and perceiving the main body of the British army rapidly coming behind him,
gave them the word to retreat. They withdrew in perfect order; twenty
marines, who mistook the Delawares, from the facing of their uniforms, for
Hessians, were brought off as prisoners.

The only avenue of escape was by wading through ‘Gowanus creek, and this
passage was almost cut off by troops under Cornwallis who had advanced by the
Port road, and, with the second regiment of grenadiers and the seventy-first
Highlanders, blocked the retreat at a house near the tide-mills, within less than
a half-mile of the American lines. Stirling had not a moment to deliberate.
He must hold Cornwallis in check or his whole party is lost. With the quick
inspiration of disinterested valor, he ordered the Delaware regiment and one-
half of that of Maryland to make the best of their way across the marsh and
creek, while, to secure them time for this movement, he confronted the advanc-
ing British with only five companies of Marylanders. . .

In this manner ten minutes were gained, so that the Delawares, with their
prisoners, and all the Maryland regiment but its five devoted companies suc-
ceeded in reaching the creek. Seven were drowned in its deep waters; the rest
got safely over and were escorted to the camp by a regiment and a company,
which Washington had sent to their relief.

Colonel Haslet wrote to Thomas Rodney October 4, 1776 :—
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On Sunday, the 25th of August last, my regiment was ordered to Long
Island, in Lord Stirling’s brigade, composed mostly of the Southern troops, by
whom we were much caressed and highly complimented on our appearance and
dexterity in the military exercise and manceuvres. On Tuesday the 27th his
brigade . . . was ordered to advance beyond the lines and repulse the enemy.
. . . Several of the regiments were broken and dispersed soon after the first
onset. The Delawares and Marylanders stood firm to the last, and after a
variety of skirmishing the Delawares drew up on the side of a hill and stood up-
ward of four hours with a firm, determined countenance, in close array, their
colours flying, the enemy’s artillery playing on them all the while, not daring to
advance and attack them, though six times their number and nearly surrounding
them. Nor did they think of quitting their station till an express order from the
General commanded their retreat through a marsh and over a creek, the only
opening left, which they effected in good order, with the loss of one man
drowned in passing. The Delawares alone had the honour of bringing off
twenty-three prisoners.

I must also do Colonel Smallwood’s battalion the justice to say that the
spirited attack made by them on the enemy at the time the Delawares and them-
selves were retreating greatly facilitated the escape of both. Twenty-seven of
the Delawares next morning were missing. In that number were Lieutenants
Stewart and Harney ; the latter a prisoner, the other not yet heard of. Major
McDonough was wounded in the knee; a ball passed through the sleeve of his
coat without wounding the arm or his body. . . . The Delaware battalion,
officers and men, are respected throughout this army.

Casar Rodney wrote to Thomas Rodney October 2, 1776,
“Yesterday I received a letter from Dr. Tilton. . . . One para-
graph in the old man’s letter is very full of the great honour
obtained by the Delaware battalion in the affair at Long-Island,
from the unparalled bravery they showed in view of all the Gen-
erals and troops within the lines, who alternately praised and
pitied them.”

Some of the regiments in the brigade became broken up and
were compelled to engage the enemy in small parties, greatly to
their disadvantage. “But the Delawareans,” says a writer,
“being well trained, kept and fought in a compact body the whole
time, and, when obliged to retreat, preserved their ranks and
entered the lines in that order; and were obliged frequently,
while retreating, to fight their way through bodies of the enemy.”
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The descendants of Major McDonough may feel a pardonable
pride in the fact that the Delaware troops, who behaved so gal-
lantly in this battle, were under his immediate command, Colonel
Haslet and Lieutenant-Colonel Bedford both being absent in New
York as members of a court martial. “He acquitted himself,”
writes Major Garden in his “ Anecdotes of the American Revolu-
tion,” ‘“so as to merit the flattering approbation of General
Washington.”

The Delaware battalion was now placed in General Mifflin’s
brigade, which covered the retreat of the American forces from
Long Island the night of August 30 and the morning of the 31st.
General Mifflin claimed the honor for his troops of being the
last to leave the lines. For nearly four weeks General Washing-
ton and the main body of the army, to which Mifflin’s brigade
was attached, remained on the heights of Harlem and then began
the advance to White Plains.

By a return of the army under Washington at King’s Bridge
September 21, a return of the officers of the Delaware battalion
October 4, and a return of the field officers of the Delaware bat-
talion October §, it is shown that Major McDonough was with
his command at this time and fit for duty.

On the night of October 21 Colonel Haslet’s force surpnsed a
picket of Roger’s regiment of rangers at Mamaroneck and
brought off thirty-six prisoners, a stand of colors and sixty mus-
kets. On October 28 the battalion took part in the battle of
White Plains. Colonel Haslet describes the engagement in the
following letter to Caesar Rodney dated November 12, 1776 : —

I received His Excellency’s orders to take possession of the hill (Chatterton’s
Hill) beyond our lines, and the command of the Militia there posted; which
was done. We had not been many minutes on the ground, when the cannonade
began, and the second shot wounded a Militiaman in the thigh, upon which the
whole regiment broke and fled immediately, and were not rallied without much
difficulty. Soon after General McDougall’s brigade took post behind us. Some
of our officers expressed much apprehension from the fire of our friends so
posted. On my application to the General, he ordered us to the right, formed
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his own brigade on the left, and ordered Brook’s Massachusetts militia still
farther to the right, behind a stone fence.

The troops being thus disposed, I went up to the top of the hill, in front of
our troops, accompanied by Major McDonough, to reconnoiter the enemy. 1
plainly perceived them marching to the White-Plain, in eight columns, and stop
in the wheat-fields a considerable time. I saw their General Officers on horse-
back assemble in council, and soon their whole body faced about, and in one
continued column, march to the hill opposite to our right. I then applied to
General McDougall again to vary his disposition, and advised him to order my
regiment farther onward, and replace it with Colonel Smallwood’s, or to order
the Colonel forward, for there was no dependence to be placed on the Militia.
The latter measure was adopted. On my seeing the enemy's march to the
creek begin in a column of their main body, and urging the necessity of bring-
ing our field-pieces immediately forward to bear upon them, the General ordered
one, and that so poorly appointed, that myself was forced to assist in dragging
it along the rear of the regiment. While so employed, a cannon-ball struck the
carriage, and scattered the shot about, a wad of tow blazing in the middle. The
artillerymen fled. One alone was prevailed upon to tread out the blaze and
collect the shot. The few that returned made no more than two discharges,
when they retreated with the field-piece. About this time the Maryland battalion
was warmly engaged, and the enemy ascending the hill. The cannonade from
twelve or fifteen pieces, well served, kept up a continual peal of reiterated thun-
der. The Militia regiment behind the fence fled in confusion, without more
than a random, scattering fire. Colonel Smallwood in a quarter of an hour after-
wards, gave wayalso. The rest of General McDougall’s brigade never came up to
the scene of action. Part of the first three Delaware companies also retreated
in disorder, but not until after several were wounded and killed. The left of
the regiment took post behind the fence and the top of the hill with most of the
officers, and twice repulsed the Light Troops and Horse of the enemy; but
seeing themselves deserted on all hands, and the continued column of the
enemy advancing we also retreated. Covering the retreat of our party, and
forming at the foot of the hill, we marched into camp in the rear of the body
sent to re-inforce us.

A return of the “ Delaware regiment of foot' dated November
4, 1776, shows that Major McDonough was with his command on
that date, but by a return of the forces encamped on the Delaware
River, in Pennsylvania, December 22, which includes Haslet's
command, it appears that he was absent and no further record of
his active connection with the battalion can be found. He must
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have left it after the battle of White Plains and later than
November 4, illness or a wound probably incapacitating him for
active service and compelling his absence from the battalion
during its last two months of service.

In a general return of the army November 3 and by the return
of December 22, just mentioned, the battalion is shown to be
attached to Lord Stirling’s brigade. It took part in the battle of
Trenton December 2§ and in the battle of Princeton January 3,
1777, being attached to General Mercer's brigade in the latter
engagement. In the battle of Princeton Colonel Haslet was
killed while leading his command gallantly into action. The time
of enlistment of the officers and men had actually expired with
December 31, 1776. For this reason and in accordance with the
plan of Congress to re-organize the Continental forces, the regi-
ment was disbanded in January, 1777, and Major McDonough
received an honorable discharge.

Congress, on September 16, 1776, with a view to re-organizing
the army, had issued a call for eighty-eight battalions, of which
each state was to furnish a certain proportion, Delaware’s quota
being one battalion of eight hundred men. This was being
formed in the latter part of 1776 and early in 1777. In an old
book already mentioned entitled “ Anecdotes of the American
Revolution,” written by Major Alexander Garden, a Revolution-
ary officer in Lee’s Legion, and published in 1828, now in the
writer’s possession, there is related an incident concerning Major
McDonough which is interesting and very likely true. Referring
to the new Delaware battalion which was being formed, Major
Garden says,

Governor M'Kinly assembled his Council at Wilmington to appoint the
officers who were to hold the commissions, and Major M’Donough, both from
rank and high military reputation, was without hesitation named as Colonel.
Information was immediately given that the honour was declined, and that his
resolution to retire from service was not to be overcome. A gentleman of high
rank was then appointed to command, but he, unwilling from a want of experi-
ence to occupy a post of such high responsibility, modestly said,
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¢« Allow me to use my influence to induce Major M’Donough to take the com-
mand which has been offered to him, and I will willingly serve under his orders

" as his Lieutenant Colonel.”

His proposition was acceded to and he immediately went forward, earnestly
hoping that his mission would be successful. Arriving in the evening at the
Major's house, the purpose of his visit was made known. Overpowered by his
feelings and due sense of the honour conferred upon him, he could make no
reply ; but having, after a time, recovered his composure, he said,

** Do me the honour to breakfast with me to-morrow morning and I will give
you my answer.”

The visitor was punctual in his attendance, and was presented to Mrs.
M’Donough who sat at her breakfast table, her children, all small and neatly
dressed, being arranged on each side of her. She was an engaging and accom-
plished woman, who inspired with respect all who approached her; the Major a
handsome man of very gentlemanly deportment. Breakfast being ended and
the lady and children retired, the Major addressed his visitor to this effect: —

+¢] am deeply indebted to the Governor and Council, and to you, Sir, for the
honour of this visit and the application which is the object of it, but circum-
stances forbid me to indulge my own inclination. The small farm which I
inhabit is my only possession, and 1 am compelled, having some knowledge of
physic, to make it a profession, the better to support my wife and the children
who have now left us. My heart is my country’s and I am not without ambition
to acquire military fame, but if I were to fall, what would become of them?*

These few words contained an appeal that was unanswerable. The Major
remained at home.

This incident, Major Garden explains, relates to the father of
Commodore Macdonough, and he adds, “I consider it altogether
probable that owing to his resolution to relinquish his ardent:
desire for military fame and to devote his entire attention to the
education of his children, we owe the exemplary good conduct
and triumph of the son.” .

There was a family tradition, however, that he afterwards did
rejoin the army and serve as surgeon until the end of the war.
It was also said that he sold some of his property to raise funds
to purchase medicine for the troops. It is a fact that in 1779 he
sold a farm for £5500, Continental currency, but there is nothing
to show to what purpose this money was devoted. As the Major
was probably largely dependent on the income from his profession,
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it is likely that it was used for the needs of his own family. As
to the tradition that he re-entered the army, the writer has found
conclusive evidence that he did not do so, and this evidence
throws at the same time considerable light upon a very interest-
ing portion of his life. }

In his investigations the writer failed at first to find any in-.
formation concerning Major McDonough between January, 1777,
when he received his discharge, and February, 1788, when he was
elected a Justice of the Court of Common Pleas and Orphans’
Court. He was then in the prime of life and it was thought most
unlikely that a man as prominent and able as he undoubtedly was
would have wished or, indeed, would have been allowed, to retire
to private life when his services were needed most. A short time
ago the writer came across the Minutes of the Council of the
Delaware State, and there was found the record of his services
from 1777 to 1788. ]

The civil government of Delaware from 1776 to 1792 consisted
of a President, a Privy Council and a General Assembly. The
last was composed of two bodies, a lower house called the Assem-
bly, and an upper house called the Council. The former was
made up of seven and the latter of three delegates from each of
the three counties of New Castle, Kent and Sussex. The Privy
Council was composed of four members, two of whom were
chosen by the Assembly and two by the Council, each for a term
of two years. Its duties appear to have been to advise with the
President in relation to embodying the militia, calling special
meetings of the General Assembly, making appointments to cer-
tain offices and in filling vacancies in others until a new election.

In the latter part of 1776 and the early part of 1777 a battalion
was being raised in Delaware in response to a call of Congress.
Efforts were made to induce Major McDonough to accept a com-
mission in the new battalion. On February 22, 1777, the Assem-
bly notified the Council “ That the General Assembly have been
informed that Col. Bedford and Major McDonough decline going
into the service of the army.” This, by the way, confirms the
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anecdote concerning him related by Major Garden. The Council,
however, anxious to secure his services, elected him the same day
a member of the Privy Council. With him was elected Mr.
George Latimer, and they were members of the first Privy Coun-
cil under the state constitution of 1776.

He served in the Privy Council for the full term of two years,
During the last year of his term he was brought, by virtue of his
position as Privy Councillor, into close personal relationship with
Caesar Rodney, who was elected President of the Delaware State
March 31, 1778. The exigencies of the times had probably
brought these two together before. Casar Rodney’s nephew,
Casar Augustus Rodney, was also a friend of both the Major
and his son Thomas (the Commodore), and the latter writes of
him in 1802 as “C. A. Rodney, Esq. my father's and my
friend.”

On October 2, 1780, Major McDonough was elected a mem-
.ber of the Council for three years and served the full term.
On October 1, 1783, he was again elected and served a like term.
On October 25, 1784, he was unanimously elected Speaker of the
Council to succeed Czsar Rodney and served as such for two
years, until the expiration of the term for which he had been
elected a member of the Council. He was apparently not in pub-
lic life the next year, but on October 1, 1787, he was again elected
a member of the Council and was unanimously chosen Speaker
when the Council assembled on October 25 of that year. He
served as Speaker until the end of the session in June, 1788, when
he resigned from the Council to fill the position of third Justice
of the Court of Common Pleas and Orphans’ Court of New Castle
County, to which he had been elected February 2, 1788.

As a member of the Council he was constant in his attendance
at its sessions, assiduous in his attention to public duty and unre-
mitting in his endeavors to promote the success of the struggling
colonies and the welfare of his native state.

On February 2, 1788, as already stated, he was elected by the
General Assembly third Justice of the Court of Common Pleas
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and Orphans’ Court for New Castle County. On January 9, 1791,
he was elected second Justice of the Court of Common Pleas and
Orphans’ Court, and on September 6, 1793, he was appointed by
Governor Clayton one of the Justices of the Court of Common
Pleas. Copies of his commissions are among the records pre-
served in the Court House at Wilmington, Delaware. The first
one reads as follows : —

THE DELAWARE STATE To Thomas McDonough, of the County of
New Castle, Esquire, GREETING:

Whereas our President and General Assembly, on the Second day of February,
in this present year one thousand seven Hundred and Eighty eight, did by Joiat
Ballot, elect and appoint you, the said Thomas McDonough, third Justice of the
Court of Common Pleas and Orphans Court of and for the said County of New
Castle: Know you, therefore, that in pursuance of the said appointment, We do
by these presents, Commissionate you, the said Thomas McDonough, to be
third Justice of the said Court of Common Pleas and Orphans Court of and for
the said County of New Castle: requiring you to do therein that which of Right,
and according to the Laws of the said State, ought to be done and performed.

In Testimony whereof we have caused our Great Seal to be hereunto Affixed.
Witness his Excellency Thomas Collins Esquire, our President,
Captain General, and Commander in Chief, at Kent County, the
SEAL. fifteenth day of February in the Year of our Lord one thousand
seven Hundred and Eighty eight, and in the twelfth year of our
Independency.

Attest,
JA. BooTH Secy THOS. COLLINS

The second commission reads very much like the first and is as
follows : —

THE DELAWARE STATE to Thomas McDonough of the County of New
Castle, Esquire, GREETING,

Whereas our President and General Assembly on the ninth Day of January in
this present Year, One thousand seven hundred & ninety one, did by joint Ballot
elect & appoint You, the said Thomas McDonough, second Justice of the Court
of Common Pleas and Orphans Court of and for the said County of New Castle :
Know You, therefore, that in Pursuance of the said Appointment We do by these
Presents commissionate You, the said Thomas McDonough, to be second Justice
of the said Court of Common Pleas and Orphans Court of and for the said
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County of New Castle : Requiring You to do therein that which of Right, accord-
ing to the Laws of the said State, ought to be done and performed.

In Testimony whereof We have caused our Great Seal to be hereunto affixed.
Witness His Excellency Joshua Clayton, Esquire, our President
and Commander in Chief, at New Castle, the Sixteenth Day of

SRAL. February in the Year of our Lord One thousand seven hundred
and ninety one, & of our Independence the Fifteenth.
Attest
Jas. Boors, Secy Josuua CrLarron

The third commission is couched in much the same terms : —

THE STATE OF DELAWARE To Thomas McDonough, of the county
of Newcastle, esquire, GREETING :

Know you that reposing especial Trust and confidence in your Knowledge and
Integrity We have constituted and appointed and by these presents do constitute
and appoint you the said Thomas McDonough to be one of the Justices of the
Court of Common Pleas of the said State: Requiring you to do therein that
which of right and according to the Laws of the said State ought to be done.

In testimony whereof the great seal of the State is hereunto affixed. Witness
Joshua Clayton Governor of the said State, at Newcastle county,

SEAL the sixth day of September in the year of our Lord one thousand
: seven hundred and ninety three, and of the Independence of the

said State the eighteenth.
J. CrayTON By the Governor JAMES BooTH Secy

NEWCASTLE, October 23, 1793

Thomas McDonough esquire, one of the Judges of the court of Common Pleas
of the State of Delaware, took the oath to support the constitution of the
United States agreeably to an Act of Congress of the first of June 1789; and
also an oath to support the constitution of the State of Delaware, and tofperform
the duties of his said Office with fidelity agreeably to the ninth article of the
Constitation of the said State. By virtue of a commission of General Dedimus

Potestatem.
Before me Jamss BooTn

The following is another interesting paper among the old
records at Wilmington : —

THIS INDENTURE made this fourth day of February in the year seventeen
hundred and eighty eight Between Thomas McDonough of Saint Georges hun-
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dred and State of Delaware of the one part, and Negroe Tobias of the other
part, WITNESSETH that the said Negroe Tobias for and in Consideration of
the sum of fifty five pounds in hand paid to him (the receipt whereof the said
Negroe Tobias doth hereby acknowledge and fully discharge the said Thomas
McDonough) hath and by these presents doth bind himself unto the said
Thomas McDonough to serve him, his heirs or assigns faithfully in all lawfull
commands for and during the full end and term of ten years to be fully compleat
and ended, the said Term of Ten Years to commence from the present date
hereof, and the said Thomas McDonough doth hereby oblige himself to find the
said Negroe in Dyet and Cloaths during the said Term.

In Witness whereof the Parties have set their hands and seals the day and date
above said.

his
Witness Present NEGRO X TOBIAS
PoLLy HYATT JANE HyATT mark

THo: McDonouGH

While on a recent visit to Middletown, Delaware, the writer was
shown some interesting family papers by Mrs. Florence Lillian
Bordley, a great-granddaughter of the Major. Among them was
a small blank book containing several pages of memoranda in the
Major’s writing. Two of the entries are as follows : —

Rec'd 14 April 1785 from Thomas McDonough the sum of 48/. his County,
Road & Poor Tax of 1784, & the sum of 21/. his County, Road & poor Tax of
1785, per me
£3.9.0. Jos. AspriL CoTT

Rec'd July 27, 1791, from Doct. Thos. McDonough the sum of 15/. for the
use of John Stoaks per his order per me, it being for teaching my children
Music.

15/. JoBN BELVEAL JUN'R

The Reverend George Foot, in an address on the early history
of Delaware delivered in 1842, speaks of the McDonoughs and
says they usually attended the Episcopal Church. As St. Ann’s
at Middletown is the oldest Episcopal Church within reasonable
distance of where the family lived, six miles away, its records were
examined and frequent mention found of Thomas McDonough's
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name. The records are very incomplete, being continuous only
from 1808, with a few fragmentary records covering the years 1791
to 1795. It was among these latter that the following references
to him occur : —

This agreeably to the sense of the wardens & vestry at their meeting at St.
Ann'’s Church April 25, 1791, for the collecting & paying the Rev. Mr. Bisset the
sum of §3.19.6

There follows a list of names with the amount each was ex-
pected to contribute, and among them appears “ Thomas McDon-
ough 1.7 6” Mr. Bisset was Rector of St. Ann’s at that
time, and the amount to be raised was probably his yearly salary.

At a meeting of the Vestry on 17th August 1793, Present,
Thomas McDonough Esq’r
William Alfree Esq'r § Wardens
George Parker
Jacob Harman
Ashberry Sutton \Vestrymen
John Pennington
Philip Reading

It was unanimously agreed that John Pennington attend as Delegate to repre-
sent this parish in Convention to be held in Dover in September next.

Whereas it has been proposed by the Rev. William Skelly to settle among us
as officiating Minister ; ’

It was then agreed that Mr. John Pennington be authorized to offer the Rev.
Mr. Skelly fifty pounds or thereabouts for one half of his time as minister of s’d
parish, and that Mr. Pennington continue writing to the Rev. Mr. Skelly until
the meeting of Convention.

Another meeting of the wardens and vestry was held May 19,
1794, to consider the question of Mr. Skelly’s coming, and in con-
nection with this meeting there is the note : —

Thomas McDonough Esq'r, the other Warden, and Mr. George Parker,
Vestryman, being absent.

The last mention of his name is pa.rticula‘rly interesting as it
gives the number of the pew he occupied in the old church: —
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To be collected by Mr. George Parker, Thomas McDounough Esquire, & Mr.
William Carpenter Annual Rates, levied on the Pews in St. Ann's Church to be
paid by the persons to whose names they are respectively annexed, for the pur-
pose of raising a salary for the Rev. Mr. Dashiell. Said sum or Annual Rates
to be paid in quarterly payments or otherwise advanced as may suit the inclina-
tion & convenience of the respective taxables. To commence from the gth of
Novem'r 1794, consequently the first quarter is due the gth Febr'y, 1795.

L s d

No. 15 George Parker 2 9§

14 Thomas McDonough Esq'r 2 95§

12 William Carpenter 2 9§
2 Cantwell Jones Esq'r on his verbal message
by. Nathaniel Covinton, who is at this time

his tenant 10 0 0

20 Spencer Price 2 9 §

21 Peter Peterson & Wm Hall 295§

30 Nathaniel & Peter Covinton 2 o 6

32 Richard & henry Garritson 2 o6

34 Richard Price & Samuel Biddle 2 0 6

28 8 7

By the foregoing extracts from the church records it will be
seen that the Major (or Doctor, as he was usually called in Dela-
ware) was one of the wardens in 1793 and 1794. Were the rec-
ords complete they would no doubt show that not only Thomas
but his father James as well, with both their families, were all
members of this church.

Before leaving Middletown the writer visited old St. Ann's.
It was built early in 1700 and stands a mile south of Middletown
on a broad, well kept country road, surrounded by trees. It is
perfectly plain, with neither tower nor belfry, and is built of dark,
rough bricks which were brought from England. It would be
difficult to imagine a more quiet, peaceful spot than that in which
the old church stands. Surrounding it are the graves of those
who have long since passed away. Generation after generation
the ancient church has marked them with the sign of the cross,
has given them their first communion, joined them in holy matri-
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mony and committed them to their final resting places under the
'shadow of its consecrated walls.

In the church-yard stand two mighty oaks, as old or older than
the church itself, which stretch their protecting arms over the
quiet sleepers beneath as if to guard them from winter storm and
summer heat.

Within, the church is severely plain. No attempt has been
made at decoration of any kind. A gallery runs along the south
side and the west end. The floor is of wood and the pews are
small and straight backed. The writer sat in the one in which
our great-grandfather used to sit over one hundred years ago.
His son the Commodore, too, no doubt, often sat there when a
boy, with his brothers and sisters.

The old church has been closed for ten or twelve years, a new
St. Ann’s having been built in Middletown. The first Sunday
in June of every year, however, old St. Ann’s is opened and
morning service held there. Before her death in 1714 Queen
Anne of England, with her own hands, worked an altar cloth and
sent it to the church in Delaware with a message of encourage-
ment. One corner of the cloth, on which are worked the letters
A R (Anne Regina), is still preserved and hangs in the vestry
room of the new St. Ann’s.

The men of old St. Ann’s must have had very stern and un-
compromising ideas regarding the relations between England and
this country during and after the Revolution, for on one occasion
they laid hands upon one of their rectors, in spite of his cloth,
and ducked him in a creek near by because he persisted in praying
for King George. “ He left in deep disgrace,” the church records
say.

From the time of his marriage in 1770 until after the birth of
his son Thomas in 1783 Major McDonough lived about three
quarters of a mile south of the Trap on the west side of the road
from Odessa just after it crosses Drawyers creek. The house
was small, but one story and a half high, built of logs and weather
boarded. Here six of his children were born. In 1784 he built
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a house on land owned by his father at the Trap, now McDon-
ough, and lived there until his death in 179s.

This house was built of bricks brought from England and is
still standing on what is now known as the “Trap Farm.” Mrs.
Zacharias Roberts, of Middletown, Delaware, told the writer not
long ago that her husband’s mother, Lydia McDonough Caulk
Roberts, the Major's eldest child, had often pointed it out to her
as the house her father built and told her that her four younger
brothers and sisters were born there.

The old house is as solid and substantial now as the day it was
built. It stands at the top of a gentle rise, with a fine view of
the surrounding country. In front is a small, neatly kept lawn,
and within are the old fashioned door latches, the quaint chimney
cupboards and the generous fireplaces which testify to the warmth
of the hospitality of the old colonial days. On March 17, 1791,
the Major’s father, James McDonough, conveyed to him “in con-
sideration of natural love and affection ” the “ Trap Plantation ”
of 140 acres -on which was this house and the family burial
lot.

On June 14, 1779, the Major sold a farm of 257 acres in St.
George’s Hundred to Philemon Dickinson and Lambert Cadwal-
ader for £5500, Continental currency. This property was known
as the “ Mill Plantation’ and bordered on Drawyers creek, near
the Trap. It came into the Major’s possession through his wife,
to whom, as the eldest heir, it was assigned by Orphans’ Court
proceedings in April, 1778, it being a part of the real estate left
by her father, Samuel Vance, who died intestate. Philemon Dick-
inson is described as being “of the State of New Jersey” and
Lambert Cadwalader “ of Philadelphia.”

In the deed of sale of the property just mentioned he is called
“Colonel ” Thomas McDonough. In the office of the Secretary
of State at Dover, Delaware, there is a paper marked “ A Return
of the Seventh Regiment of Delaware Militia Reviewed by His
Excellency John Dickinson Esq., President &c. and Samuel Patter-
son Esq., Brigadier General,” dated October 12, 1782, and endorsed
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on the back “Return of Collo. McDonough’s Reg’t.” From this
it appears that he was Colonel of a Delaware militia regiment in
1779 and 1782, and he probably held that rank continuously be-
tween those dates. Delaware, as did other states, raised militia
regiments for duty within the state during the war, but, as these
forces were not a part of the Continental army, their services do
not form a part of the Government records although the local
militia regiments frequently co-operated within their own state
with the regulars, and, in some cases, participated in actual engage-
ments with the enemy. As early as January, 1775, companies were
formed throughout the (then) colony of Delaware for local protec-
tion, and in September, 1775, the Council of Safety organized the
companies of the several counties into nine battalions, or regi-
ments, and these into three brigades, the total strength being-
about five thousand. These organizations for state defense were
continued throughout the war.

Major McDonough died a comparatively young man November
10, 1795, after a useful and honorable life. His profession gave
him a standing in the community, and his education, soundness
of judgment and mental attainments made him a prominent figure
in the public affairs of the day. He died intestate, and on
December 3, 1795, his son-in-law, Benjamin Sluyter Caulk, was
appointed administrator of his estate which consisted of the
“Trap Plantation,” 140 acres, and 20 acres additional, making
160 acres in all, valued at £10 an acre, besides some personal
property, the whole amounting to £2638:19:2, or a little over
$13000. On May 17, 1796, the Major'’s brother Patrick was
appointed guardian of the minor children. On December 12,
1797, a petition was preferred to the Orphans’ Court asking for a
partition of the property, and by proceedings of the Court the
real estate passed by purchase into the bands of said Patrick. In
these proceedings all the children were mentioned as heirs-at-law
except Hester, who must have died.

Major McDonough married in 1770 Mary, daughter of Samuel
Vance, also of St. George’s Hundred. She is described as an
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“ engaging and accomplished woman, who inspired with respect
all who approached her.” She was born in 1751 and died Novem-
ber 1,.1792. She and her husband lie side by side in the family
lot on the Trap Farm.

Their children, all born at the Trap (now McDonough), Dela-
ware, were : —

1. Lydia, born March 30, 1771; married first Benjamin Sluyter
Caulk January 13, 1793, and had issue; married second
Zacharias Roberts February 19, 1804, and had issue; died
May 23, 1846.

2. Hannah, born November 1, 1773; married James Pennington
and had issue.

3. James, born July 14, 1777; died unmarried before April 9,
1813.

4. Mary, born August 11, 1779; married James Levi Foard and
had issue.

5. Hester, born August 20, 1781; died before December 12,
1797.

6. Thomas, born December 31, 1783 ; married Lucy Ann, daugh-
ter of Nathaniel and Lucretia Ann (Denning) Shaler,
December 12, 1812, and had issue; died November 10, 1825.

7. Samuel, born February 14, 1785; married Elizabeth Thomas
and had issue.

8. Jane, born December 9, 1787; married James Cox and had
issue.

9. John, born April 4, 1789 ; married Lavinia Woodland and had
issue.

10. Joseph, born February 19, 1791 ; died about 1804.

INVENTORY.

An Inventory of the goods of Thomas McDonough esqr dec'd,
of St. George’s hundred and Newcastle county, appraised by us
the subscribers this 24th day Decem 179§
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To the deceased wearing apparel 468/. gold watch
350/. small sord go/.

To a quantity of books 245/. To shop furniture and
medicine 200/.

Eight day Clock 500/. Desk and bookcase 150/.
dining table 50/.

To mahogany card table 40/. three tea tables 40/.

2 old looking glasses 30/. 6 mahogany setting & one
arm do. 150/.

Camp bed and bedstead 30/. old bed 50/. To three
Do. 180/.

3 bedsteds 15/. a parcel old bed cloas 70/. four win-
dow curtains 5/.

Eight sheets 80/. three table cloths 15/. two pair
andirons 35/.

Old trunk & chest 1/. old case of drawers 15/. bed
& furniture 200/.

Old walnut dining table 10/. two baskets keg and
some wool 15/.

Warming pan 2/6. two lb wollen yarn 5/. small
wheel §/.

Scales 2/6. water pott 3/3. small quantity thread
7/6.

Pair belloweses 2/6. six old chairs 10/. close brush
1/3.

Old reel 1/. Case and eight bottles 10/. stilyards
5/. shovel and tongs 5/.

Pictures 2/6. three barrels apples 45/. four old bar-
rels 5/.

Bedsted 7/6. sole leather 1/. bed and furniture
400/.

Small pine stand 3/3. small glass 5/.

Riding chair 550/. sulkey 400/. old plow 15/.

Syth and cradle 5/. two Ox chains 20/. some old
iron 15/. Ox cart 150/.

45

22

10

20
48

9

10

10

16

12

13

13

19

oo O

10

77
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Shovel and spade 10/. five old hogsheads 7/. one

sleigh 45/. dutch fann 8o/. 7
Black horse 240/. bay mare 150/. white back cow

120/. 25
To quantity of hay 300/. To sorrel horse 150/.

brown Do. 240/. 19
Yoke of oxen 340/. brindle cow 120/, rid pide

Do. 110/. 28
Red Do. 100/. 2 corn harrows 15/. 5
Negro Jonas £85 Negro boy Moses £85 170
Negro woman Hannah and child £50. Negro Nancy

£22. 10, 72
Negro boy Isaac £27.10. Negro girl Pol £35 62
Negro girl Sal £30 Old riting Desk 1/. 30
Large sow & six shotes 140/. two guine pigs 40/. 9
Wheel barrow 5/. To pair of fat oxen £28. 15. 29
To tea and glass ware in the corner cupboard I
Silver cream Jug § large silver spoons and tea Do. 10

Pair wool cards 2/6. Sundry crockery ware 15/.

To sundry Puter and tin ware 15/. some lard
26/6.

One iron Pot and dutch Oven 35/. churn 3/o.

Chest safe and bake tray 15/. brass mortar and old
coffee pot 10/. I

Griddle 7/6. sundry crockery in kitchen 2/6.

Iron tea kettle 5/. pails and tubs 7/6. Knives and

- O

forkes 10/. I
Reing seive 1/. silver wash knives and forks old
7/6.
Frying pan 3/9. three brass candlesticks 11/3.
4231 bushels corn at 4/ pr bushel 84
152} bushels wheat at 17/2 130

35 acres and one fourth of wheat at 52/6 pr acre 92
Clover sive 10/. Sheep shears 1/. half bushel
measure g/. I

2
10
10
10

15

10
10

10
10

17 11
10 7%
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2 Vollumes Varlos husbandry 10/. 10
Fowling Peice 4 10
75 bushels barley at 7/4 pr bushel 27 10
Returned in the Register’s office this sixth day of April 1796
by me Benj. S. Caulk, admr. James Thomas
Benj. Merritt

ADMINISTRATOR'S STATEMENT OF PROCEEDS OF PRIVATE SALE.

A List of sales of the goods and Chattles of Thomas McDon-
ough Esq’r, Dec'd.

£ s d
To his Wearing appearel kept by J. McD 23 § O
his gold watch 350/. small sword go/. 22 o
One feather bead kept by ad'r, £20 20 0 O
One Rideing Chair sold by ad’r, £40 40 o0 o
One Horse and sulky £37 37 o0 o
One Negro man Jonas £85, one Do. Moses £ 101, 101
One Negro Hannah £ 35, Do. Nance £22. 10 57 10
One Do Mary .£30, One Do boy Isaac £28 s8 o o
To silver ware kept by Hannah and Mary McD 10 10
4231 Bushels of Corn at 4/ pr bs 84 13
1524 Bushels of Wheat at 17/2 130 17 II
One field of Wheat £105 105
75 Bushels of Barley at 7/4 27 10 O
To a quantity of Pork amt 39 7 6
756 13 5
To the Amt of Publick sale and Including a firelock 282 5 of
1038 19 2%

The appraisement of the Estate is 1057 4 of

The Difference is 18 4 10
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N.B. The Above Articles Amounting to £756. 13. 5§ was sold
at private sale Excepting some Negroes, Rideing Chairs &c.
&c.

AUTHORITIES,

Family Records.

Whiteley’s “ Revolutionary Soldiers of Delaware,” 10, 11, 12,
13, 17.

History of the Delaware State Society of the Cincinnati, by
Capt. H. H. Bellas, U. S. A. (Historical Society of Delaware
pub.), 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 72, 74.

Records of the Record and Pension Office, War Department,
Washington, D. C.

Heitman’s Historical Register of Officers of the Continental
Army, 276.

Garden’s “ Anecdotes of the American Revolution,” 180.

Minutes of the Council of the Delaware State, 1776-1792.

Foot’s “Old Drawyers Church, Delaware ” (reprint, 1898), 48.

Records of St. Ann’s Church, Middletown, Del.

Records of the State Department, Dover, Del.

Records of the Office of Register of Wills, Wilmington, Del.

Records of the Office of Recorder of Deeds, Wilmington, Del.

Records of Orphans’ Court, Wilmington, Del.

Bancroft’s History of the United States (Little, Brown & Co.,
1875), IX, 88, 89, 93, 94, 96, 103, 178.

American Archives, Fourth Series, III, 689; V, 431, 838, 1173 ;.
VI, 949. Fifth Series, I, 11, 151, 170, 482, 739, 741, 783,
786, 833, 964, 1245; 11, 449, 840, 882, 898; III, 499, 653,
I401.

Diary of Capt. Thomas Rodney (Historical Society of Delaware
pub.), 33, 34.




NATHANIEL SHALER. 81

NATHANIEL SHALER.

5. August 11, 1747.
m. June 2, 1787.
d. July 2, 1817.

NATHANIEL SHALER, son of Reuben and Abigail (Stow) Shaler,
was born in Middletown, Connecticut, August 11, 1747. His
early years were spent in Middletown, where he received the
training which fitted him for an active business career in after
life,

As Middletown was his home, and as he spent practically his
entire life there, the writer hoped the town records would contain
considerable information concerning him, but in this he was dis-
appointed. His name is mentioned only twice and then in con-
nection with unimportant matters.

On April g, 1770, the board of Selectmen subscribed to the
following statement : —

These are to Certify that Ebenezer Sumner, Jedediah Johnson, Isaac Wood-
ward, Ichabod Miller, Junr, Wm. Wood, Junr, Asael Camp, Edward Collins
Whitmore, Samuel Ward Junr, Asael Johnson, Edward Rockwell & Nathaniel
Shaler are Persons that are of the Age of Twenty One years and have a freehold
Estate of Forty Shillings, or Forty Pounds on Poles & Rateable Estate; and
are Persons of Civil & Peaceable Conversation, as the law directs, in order to
be made free of this Corporation.

In May, 1774, Return Jonathan Meigs, of Middletown, and
some others, all members of the second company of what was
then the sixth regiment, petitioned the General Assembly,
“shewing,” according to the minutes of that body, “that they
with others have formed themselves into an artillery, and have
with great pains and expence for two years past endeavoured to
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advance and improve themselves in military skill and exercises,
and praying that they might be made a distinct military company
&c., as per memorial on file.”

The Assembly granted their petition and authorized them to
elect officers for the light infantry company, as it was officially
designated, the election of its officers to be subject to confirma-
tion by the General Assembly as was customary. In the journal
of the Assembly for October, 1774, there is this entry : —

This Assembly do establish Nathaniel Shayler to be Lieutenant of the com-
pany of light infantry in the 6th regiment in this Colony.

As the original petition mentioned above has not been pre-
served, it is impossible to say whether or not Nathaniel Shaler
was one of the signers. As he was prominent enough to have
been elected lieutenant of the company he probably did sign it.
It is also a natural inference that if he was elected lieutenant it
was because he was one of those who, for two years, had been
trying to perfect themselves in the school of the soldier. His
military experience, then, seems to have begun in or before 1772.
At that time he was twenty-five years old, and the military regu-
lations of the colony required “All Male Persons from sixteen
Years of Age to Forty-five, to bear Arms, excepting civil and
ecclesiastical Officers: The Train-bands in each Town, to attend
four Days in a Year, for Instruction in Military Discipline.”

Return Jonathan Meigs had been elected captain of the com-
pany on its organization, but he being assigned subsequently to
another command the records of the General Assembly say in
May, 1776,

This Assembly do establish Nathaniel Shaylor to be Captain of the light
infantry company in the town of Midletown.

By this time the Revolution was a year old, and although some
of the Connecticut troops had been called into active service
Nathaniel Shaler and his company had not been ordered out. In
August, 1776, however, the regiment to which the light infantry
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company was attached was ordered to New York to reinforce
General Washington. Then it was that our ancestor’s loyalty to
King George got the better of him and he refused to stir a step.
He was arrested and taken before the General Assembly at Hart-
ford. After a trial that body deprived him of his rank and com-
mand, debarred him from holding any civil or military position
thereafter and sentenced him to pay the cost of the trial, ten
pounds and four shillings. His case was not an isolated one,
however, for there were many others in Connecticut who, when
the time came for actual service, declined to bear arms against
the king.

Soon after his refusal to march to New York he gathered to-
gether his movable possessions, placed them and himself on board
a ship and left the country in order to escape any further un-
pleasant consequences which might result from his Tory senti-
ments.

On November 17, 1787, he wrote to his friend Gold Silleck
Silliman from New York,

In the winter of 1777 I sailed in a Brigg from Brantford bound for St.
Croix, but to my very great misfortune was taken and carried into St. Christo-
pher and my property in her lost and I did not return to my native place,
Middletown, until the fall of 1783, when I stayed but a few days and have not
from the time I left it in 1777 pretended to miake it my place of residence.
Until August 1785 I hardly called on any person whatever among my numerous
debtors for any kind of settlement. In that year I stayed about six weeks in
Middletown on that business.

From this letter it would seem that he did not return to this
country from the West Indies until the end of the Revolution in
1783. He then took up his residence in New York and entered
into a business partnership with Jacob Sebor and Frederick
William Geyser. To the latter he writes in 1783,

If 1 should furnish a list of articles likely to be consumed in the Spring
market in New York it would be very imperfect indeed, from my not having
been in business for some time past.
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In December, 1783, he writes,

There is a good deal of uneasiness throughout the States in consequence of
the prohibition of our trade in the British West Indies.

From 1783 to 1790 he was in New York. During the latter
year he returned to Middletown with his wife and took up his
residence in the old Shaler house where his mother was still
living. There he remained until his death in 1817.

Among the principal industries of Middletown at this time
were the shad and salmon fisheries. Salmon were taken in great
quantities, while shad were the less plentiful and more valuable
fish. The abundance of the former may be imagined from a
clause in an indenture binding a boy as apprentice to Mr. Shaler
in which it is expressly stipulated that the boy shall not be com-
pelled to eat salmon oftener than twice a week. The writer has
often heard his mother say that even in her father’s time fish
dealers in Middletown usually insisted that those who purchased
a shad should buy a salmon also.

On November 30, 1791, Mr. Shaler bought of Zachariah Hos-
mer for £8: 10 the one-eighth part of a fishing place on Cone's
meadow at Maromas. On
November 11, 1793, he with
twelve others subscribed to J
an agreement concerning
certain fishing privileges.

On February g, 1805, he Signature to a business paper, 1784.
bought of Tabitha Johnson

for $120 “the onefourth part of a Fishing place on Cone’s
Meadow so called in Maromas in said Middletown, together with
the onefourth part of the Boats, Oars, Nets &c belonging
thereto.” On May 30, 1807, he bought of Samuel Morse and his
wife for $120 the one-fourth part of the same fishing place and on
April 27, 1811, he bought of Joseph Coe for £19: 10 another
one-eighth part.

Mr. Shaler owned considerable property in and about Middle-
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town in addition to the Shaler homestead. August 17, 1784, he
and Mary Alsop bought jointly from Isaiah Morton for £41:15:3
thirteen acres of land in Westfield. May 16, 1785, he and Mary
Alsop sold this property to Andrew Norton for £44:10. Sep-
tember 6, 1787, he bought of the estate of Eliot Rawson for £70
a piece of land in Middletown measuring 20 rods and 23 links
east and west and 10 rods north and south, adjoining his own
property on the west. He is described in the deed as being “of
the City & State of New York.” May 1, 1790, he leased for g9
years from William Miller and William Miller, Jr., a mill site in
Middletown for “ Ten Spanish Milled Dollars’ a year. May 26,
1791, he bought of Lydia Hosmer for £54 four acres of land in
the “ Long Meadow.” August 19, 1791, he sold this property to
Captain Zebulon Stow for £75o0.

December 17, 1792, he asked and was granted permission to
build a store on land at Chatham belonging to the town of
Middletown. October 1, 1793, he bought of Ashbel Burnham
for £200 forty-two rods of land in Middletown lying on the river
bank and containing a store and wharf, both of which were known
for a long time as the “Shaler store” and * Shaler wharf.”
August 12, 1795, he bought of William Cleaver for £3 three rods
of land in Middletown lying along the river. September 29,
1802, he bought of William Miller for $150 a one-half interest in
the “ Fall Mills ” at Middlefield. December 22, 1804, he bought
of Tabitha Johnson for £460 a certain piece of land in Middle-
town. May 21, 1813, he sold to Nathan Starr for g1200 two
acres of land on High street. After Mr. Shaler’s death a portion
of the Main street property, measuring 82 feet on that street and
82 feet deep, was sold by his executors in the latter part of 1818
for $3000 to Commodore Thomas Macdonough who erected a
handsome house thereon for his own use.

Mr. Shaler and Mary Alsop owned land jointly in addition to
that already mentioned, for in the “Records of the State of
Connecticut” under date of October 17, 1777, there is this
entry : —
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Voted, That Jobn Hamlin and Titus Hosmer, Esqrs, be and they are hereby
appointed to treat with Mrs. Mary Alsop and Mr. Nathaniel Shaler upon the
terms on which they will sell or lease the gin still-house and works belonging to
them in Chatham, and receive their answer and lay the same before this Board.

Mr. Shaler was one of the early members of Holy Trinity
Church, or Christ Church, as it was first called. In 1768 he con-
tributed 4§ toward the purchase of glebe property consisting of
an acre of land containing a dwelling house and other buildings
and situated on the south-west corner of Church and South Main
streets. The glebe land and buildings were sold to Thomas
Mather in 1809 and Mr. Shaler, Arthur Magill and William C.
Hall were appointed a committee by the parish to receive the
money and to dispos¢ of it as directed. In 1777 he was junior
warden and from 1803 to 1807 and in 1810 he was senior warden.

Curiously enough the only description we have of Mr. Shaler is
left us by John Adams, second President of the United States.
In June, 1771, Mr. Adams visited Middletown and stayed at the
house of Mrs. Shaler, Nathaniel's mother. Mr. Adams met the
young man and gives this description of him in his diary : —

Landlady has an only son, Nat. Shaler, and she is very fond and very proud
of him. He lives with a merchant; is now twenty-five or twenty-six and con-
tents himself still to keep that merchant’s books without any inclination to set
up for himself; is a great proficient in music, plays upon the flute, fife, harpsi-
chord, spinet, &c; associates with the young and the gay, and is a very fine
Connecticut young gentleman.

A violin once used by Mr. Shaler is now in possession of Eliza-
beth Johnson, his grand-daughter. One of the rewards held out
to his children for being good was the privilege of remaining in
church after the Sunday service and hearing their father play
upon the organ. Beside being very musical Mr. Shaler was also
fond of books and delighted in reading Shakespeare aloud to his
family in the evening. On these occasions a colored boy named
Lewis, one of the household, was allowed to bring in his stool and
listen to the varying fortunes of Othello, Romeo or Hamlet, as the
case might be.
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For many years there stood in front of the Shaler house two
large tulip trees. These Mr. Shaler brought from the woods and
planted himself. Beautiful as they no doubt appeared in the
spring of the year, their recurrent blooming had a peculiar signifi-
cance for their Tory owner, for he had chosen and transplanted
them because they blossomed on King George’s birthday.

In spite of his Tory sentiments Mr. Shaler was greatly es-
teemed and highly respected all his life. He had a highly culti-
vated mind and genial disposition and was extremely popular.
Early in 1774 — February 24, to be exact—he and a few others
formed themselves into what they called the * Friendly Society,”
the object of which, as set forth in the constitution of the society,
was “for the purpose of promotirig Sociability, Good Humor and
innocent Cheerfulness.” The first President of the society was
Captain Samuel Willis, Jr., and the first Vice-President was
Nathaniel Shaler. On June 16, 1774, he was elected President
and held that office until the society was broken up a year or two
later by the Revolution.

The following verses composed by Mr. Shaler were probably
written with the “ Friendly Society ” in mind : —

We went to old Tuckem’s some beer for to get,
Where with our companions we usually met.
We used to sing songs and tell a good tale,
And crown up the night with a pot of good ale.

When sitting one night, the clock had struck ten,
« Here, boy, take the pot and fill it again,”

When in came old Tuckem and began very queer,
“I’ll not be imposed on; I'll draw no more beer.”

Then up starts “ Boy Billy ” who seemed in a pet,
Crying “ Hark ye, old Tuckem, we will not go yet.
Let ’s have t’ other two pots and then we’ll be gone.”
Says Tuckem, “ By Jupiter! you shall have none.
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It’s past ten o’clock, the hour you well know;
Gentlemen all, I pray you to go.

And if at my house you no more should call,
I don't value your money or custom at all.”

“Don’t value,” says Billy, “and who says you do;
And hark ye, old Tuckem, pray who values you?

It is not for you or the sake of your beer

But to meet our companions that brings us all here.”

Old Tuckem began to fling and to flout,

And like an old bear he grumbled about.

He grumbled about as he ’d oft done before,
Then took up the candle and showed us the door.

So then we agreed, like good sober sots,

To go to friend Jacob’s for t’ other two pots.

Where the beer being good and the host being civil,
We said that old Tuckem might go to the devil.

The line “It’s past ten o’clock, the hour you well know,” is no
doubt an allusion to the by-law which provided that the meetings
should adjourn at that hour, and the “friend Jacob” mentioned
was Jacob Sebor, a member of the society.

Mr. Shaler was twice married. His first wife was Hannabh,
daughter of Rowland Allen of Middletown, whom he married
November 3, 1773. She died July 24, 1775, leaving one child,
Abigail, who was born August 24, 1774, and died October 17,
1775. His second wife was Lucretia Ann, daughter of William
and Sarah (Hawxhurst) Denning, born May 26, 1766. According
to a newspaper notice of the day and the records of Trinity
Parish, the marriage took place in New York Saturday evening,
June 2, 1787, the Reverend Mr. Beach officiating.

As Mr. Denning was a staunch Whig and Mr. Shaler a Tory,
it would not have been strange if there had been some opposition
to the marriage on the part of the former, especially as it took
place so soon after the Revolution, when the bitter feelings
engendered by the war could not have subsided to any great
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extent. Mr. Shaler’s estimable qualities, however, and the fact
that his sentiments had not led him to take an active part in the
Revolution, no doubt removed whatever opposition or objection
there may have been on Mr. Denning’s part, and the latter’s
letters to his daughter after her marriage, many of which are still
preserved, evince the keenest interest in her wellfare and happi-
ness and contain many expressions of respect and esteem for her
husband.

Mrs. Shaler was tall, slender and a woman of a great deal of
dignity. She expected and always received a degree of defer-
ence not always shown in these days, and was held in consider-
able awe by the younger members of the family. The writer’s
father often said that he never dared to remain covered or seated
in his grandmother’s presence.

Mr. Shaler died July 2, 1817, and was buried in the old River-
side cemetery at Middletown. As he died intestate, his wife and
Mr. Chauncey Whittlesey were appointed administrators of his
estate July 16, 1817. Mrs. Shaler died June 9, 1843, and was
buried by her husband’s side.

Their children were : —

1, William Sherbrooke, born in New York city March 17, 1788 ;
died August 19, 1793.

2. Charles, born in New York city February 28, 1789; married
first Miss Kirkpatrick and had issue; married second Mary
Ann Riddle and had issue ; died March 5, 1869.

3. Lucy Ann, born in New York city February 10, 1790; mar-
ried Commodore Thomas Macdonough, U. S. N., December
12, 1812, and had issue; died August g, 1825.

4. Edward, born in Middletown, Conn., October 5, 1792; died
August 13, 1793.

5. Egbert, born in Middletown, Conn., March 8, 1794 ; married
and had issue ; died June, 1823.

6. Augusta, born in Middletown, Conn., October 26, 1796 ; mar-
ried Reverend Edward Rutledge and had issue ; died August
16, 1858,
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7. William Denning, born in Middletown, Conn., February 1,
1799 ; married Jane Todd and had no issue; died May 18,
1842.

8. Charlotte, born in Middletown, Conn., October 14, 1800; mar-
ried Edwin Ferry Johnson September 7, 1830, and had
issue; died May 19, 1883.

9. Louisa, born in Middletown, Conn., January 27, 1804 ; married
Lieut. H. B. Sawyer, U. S. N,, and had no issue; died
December 15, 1828.

10. Amelia, born in Middletown, Conn., July 7, 1806; married
Charles Ogden and had no issue; died December 7, 1831.

The list of names and the dates of births and deaths are taken
from Mr. Shaler's bible. Following the names are these two
notes, the first written by his wife and the second by Charlotte
(Shaler) Johnson: —

The writer of the above record, Nathaniel Shaler, the tender Husband, the
affectionate parent, the faithful friend, departed this life July 2, 1817, in the
seventieth year of his age, leaving an unblemished reputation and in the hearts
of his bereaved family a sorrow only to be soothed by the Almighty hand that
inflicted the wound. It now only remains that when it shall please God to call
an attached wife to the kindest, best of husbands that this record should be
closed by any one of our surviving children in whose hands it may devolve.

As the last remaining of the children that survived my dear Mother it becomes
my duty to record her peaceful departure which took place on the ninth of June,

1843, at the age of seventy-seven years.
3 Charlotte Johnson.

INVENTORY.

Inventory of the Real and Personal Estate of Mr. Nathaniel
Shaler, dec’d, taken and appraised by us the subscribers under
Oath the 20th of October 1817.

The Mansion House with One half of the Home lot
Barn and other buildings $4800.00




NATHANIEL SHALER.

Other half of the Home Lot
About one half acre of land in Court St.

Lot in Main St 750. Store & Wharf at the River

1000

Lot of land in Newfield St containing abt 10 acres

Mill Seat in Middlefield including the Building Mill
Stones & Machinery

Fish Place at Middle Haddam Pier 350. ditto. do
150

One half the Quarry in Chatham, including the Build-
ings & Land Supposed to be about 50 acres adjoin-
ing thereto, with 5 yoke of Oxen, all the Tools
and apparatus belonging to the same

One Pianno Forte 100. 1 Sofa with Cover 25

One Scotch Carpet 33 yds.

2 Mahogany Card Tables 12. 12 chairs 24. 1 Look-
ing Glass 20.

I pr Brass And Irons 7. 1 pr Shovel & tongs 2

1 pr plated Candle Sticks 3. 5 Flower pots 2

9 chairs 11.25 1 dining Table (cherry) wh 2 ends 7.

I pr Shovel & tongs & 1 pr And Irons 54 1

2 pr Short plated Candlesticks 2. 2 Lamps 1. 3 doz
China Cups & Saucers 6. 4 Tea Waiters 4

2 Metal Tea pots 5. 1 pr Snuffers & Tray .75 1
plated Sugar & 1 Milk Pot 3.

I small carpet 7. 1 plated Canister damag’'d 4. 1
plated Coffee pot 4. 1 soup spoon .50

1 doz Silver Tahle Spoons 12. 1% doz tea do 5. 3
doz Wine Porter & Glass Tumblers 6

2 Qt Decanters 2. 4 pint do 2. 1 carpet including
the one in the entry 34 ‘

1 Mahogany Side Board 12. 1 Setle wh 5 chairs 10.
1 pr And Irons with Shovel and tongs 8

1 Glass Lantern 1. 1 Small do. .75 1 pr Jappand
Candlesticks & Snuffers 1.

91

$3000.00
g00.00

1750.00
650.00

450.00

500.00

25000.00
125.00
30.00
§6.00
9.00
5.00
18.25
6.00
13.00
8.75
15.50
23.00

38.00

30.00

2.75
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3 Candlesticks & 1 pr Snuffers 1. 1 Table 150 1
Round Table 1.50 1 Tin pale & dipr.7s

I Small Feather Bead & Bed Stead 8. Washg Bason
.20

Part Set Liverpool Ware

2 Iron pots 5. 3 pr Sad Irons 2.50 2 Iron Baking
Kittles 2

1 Skillet

1 Small dish .34 2 Coffee Mills 1.50

3 pr And Irons wh 3 pr Shovel and Tongs 3

1 Tosting Iron .75 2 pr Steel Yards 1.50 1 corn
waster .50 I spider .25

3 Grind Stones 1.75 1 Frying pan .50

3 Trammels & Chocks 2. 1 Waffle Iron 1.

2 Brass Kettles & 1 smaller do 12. 2 do chafing
dishes 1.

1 Fish Kettle

I pr Brass Scales & Weights 2.50 2 Copper Tea
Kettles 3.50

2 doz knives & forkes 2.50

3 tin Milk pans .75 2 do Keelers 1. 1 Copper Boiler
6

1 Oven 1. Sauce pan .15

3 Coffee Pots .75 1 Bread pan 1.50 1 Gridole .75

15 Cake pans .50 3 doz Small do 1.50

2 dish covers .50 1 Bread roster .25 2 tin cups .12

I Cullender .30 3 buckets .34 2 Tubs 2

6 Kitchen Chairs .60 2 Baskets .50 1 Voider .15

I cherry tree & 1 long Table 2

I Scotch carpet 9. 1 stair do 2. 3 pine Wash Stands
2.25

3 pine tables 1.50

6 Bowls & pitchers 6. 1 Beauro 5. 1 Mahogany
Bureau and one do Desk 15

I small cherry tree do 1.50 4 Feather Beds 50.

$4.75

8.20
15.00

9.50
.25
1.84

3.00

3.00
2.25
3.00

13.00
2.50

6.00
2.50

7-75
I.1§
3.00
2.00

.87
2.64
1.25
2.00

13.25
I1.50

26.00
51.50
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2 Mattrasses 16

10 pr Sheets 20. 10 pillow cases 3. 7 pr Blankets
17.50

2 Mahogany Beadsteads 1§

4 Wood do

1 Cloths Press

10 Mahogany chrs 1

12 Windsor do

1 Looking glass

1 Small do

4 Large Pewter Plates

4 do

1 Looking Glass

1 Case drawers

1 Entry Lamp

1 Cow

1 Sleigh & Harness

1 Gig & Harness

1 Saddle

I Sulkey & Do

25 old tierces & cask

. 1 Scale Beam

1 Wooden Mortar

3 56 1b Weights

1 28 Do and 1 14 1b Weight Do

1 Hewn Stone 16 feet 3. 1 Grind Stone r1.50. 1
Wheat Screen 7

1 Bolting Machine

1 Keg ic Spanish Brown 1. 1 Tea Kittle & Pot 1.10

2 Dish Kittles 1. 9 Box Sad Irons 2.25

5 Jarrs .40 Whale Bone .50 1 Box Corks 1 old

Iron 1 Iron Stove & Pipes

1 Iron Wt 28 Ib

1 Old case with 4 Bottles .34 I writing desk 8

1 Table

93

$16.00

40.50
15.00
5.00
20.00
10.00
6.00
5.00
1.50
1.00
.68
10.00
1.00
3.00
25.00
12.00
80.00
2.00
20.00
6.25
3.00
.50
7.50
1.87

11.50
1.00
2.10

3.25

15.90
1.2§

8.34
2.50
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1 Large Mortar broken. Do part of an organ and Do

frame table & ps Wood $1.50
r Mill for grinding Malt 4.00
$37962.09

In the Store

8 Tierces damaged Yellow Snuff. 20 bbls do in small bottles.
11 Small Keggs do. 2 Boxes do. 7 Sacks damaged. Stems of
Tobacco. part of a tierce do. do. do. do. 1 old Copper Still
1 Pewter Worm. 5§ Tierces damaged Juniper Berries. 1 do do
Tobacco. 2 Shares Washington Hotel.

Jacob Sebor
Allyn Southmayd } Appraisers
Samuel Gill under oath

Accepted in Court 27th Dec 1817.

AUTHORITIES.
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Records of the State of Connecticut, I, 451.
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LODOWICK HACKSTAFF.

b. 1757.
m. 1787.
d. February 1, 1825.

Lopowick HACksTAFF, son of Ludwig Albertus and Anna
Elisabetha (Weid) Herkersdorf, was born on Long Island in 1757,
probably at either Setauket or Stony Brook, Suffolk County, where
family tradition places his father on his arrival in this country.
There is a discrepancy as to the date of his birth between the
records of the Health Department of the city of New York and
the newspaper notice of his death. The former! states that he
died February 1, 1825, aged 69, which would make the year of his
birth 1756. The latter ? says he was in his 6gth year when he
died, indicating that he was born in 1757. As the latter date cor-
responds with the family records on this point the writer has
accepted it as correct.

Some time before 1788 he left Long Island and went to Sing
Sing, Westchester county, New York, where he married in 1787
Anne, daughter of William and Sarah (Saxton) Hallock, born
March 30, 1768. The marriage was performed by ¢ Squire”
Sherrod, a Justice of the Peace. Sing Sing, or Ossining as it was
originally called, was, in those days, a part of the town of Mount
Pleasant and did not enjoy a separate existence until its incor-

1 Transcript from record of deaths reported to the Department of Health, City of New
York.

“ Lodowick Hackstaff. Date of death, Feb. 1, 1825. Age, 69 years. Color, white. Birth-
place, Long Island. Place of death, 45 White Street. Direct cause of death, fever, Place of
burial, Dutch Reformed Cemetery, Green Street. Undertaker, A. Brown,”

3 From the New York American, February g, 1835,
“ Died. Last evening Capt, Lodowick Hackstaff in the 6g9th year of his age.”
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poration as a village in 1813. This accounts for Lodowick
Hackstaff being described, as will appear later, as an inhabi-
tant of Mount Pleasant. Unfortunately the Mount Pleasant
town records, which might have contained considerable interest-
ing information concerning him, do not go back very far. The
only item of interest that can be found is a “ List of free-holders
liable to do service on highways in Mt. Pleasant for the year 1799,”
in which “ Lodowick Hagstaff "’ is mentioned as living in Moses
Ward’s district, which included Sing Sing.

It was thought likely that the records of the Dutch Reformed
Church would contain some information, but an examination by
Mr. D. Van Tassel of Tarrytown, an authority on genealogical
matters concerning Mount Pleasant, failed to discover any mention
of the family. Mr. Van Tassel writes that after 1786 the inhabi-
tants of Sing Sing worshipped in the Presbyterian Church, but
that an examination by him of its records was also without result.

In 1800 he began to make arrangements to remove his family
to New York city with the twofold object in view, no doubt, of
bettering his own fortunes and securing more advantages for his
children, of whom he then had five, than a small place like Mount
Pleasant or Sing Sing could provide. On November 7, 1800, he
took over from Lawrence Moore and his wife Jane for $§937.50 the
unexpired lease of a house and lot on the north side of Duane
street, near Greenwich street, New York. In the agreement
Lodowick Hackstaff is described as being “of Mount Pleasant in
the County of Westchester.”” On March 18, 1801, he bought
from Garret Van Horn for $750 the property he had leased the
year before. In the deed he is mentioned as still living in West-
chester county.

In the latter part of 1801 he took his family to New York and
settled in the Duane street house, then numbered 16. On Janu-
ary 9, 1804, he bought from Isaac Coddington for £610 a lot on
the east side of Hudson street, and on January 12 of the same
year he bought, also from Isaac Coddington, for £645 another lot
on Hudson street adjoining his purchase of January 9. On Feb-
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ruary 2, 1806, he bought from Trinity Church for $800 a lot, num-
ber 39 Brannon street, being a portion of what was commonly
known as the “Church farm.” On February 22 of the same year
he bought, also from Trinity Church, for $2350 a lot on the north
side of Warren street which he sold June 30, 1817, to James
Bogert, Jr., for $4000. .

On February 24, 1807, he bought from Daniel Ensley for
$1087.50 a lot on White street numbered 45. He built a house
upon it and moved his family there in 1808 from 16 Duane street.
On September 15, 1807, he bought from Lawrence Moore for
#1700 the property on the east side of Church street numbered
201, and, according to the directory, lived there from 1816 to 1820,
five years, going back to 45 White street in 1821 and living there
until his death.

In the lease agreement of November 7, 1800, and in the deeds
of March 18, 1801, and January 9, 1804, he is called a “ Mariner.”
In the deed of February 24, 1807, he is described as a “lumber
merchant.” In the New York directories he is variously desig-
nated as “captain’ (in 1802), “boatman” and “lumber mer-
chant.” In his will he calls himself a *“ Boatman & Lumber Mer-
chant.” The writer infers from these appellations that while
living in Sing Sing! he must have become interested in river
navigation ; that, as he was styled “captain” in 1802, he was at
that time in command of or owned some vessel or vessels trading
up and down the Hudson River; that he continued this calling
after going to New York and that between 1804 and 1807 he
added to it the business of a lumber merchant.

Were the records in the custom house at New York in a con-
dition to be examined, considerable information could no doubt be
secured from them concerning him. All the writer could find,
however, was a single item to the effect that on August 19, 1803,
Lodowick Hackstaff, captain and owner of the sloop Willsam, a

14 At an early period,” writes the Reverend Robert Bolton in his History of Westchester
County, N. Y., “ Sing Sing appears to have been a favorite landing place for shipping the
various marketable produce raised in the interior.”
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coasting vessel of 79 tons, paid £5.76 license fee based on the
tonnage for twelve months at six cents per ton per annum.

There is in possession of one of his descendants a little book
entitled “ Washington’s Legacy.” It contains Washington'’s fare-
well address of September 17, 1796, and was printed for the
Washington Benevolent Society of New York in 1808. On the
page following the title page there is the inscription, “ This cer-
tifies that Lodowick Hackstaff has been regularly admitted a
member of the Washington Benevolent Society, instituted in the
City of New-York, on the 12th day of July, 1808. New-York,
March 1809. Isaac Sebring, President. G.C. Verplank, Secretary.”

L]
1Sig: to the Brookh (Long Island) Association, August 14, 1775,

Lodowick Hackstaff was something of a Tory. On April 29,
1775, the “ Freemen, Freeholders, and Inhabitants of the City and
County of New-York' adopted what they called a “General
Association,” 2 which were sent to each County in the Province

1 Although he signed his name as above in 1775, that form of the name has been adhered to
in this article which various records show was uniformly used after 1799.

2 Persuaded that the salvation of the rights and liberties of America depends, under God,
on the firm union of its inhabitants in a vigorous prosecution of the measures necessary for
its safety, and convinced of the necessity of preventing the anarchy and confusion which
attends the dissolution of the power of Government, we, the Freemen, Freeholders, and In-
habitants of [ ] being greatly alarmed at the avowed design of the Ministry
to raise a revenue in America, and shocked by the bloody scene now acting in the Massa~
chusetts-Bay, do, in the most solemn manner, resolve never to become slaves ; and do associate
under all the ties of religion, honour, and love to our Country, to adopt and endeavor to carry
into execution whatever measures may be recommended by the Continental Congress, or
resolved upon by our Provincial Convention, for the purpose of preserving our Constitution,
and opposing the execution of the several arbitrary and oppressive Acts of the British Parlia-
ment, until a reconciliation between Great Britain and America, on constitutional principles,
(which we most ardently desire,) can be obtained; and that we will in all things follow the
advice of our General Committee respecting the purposes aforesaid, the preservation of peace
and good order, and the safety of individuals and private property.”
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to be signed. The necessary and intended result was to compel
every man to declare himself in favor of or against the principles
upheld by the colonies. The Association was circulated in Suffolk
County in May and Lodowick Hackstaff declined to sign it. On
May 17 he also declined to join with the First Company of Brook-
haven militia, of which he was a member, in electing a delegate to
the Provincial Congress at New York. His name also appears in
«“A List of the names of such as have not signed the Association
within the limits of the First Company of Militia for Brookhaven ”
dated August 3, 1775. Within a few days, however, the follow-
ing letter was addressed to the president of the Provincial
Congress : —

BROOKHAVEN, August 17, 1775.

These few lines are to inform you, that at a meeting of a considerable number
of the inhabitants of the Town of Brookhaven, on the 14th of this instant, after
a mature consideration of the bad consequences of their remaining in opposition
to the measures pursued by the Continental Congress, they did unanimously
agree to sign the General Association, and accordingly they did sign the same,
whose names we have here sent you, annexed to the Association; and also a
list of the names of those who refused to sign the Association this time, whose
names were not returned in the lists of associates and non-associates before.

RICHARD WOODHULL g Committee-Men.
SAMUEL THOMPSON

COLONEL NATHANIEL WOODHULL.

In the list of signers which accompanied this letter is the name
“ Ludewick Hacstaff Junior.”

The foregoing information, which the writer has only just found,
enables us to determine within a few months the date of his
removal to Sing Sing, N. Y. He signed the Association August
14, 1775. In July, 1776, a census of Suffolk County was taken in
which his father’s name appeared as an inhabitant of Brookhaven
with the information that there was no male member in his family
over or under sixteen years of age except himself. Lodowick
must have left Brookhaven, therefore, before July, 1776, and after

August 14, 1775.
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Lodowick Hackstaff died at 45 White street, New York, Feb-
ruary I, 1825, and was buried in the Dutch Reformed cemetery on
Green street. His wife remained in their home until 1832, when
she went to Brooklyn, where she died in August, 1840.

Their children were : —

1. Elizabeth, born in Sing Sing, N. Y., May 3, 1788 ; married first
Mahlon Bennett April 21, 1806, and had issue; married sec-
ond before January 21, 1825, Amos Coles and had issue ; died
December 23, 1858.

2. Sarah, born in Sing Sing, N. Y., June 21, 1790 ; married before
January 21, 1825, William Braisted Hyer and had issue; died
after January 21, 1825.

3. Clara, born in Sing Sing, N. Y., July 1, 1792 ; married Daniel
‘Wolcott Crocker and had issue; died May 21, 1821.

4 William G., born in Sing Sing, N. Y., April 14, 1795 ; married
Anna, daughter of Andrew Sheffield and Elizabeth (Sinclair)
Garr, August 26, 1831, and had issue; died November 16,
1869.

5. Charlotte, born in Sing Sing, N. Y., November 19, 1798 ; mar-
ried George Abbe and had issue ; died after January 21, 1825.

6. Anne, born in New York city October 18, 1801 ; died May
5, 1805.

7. Charles Lodowick, born in New York city January 16, 1804 ;
married Ann ( ) and had no issue; died at sea 1827. Let-
ters of administration were granted February 7, 1832, to
« Ann Hackstaff, the Widow of Charles L. Hackstaff, late
of the City of New York, deceased.”

WILL.

In the Name of God Amen!

I, Lodowick Hackstaff, of the City of New York, Boatman &
Lumber Merchant, being far advanced in life and apprehending
my speedy dissolution do therefore make this my last Will and
Testament in manner following, viz :




ANNE (HALLoCK) HACKSTAFF.
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In order to provide and secure a comfortable maintenance and
support for my dear and beloved wife Anne my will is & I hereby
give, devise and bequeath unto her all my estate, real and personal
whereof I may be possessed at the time of my death to hold my
personal estate including a bond and mortgage to me by Jackson
Haines for four thousand dollars forever and to hold my real estate
for and during her natural life and after the death of my said wife
my will is and I give, devise and bequeath my said real estate,
which consists of houses and lands in the City of New York, to
my children William G. Hackstaff and Charles L. Hackstaff to
hold to them their heirs and assigns in fee simple forever; and if
either my said children to whom I have devised my said real
estate after the death of my wife shall happen to die without issue
before the death of my said wife my will is and I hereby declare
that the share and proportion of the one so dying without issue
shall go to the survivor and that if both my said sons shall die
without issue before the death of my wife that then my said real
estate shall go to and be equally divided between the children of
my daughters Clara Crocker, Elizabeth Coles and Sarah Hyer,
share and share alike. And my will further is and I hereby give,
devise and bequeath unto my daughter Charlotte One thousand
dollars to be paid to her as soon after my death as may be con-
venient to my wife upon the same being demanded by her, which
sum of One thousand dollars devised to my said daughter Char-
lotte shall be, until paid, a charge upon my said estate. My will
further is and I give and bequeath unto the children of my
daughter Clara Crocker fifty dollars to be equally divided between
them share and share alike to be paid to them at such time as my
wife shall think proper.

To my daughter Elizabeth Coles, wife of Amos Coles, I give
fifty dollars and to my daughter Sarah Hyer I also give fifty dol-
lars to be paid out of my estate by my wife when she shall find
it convenient after my death. And I hereby declare that the
above disposition of my property has been made in full considera-
tion of what I owe my said wife and children and by reason that
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my other children have been advanced by me in my lifetime ; and
I hereby constitute my said wife Executrix of this my last Will
and Testament, hereby revoking all other wills by me made.
Witness my hand & seal this 21st day of January, 182s.
Lodowick Hackstaff

Signed, sealed, published & declared by the said Testator as
and for his last Will & Testament in our presence this 21st day
of January, 182s.

Chris. Heiser
Isaac Brown
Hay S. Mackay

INVENTORY.

This is an inventory of the household furniture left by Lodo-
wick Hackstaff after hig decease, taken gth February 1825.

Carpets front and back room $40.00
Chairs 36 42.00
Sofa 20.00
Window blinds 7.50
Tables five 35.00
Side board 30.00
Plated candle sticks four pair 5.00
Andirons three pair 12.50
Tongs & shovels three pair 3.50
Looking Glasses three 25.00
Bedsteds, beds & bedings 220.00
Entry & Stair carpets 20.00
Window curtins 20.00
Bureau two 15.00
Work Stand, two, candle stand 12.50
Hall Lamp 4.00
One Secretary 15.00

China, glass and earthen ware 65.00
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One set of Silver $125.00
Two silver Pitchers 140.00
Tea, table and soup spoons 75.00
Knives and forks three Dozn 7.50
Table Linnel & knapkins 25.00
Kitchen furniture 55.00
Waiters 5.50
Wash stand 3.00
One rug 5.75

$1033.75

James Anderson
Chris. Heiser

her
Ann X Hackstaff
mark
Debts due the Estate of Lodowick Hackstaff

Meiajah Pettit Note $876.46
Edward Patten Balance due 123.00
John Hackstaff 300.00
John Comay Estate 124.00
Henry Hallock 275.00
Israel Lewis 25.00
Rotunda §50.00
Moses Fowler 91.03
Elbert Anderson 49.00
James Kinsey - 773.00
Jackson Haines Bond 4000.00

$6422.12
James Anderson
Chris. Heiser
her
Ann X Hackstaff
mark
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A Further estimate of debts due the estate of Lodowick Hackstaff

deceased
D. W. Crocker Note 1813
D. W. Crocker Note 1814
Wm. B. Hyer Bond
Wm. B. Hyer Note
A, Coles Note
Wm. Jenkings Note

$1000.00
1000.00
700.00
300.00
100.00
30.00

$3130.00

James Anderson
Chris. Heiser
ber
Ann X Hackstaff
mark
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ANDREW SHEFFIELD GARR.

5. 1780.
m. 1805 (probably).
d. April 11, 1859.

ANDREW SHEFFIELD GARR, son of Andrew Garr, was born in
London, England, in 1780. There is a discrepancy as to his
birthplace between the family records and the record of the
Health Department of New York city. The latter? says he was
born in France. His daughter Elizabeth, who died in New York
in 1891, was positive that her father was born in London. His
son, George Garr, in a letter to his niece, Mrs. Kelsey, dated
November 25, 1888, intimates very plainly that his father was
born there. The record of his interment in Greenwood cemetery,
Brooklyn, says he was born in England. In view of this posi-
tive evidence and of the negative evidence that neither in the
records of the family nor in anything that has been discovered
about him is there a trace or even a hint of his ever having been
in France, the writer has accepted London as his birthplace.

In the latter part of 1783 or in 1784, when he was but three
years old,? be came with his father to New York, where he after-
" wards spent the greater part of his life. As a boy he was unusu-
ally bright and early developed a taste for books. His daughter
Elizabeth was fond of telling how her father, when he was still
but a child, often went to a certain book store where he was

lifted upon the counter and allowed to read the books.

1 Transcript from record of deaths reported to the Department of Health, City of New
York.

“Andrew S. Garr. Date of death, April 11, 1859. Birthplace, France. Place of death,
180 East 13th street. Direct cause of death, apoplexy. Place of burial, Greenwood."”

2 George Garr, his son, writes : — * My grandfather Garr . . . came to this country when my
father was three years old.”
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The first record found of him in New York is in 1796, in which
year he graduated from the School of Arts, Columbia College,
being tenth in a class of fifteen and the youngest in the class.
One of his classmates was Martin Van Buren, afterwards Presi-
dent of the United States. The writer has tried to find in what
year he entered Columbia College but without success. The
present Secretary of the College wrote that the course was
then, as now, four years, in which case he would probably have
entered in 1792, when but twelve years of age. At first sight
this seems quite remarkable, but it should be borne in mind that
Columbia College in those days was practically nothing more
than a school.

There is no trace of him between the time of his graduation
in 1796 and 1801, when he was admitted to the Bar. The greater
part of this time was probably spent in reading law, but a portion
of it, the writer is inclined to think, was passed in Cuba or else-
where in the Spanish West Indies. For several years after his
admission to the Bar he is mentioned as an “attorney and trans-
lator.” The use of the latter word and the fact that he both read
and spoke Spanish fluently would indicate a knowledge of the
language which, in those days, could only have been obtained by
a residence among Spanish speaking people. A number of his
clients were Spaniards and Cubans and the fact that he possessed
a knowledge of the Spanish language strongly indicates a resi-
dence in some part of the Spanish possessions, probably Cuba,
during some portion of the period between 1796 and 1801. He
was appointed a public notary in May, 180;.

He occupied a number of different residences in New York.
In 1805 and 1806 he lived at 62 Wall street. From 1807 to 1809
he lived at 11 Jay street. In 1810 he moved to 140 Water street
and lived there five years. In 1815 he was at 46 Pine street, and
from 1816 to 1823 he resided at 5o Pine street. In 1824 and
1825 he lived at 12 Pine street. In 1826 and 1827 he lived at
232 William street. From 1828 to 1832 his home was at 505
Broadway. In 1833 he moved to Essex street, Jersey City, and
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remained there until 1846. In 1847 he returned to New York
and lived for two years at 23 Saint Mark’s Place. From 1849 to
1852 he lived at 78 Saint Mark’s Place. From 1853 to 1855 he
was at 210 Tenth street. In 1856 he went to 140 East Twelfth
street. He died at 180 East Thirteenth street, the home of one
of his married children, Octavia (Garr) Wotherspoon.

He changed his office as frequently as he did his residence.
From 1804 to 1807 it was at 11 Wall street ; 1808, 3 Wall street;
1809, 11 Wall street; from 1810 to 1823 it seems to have been at
his residence; 1824 to 1826, 2 Nassau street; 1827 to 1838, 7
Nassau street; 1839, 45 Nassau street ; 1840, 2 Wall street ; 1841
to 1847, 7 Broad street; 1848, 33 John street; 1849 to 1852, 106
Broadway ; 1853, 43 New street.

In 1854 he retired from active practice. During a long and
honorable career of §3 years as an active member of the New
York Bar he gained for himself a well merited and enviable
reputation. A notice in the New York 7imes of March 22,
1863, concerning the death of Mr. Richard I. Wells, speaks of
him as being “for several years a partner of Andrew S. Garr,
who is remembered as one of the most astute lawyers as he was
pre-eminently the most skillful special pleader of his day.”

After he retired from the Bar his large and valuable law library
and several family portraits were stored in a building on property
on Staten Island leased by his son-in-law William Hubbard. The
building was unfortunately burned and the contents entirely
destroyed.

In 1805 he was elected a member of the “Saint Andrew’s
Society of the State of New York,” a society organized in 1756
by a number of gentlemen, natives of Scotland and of Scottish
descent, for the purpose of providing financial relief to fellow
Scotsmen, resident in the state of New York, who might be in
want or distress. Although instituted in 1756, it was not incor-
porated until April 17, 1826. The five incorporators were Robert
Halliday, John Graham, John Johnston, John J. Palmer and
Andrew S. Garr. In 1813, 1814 and 1815, he was one of the
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Managers ; in 1840, 1846, 1847, 1850, 1852 and 1853, one of the
Committee of Installation; in 1841, 1842, 1848 and 1851, one of
the Standing Committee ; and in 1843 and 1844, one of the Com-
mittee of Accounts. The society is still in active existence and
many an honored name appears on its list of past and present
members.

He was also a member and, in 1810, Vice-President, of the
“ Dumfries and Galloway Society,” another Scotch benevolent
organization founded in 1803 “for the relief of indigent natives
of Dumfriesshire and Galloway and their children.” In 1856 this
society, being reduced to five resident members, transferred its
fund to the “ Saint Andrew’s Society " and ceased to exist.

In spite of his long residence in New York Mr. Garr owned
very little property there. An examination of the records in the
office of the Register of Deeds, City and County of New York,
shows that on October 21, 1825, he leased from Henry Rutgers
for 21 years, at $100 a year, a lot on the west side of Rutgers
street, and that on January 26, 1827, he bought from Henry B.
Lambert for $500 sundry parcels of real estate. He also prob-
ably inherited some property from his father. In his will he
mentions his “land and property in the Island of Cuba,” but
there is no indication as to when or how it came into his pos-
session.

The records.in the office of the Register of Deeds also show
that on December 19, 1816, he was appointed with Robert
McCrea and James McBrair trustee for the creditors of George
Bolton, an absconding debtor; that on August 27, 1817, he was
appointed with William Holmes and George Caines trustee for
the creditors of Frederick Mullett, another absconding debtor;
and that on June 11, 1831, he was appointed with William Mackie
and William Calder trustee for the creditors of Robert H. Bunch,
who had left the country owing a good deal of money.

On July 2, 1812, he and Jacob Drake were appointed admin-
istrators of the estate of his father, Andrew Garr, who had died
a short time before. On December 13, 1816, the Surrogates’
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Court appointed him guardian of his half sister Janet and he
acted as such until her marriage to Thomas Lowis in November,
1818.

In the winter of 1858—9 he attended a dinner of Columbia
College alumni at which he was the guest of honor and was made
much of as the only living member of the class of 1796.

Mr. Garr married, probably in 1803, Elizabeth, daughter of
James and Elizabeth (Morrell) Sinclair. The church record of
his marriage has not yet been found, but, fortunately, the marriage
can be proved without it. James Sinclair died June 12, 1819.
The records of the Surrogates’ Court, City and County of New
York, show that on May 19, 1824, letters of administration were
issued to “ Andrew S. Garr, a son in law of James Sinclair, late
of the City of New York, Shipmaster, deceased,” which estab-
lishes the fact that he married James Sinclair's daughter. That

G /8. 7455
Inscription in a prayer book, a wedding present.

her name was Elizabeth is known from family records, the news-
paper notice of her death, the record of St. Bartholomew's
Church, New York, concerning her funeral and the record of
Greenwood cemetery, Brooklyn, concerning her burial. Further
than this, James Sinclair had a son, James R. Sinclair. He died
intestate and on March 30, 1826, as the records of the Surrogates’
Court will show, letters of administration were granted to
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“ Andrew S. Garr, a brother in law of James R. Sinclair, late of
the City of New York, Mariner, Deceased.”

The foregoing evidence is amply sufficient to prove Mr. Garr's
marriage to James Sinclair's daughter Elizabeth. The date of
the marriage, however, can only be approximated, and the reasons
for assigning 1805 as the probable date are as follows. In a letter
to his daughter Fanny dated Tallahassee, March 23, 1858, he
writes, referring to the birth of her daughter, “ From the recol-
lection of my own feelings on the like occasion more than fifty
years ago, I can readily imagine what a blessing your little daugh-
ter is to yourself and her Father, and I pray the Almighty that
she may continue to be so as long as either of you live.” Here
we have Mr. Garr's own statement that he was married before
1808. On June 17, 1807, Maria Sinclair, daughter of James
Sinclair and sister of Elizabeth Sinclair, Mr. Garr’s wife, was
married to Ira C. Day at Mr. Garr’s house,! and this would hardly
have happened if he had not been her brother-in-law at that time.
The New York city directory for 1802 does not mention Andrew
S. Garr at all and it is reasonable to suppose, therefore, that he
was then living with his father at 118 Cherry street. If so he
was certainly unmarried, for the relations between his step-mother
and himself are known to have been such that he would hardly
have taken his wife to his father’s house to live. A directory for
1803 could not be found. That for 1804 gives only his office
address, 11 Wall street, but the one for 1805 gives both an office
and a house address, the latter 62 Wall street. If, then, he was
no longer living with his father in 1805 but in a house of his own
it was probably because he had married, and, most likely, in that
year.

It has been thought worth while to go into the question of Mr.
Garr’s marriage at some length. It is the link which connects us
with the Sinclair family of Scotland and it is important that this
connection be fully and clearly established. The church record

1 From the marriage record of the Rutgers Street Presbyterian Church, New York.
“Ira C, Day to Miss Maria Sinclair, June 17, 1807, at the house of Mr, Garr.”
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of his marriage may some day be found, but, in view of the evi-
dence adduced, it is not essential.

Mr. Garr's granddaughter, Clara Hackstaff (who married Cap-
tain Charles Shaler McDonough, U. S. N,, and afterwards Robert
Adams), furnishes the writer (her son) with the following recol-
lections concerning her grandfather and grandmother.

My grandfather was tall and slender, almost spare, with very dark complexion,
black hair and fine dark eyes. He was not what would be called a genial man.
He had a fine library and when at home spent his time almost entirely among
his books, sharing very little in the family life.

I never knew him to have an hour's illness until within a short time before his
death, and he always attributed his good health to plenty of fresh air and cold
water with moderation in eating and drinking. Whatever the weather he never
wore an overcoat until quite late in life. One of his peculiarities was the wearing
of a different pair of shoes each day in the week. I can distinctly recall the long
and orderly row of shoes in his bedroom closet and my wondering, child like,
how he could possibly need so many pairs.

In early life he was a Unitarian. He afterwards became a churchman and
attended old Trinity Church, New York, with his family. While living in Jersey
City he went to St. Matthew's and on his return to New York became a member
of St. Bartholomew’s, from which church both he and his wife were buried. He
was an upright and honorable man, thoroughly good and sincerely religious. 1
can well remember how, when staying at his house, we children used sometimes
to gather on the stairs at night and listen to him as he said his prayers aloud, as
he always did.

My grandmother was of Huguenot descent. She was a very pretty woman,
with dark hair and eyes, of medium height and with a graceful figure. She
retained her glossy dark hair with scarcely a thread of gray, her fresh com-
plexion and pretty figure to the last, never seeming to me at all like an old
woman although she was in her 68th year when she died. She showed her
French descent in her vivacity and taste in dress. In those days we wore
collars and under-sleeves of lace and embroidery and her clever fingers made
them most beautifully as well as her own pretty little lace caps.

In looking back I realize what a really wonderful woman she was. She
brought up a family of sixteen children, thirteen of her own and three grand-
children, Sarah, John and Robert, the orphan children of her daughter Mary
(Garr) Lang. With the help of her daughter Elizabeth she did all the plain
sewing for the family. She took upon her own shoulders the burden of house-
hold affairs and never troubled my grandfather about domestic cares. She
always sat at the head of the table and carved and he sat at her right band.
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Her most intimate friend was a Mrs. Delaplaine, and when my grandmother
died she was placed in her friend’s vault in Greenwood cemetery, Brooklyn.

Mr. Garr's wife, Elizabeth (Sinclair) Garr, was born in New
York in 1788 and died at No. 210, East 1oth street, New York,
August 28, 18551 The funeral was from St. Bartholomew’s
Church 2 and her remains were placed in the receiving vault at
Greenwood cemetery, Brooklyn, August 30, 1855, and on Sep-
tember 9, 1856, were removed to the Delaplaine vault.?

Andrew S. Garr died at 180 East 13th street, April 11, 18594
The funeral was from St. Bartholomew’s Church® and his body
was first placed in the receiving vault at Greenwood and later,
being unclaimed, was interred in grave 26, lot 17221.%

The children were : —

1. Mary, married Robert Lang and had issue.
2. Elizabeth, died unmarried.
3. Andrew, died unmarried.

1 From the New York Evening Post, August 30, 1855.
*Died. On Tuesday evening, Aug. 28th, Elizabeth, wife of Andrew S. Garr, in the 68th year
of her age.”

3 From records of St. Bartholomew’s Church, New York.
Elizabeth Garr. Died August, 1855. Age, 68 years. Buried from St. Bartholomew’s
Church. Interment, Greenwood.

3 From records of Greenwood cemetery, Brooklyn, N. Y.

Elizabeth Garr. Born in New York. Married. Died August 28, 1855, of congested fever.
Age, 67 years. Late residence, No. 210 East 1oth street, New York. Placed in receiving
vault August 30, 1855. Removed to the Delaplaine vault September g, 1856.

4From the New York Herald, April 13, 1859,

“Died. Garr. On Monday morning, April 11, Andrew S, Garr, in the 8oth year of his age.

The funeral services will take place at St. Bartholomew's church, Lafayette place, corner of
Great Jones street, on Wednesday afternoon at four o'clock. The friends of the family are
invited to attend without further notice.”

& From records of St. Bartholomew's Church, New York.
Andrew S. Garr. Died April, 1859. Age, 79 "years. Buried from St. Bartholomew's
Church. Interment, Greenwood.

¢ From records of Greenwood cemetery, Brooklyn, N. Y.

Andrew S, Garr. Birthplace, England, Widower. Died April 11, 1859. Age, 80 years.
Cause, old age, Died at 180 East 13th street. Placed in receiving vault. Removed to
grave a6, lot r72a1, unclaimed.

e —— - s S e s §
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4. Anna, born in New York city February 27, 1812 ; married Wil-
liam G., son of Lodowick and Anne (Hallock) Hackstaff,
August 26, 1831, and had issue; died May 5, 1888.

5. George, married Elizabeth Powell Kernochan and had issue.

6. Catharine, married Mortimer Jackson and had no issue.

7. Alexander, died unmarried.

8. Jeannette, married Cadwalader Colden Washburne January 1,
1849, and has issue.

9. Julia, married Sylvester S. Nevins and had issue.

10. Robert, died unmarried.

11. Julian, died unmarried.

12. Fanny, married William Hubbard and had issue.

13. Octavia, married David Ogden Wotherspoon and has issue.

WILL.

This is the Last Will and Testament of me Andrew S. Garr,
of the City of New York, Counsellor at Law. I give, devise and
bequeath all my land and property in the Island of Cuba unto my
son Andrew Garr if he shall be living at the time of my decease,
but if he be not then living I give, devise and bequeath the same
unto my daughter Elizabeth Garr. All my other estate and
property whatsoever and wheresoever 1 give, devise and bequeath
unto my said daughter if she shall be living at the time of my
decease, but if she be not then living I give, devise-and bequeath
the same unto my said son. And I make these bequests in full
confidence that my said son and daughter will contribute as far
as their ability will extend to the support and maintenance of
such of their brothers and sisters as may need assistance.

And I constitute and appoint my said son Andrew, my said
daughter Elizabeth and my son-in-law Sylvester S. Nevins, Execu-
tors and Executrix of this my last Will

In Witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal at
the City of New York this day of February in the year one

thousand eight hundred and fifty-six.
Andrew S. Garr
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FIFTH GENERATION.

JAMES McDONOUGH.

b 1712
m. 1746.
d. January 18, 1792.

Jaues McDoNouGH, the ancestor of the Delaware line, was
the son of Thomas and Jane (Coyle) McDonough. He was born
in the district known as Salmon Leap, on the river Liffey, county
Kildare, Ireland, and came to this country with his brother John
about 1730. The precise date is not known, but that it was near
that time appears from a letter written by Commodore Macdon-
ough in 1822 to his sister Mrs. Roberts, in Delaware, which is
also interesting as referring to the name of James’ mother and
the locality of the Irish home. The Commodore writes : —

About a month ago I went to see 2 man at Newtown on Long Island (said to
be my relative). I found him a fine looking man of 78 years old, a good farmer,
reputable, with several children. He talked much about father and grandfather;
had been down in Delaware with his father, who was our grandfather's brother,
80 making the old gentleman I saw own cousin to our father.! He said father
had often been at his house during the war. He lives about 8 miles from New
York and has a son Clerk in one of the banks in New York. He says our
family came from near Dublin at a place called *‘ Salmon Leap,” on a rum, as I
suppose, and that the family name on the mother's side was Cyk.* He says his
father and our grandfather came to this country when young, about 18; don’t

1 John McDonough, who settled on Long Island, had two sons, John and James. It must
have been one of these the Commodore visited.
2 Should be Coyle as is shown by other family records,

115
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know why they came, but says he supposes to settle where so many advantages
presented themselves, as then did in this country; they came voluntarily.

As James was born in 1712 and came with his brother when
they were about 18 years old, it was probably not far from 1730
when they left their home and settled here. John went to New-
town, Long Island, and James, our ancestor, settled in St.
George’s Hundred, New Castle County, Delaware, at the place
then called the Trap, but to which the Post Office Department,
in 1844, gave the name McDonough.

The first record found of any property owned by him is in
1748, when he purchased from Garrett Dushane 15 acres of land
at the Trap, November 15, for £214. This tract of land con-
tained what is described in the deed as ‘“the new tavern house.”
This was built of logs, weather boarded, and probably stood near
where the old McDonough house stands now. It has long since
disappeared. Four months later, March 12, 1749, he bought 112
acres more from Garrett Dushane for £430, making 127 acres
altogether, in which was included all of what was then called the
% Trap Land.”

Under a warrant dated June 8, 1750, 58% acres of land near
Second Drawyers creek in New Castle County were surveyed and
confirmed to him by a patent from Thomas and Richard Penn
April 30, 1751. The patent, which is interesting as showing the
form of instrument used in those days to confirm grants of land,
is as follows : —

THOMAS PENN AND RICHARD PENN Esquires True
and absolute Proprietaries and Governors in Chiefs of the province
of Pennsylvania and Counties of New Castle, Kent and Sussex on
Delaware, To All unto whom these presents shall come, Greeting.
Whereas by virtue and in pursuance of a Warrant under the Seal
of our said province bearing Date the third Day of May One
Thousand Six Hundred and Eighty Six from the then Commis-
sioners of Property there was Surveyed on the Eleventh Day of
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same Month unto and for James Green then of New Castle County
Merchant a Certain tract of Land called the Holt, near the second
Drawyers Creek, in the said County of New Castle said to contain
Six Hundred and Twenty Five acres or thereabouts. And Whereas
the Right and Title in and to Sixty acres part of the said Six
Hundred and Twenty Five acres is now Lawfully vested in James
McDonough, of Reedy Island in St Georges Hundred, in the said
County of New Castel, Yeoman, at whose Instance and Request
and by Vertue and in pursuance of a Warrant under the Seal of
the Land Office bearing date the Eight Day of June, One Thous-
and Seven Hundred and Fifty, the said Sixty acres part of the
said Six Hundred and Twenty Five acres were surveyed and the
Bounds and Limits thereof are as follows Viz, Beginning at a
marked Hickery a corner of John Vances Land and from thence
Extending by the same south fifty eight Degrees twenty minutes
East One Hundred and Ninety one perches and a half to a post,
thence by the said John Vances land and land of William Kans
north six degrees West One Hundred and Thirty one perches and
a half to a marked Hickery thence by William Golders land south
seventy eight degrees and a half West One Hundred and Fifty
two Perches and a half to the place of Beginning, Containing Fifty
eight acres and three quarters of an acre and the usual allowance
of Six acres pent for Roads and Highways as in and by the said
Resurvey thereof Remaining in our Surveyor Generals office and
from thence certified into the Secretaries office may appear Now
at the Instance and Request of the said James Mcdonough that
we would be pleased him a confirmation of the said Fifty eight
and three quarters Of an acre and the aforesaid allowance Know
Ye that in Consideration of the sum of Five Shillings Lawfull
Money of Pennsylvania to our use paid by the said James Mcdon-
ough the receipt whereof we hereby acknowledge and thereof do
acquit and forever Discharge the said James Mcdonough his Heirs
and Assigns, by these presents, and of the yearly quit rent here-
after mentioned and reserved. We have given granted, released
and confirmed and by these presents for us our Heirs and Succes-
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sors Do give, grant, Release and confirm unto the said James
McDonough his Heirs and Assigns the said Fifty eight acres and
three quarters of an acre of Land as the same are now set forth
bounded and limited as aforesaid. With all Mines, Minerals,
Quarries Meadows, Marshes Savanahs, Swamps Cripples, Woods,
Under Woods Timber and Trees, Ways, Waters, Water courses,
Liberties Profits, Commoditys, Advantages, Hereditaments and
Appurtenances whatsoever there unto belonging or in anywise
appertaining and Lying within the Bounds and Limits aforesaid.
Three full and clear fifth parts of all Royall Mines free from all
Deductions and Reprisals for Digging and refining the same and
also one fifth part of the Ore of all other mines delivered at the
pits mouth only excepted and Hereby Reserved and also free
leave right and Liberty to and for the said James Mc Donough
his Heirs and Assigns To Hawk Hunt, Fish and Fowl, in and
upon the hereby Granted land and and Premises or upon any part
thereof. To Have and To Hold the said Fifty eight acres and
three quarters of an acre of land and premises hereby granted
(Except as before Excepted) with their appurtenances unto the
said James McDonough his Heirs and Assigns. To the only use
and Behoof of the said James McDonough his Heirs and Assigns
forever. To be Holden of us our Heirs and Successors, Proprie-
taries of Pennsylvania as of our Manor of Rocklands, in the
County of New Castle aforesaid in Free and Common Socage by
Fealty only in Lieu of all other services Yielding therefore yearly
unto us our Heirs and Successors at the Town of New Castle, in
the said County at or upon the first day of March in every year
from the first day of March last One Half Bushel of good Mer-
chantable Winter Wheat for the whole or value thereof in Coin
Currant according as the Exchange shall then be between our
said Province and the City of London to such person or persons
as shall from time to time be appointed to receive the same. And
in case of Non Payment thereof within Ninety days next after the
same shall become due that then it shall and may be lawful for us
our Heirs and Successors our and their Receiver or Receivers
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into and upon the hereby granted Land and Premises to Reenter
and the same to hold and possess until the said quit rent and all
arrears thereof Together with the charges accruing by means of
such Non payment and Reentry be fully paid and Discharged.
Witness James Hamilton Esquire Lieutenant Governor of the
said province, who by virtue of certain powers and authorities to
him for this purpose inter alia granted by the said proprietaries
hath hereunto set his Hand and caused the Great Seal of the said
province to be hereunto affixed at Philadelphia this Thirtieth day
of April, in the year of our Lord One Thousand Seven Hundred
and Fifty one the Twenty Fourth Year of the Reign of King
George the Second over Great Britian, And the Thirty Third year

of the said Proprietaries Government
James HaMILTON

On August 16, 1755, he purchased 108 acres of adjoining land
from John Vandyke and wife for £286:04. On March 14, 1761,
he sold to John Jones 150 acres of land lying on the west side of
Drawyer’s creek for £300. This was land he had probably taken
up soon after his arrival here, for there is no record of his having
bought it. On November 17, 1761, he bought 5 acres and 40
perches from Samuel Anderson, and on May 21, 1765, I acre on
the east side of the Odessa road from John Hanson for £68:
07:6. His real estate at this time, so far as can be ascertained,
amounted to 241 acres, for which he had paid about 4£1000.

On January 15, 1765, he and George Monro, the principal credi-
tors of Henry Connoway, were appointed administrators of the
latter’s estate.

No one seems to know just where James first lived. Probably
it was on the “ Trap Land ” bought from Garrett Dushane in 1748
and 1749, for on this land is the family burial lot in which his
wife was buried in 1764, and it is natural to suppose that it was
not far from where he lived.

In 1784 James’ son Thomas built a substantial brick house on
his father's farm at the Trap. At this time James was 72 years
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old, no doubt feeble, and, sad to say, probably blind. In examin-
ing a deed given by James in 1791 it was noticed that instead of
signing his name he made his mark. The writer could not
account for this until he found his will made a month later, in
which it was stated that the same was signed and sealed in his
presence after being distinctly read to him, “he being blind.”
The reason Thomas built the house on the Trap farm was prob-
ably to provide a comfortable home for his father in his old
age, and no doubt James lived there with him until his death in
1792.

Near the house built by Thomas is a small lot surrounded by a
brick wall. Here are buried James and his wife Lydia, Thomas
(James’ son) and his wife Mary, Patrick (James’ son) and his wife
Sarah, Bridget (James’ daughter), and Thomas (Patrick’s son).
There are also two children buried there, but their graves are
unmarked. Within the lot stands a graceful walnut tree which
casts its shade upon the graves below and lends an air of quiet
peacefulness to the scene.

The farm of 140 acres containing the house and burial lot was
deeded by James March 17, 1791, under the name of “The Trap
Plantation,” to his eldest son Thomas in consideration of * natu-
ral love and affection.” Thomas dying intestate, the property
passed by Orphans’ Court proceedings into the hands of his
brother Patrick December 24, 1800. In 1833, through Orphans’
Court proceedings, it was assigned to John Janvier, Jr. in right
of his wife Eliza, Patrick’s daughter. John Janvier, Jr., willed it
to his son James J. Janvier, and he, with his wife, conveyed it
May 15, 1880, to Zadoc A. Poole, the present owner.

This property, therefore, of so much interest to us, containing
as it does the house in which our great-great-grandfather, our
great-grandfather and our grandfather, as a boy, all lived, as well
as the burial lot where lie our great-great-grandparents and our
great-grandparents remained in possession of the family for 131
years. Some day, it is hoped, it will pass from a stranger’s hands
into our own again.
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James must have been a man of considerable means, and if, as
family tradition says, he was a physician, he must have possessed
a superior education and no doubt occupied a position of im-
portance in the community. He must also have been a man of
fine character and of strong convictions. His brother John who
settled at Newtown, Long Island, was an active member of the
early Episcopal church in that place, as we learn from ‘“Annals
of Newtown,” and James was no doubt a member of the same
church. Were the early records of St. Ann’s, at Middletown,
Del., extant, they would probably show that he was a member of
that ancient parish.

His life covered a period of intense interest in the history of
our country. He was no doubt familiar with the course of politi-
cal events, and from his quiet home in Delaware had watched the
gathering of the storm which was to break over the devoted col-
onies. When it burst in 1776 he was weak in arm but strong in
his belief in the principles of liberty, justice and equality upheld
by his adopted country. Unable himself through age to take an
active part in the contest, he armed two of his sons, Thomas
and James, his first and second born, and sent them to the front.
Thomas returned to him after a period of honorable service;
James died in the service of his country.

The sturdy old man more than rounded out his allotted three
score years and ten, for he did not die until 1792, when eighty
years old. He had married in 1746 Lydia, eldest daughter of
Peter Laroux, also of St. George’s Hundred. She was born in
1729, and, dying August 21, 1764, was probably the first to be
laid in the family lot.

Their children, all born at the Trap (now McDonough), Del.,
were : —

1. Thomas, born 1747 ; married Mary, daughter of Samuel and
Hannah ( ) Vance, 1770, and had issue; died Novem.
ber 10, 1795.

2. Bridget, born 1749; died unmarried 1773.

3. John, married first Bridget ( ) and had no issue;
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married second Sophronia ( ) and had no issue;
died before April 15, 1791.

4. James, born 1756 ; died unmarried 1776.

5. Patrick, born 1757; married Sarah McMunn and had issue;
died 1803.

6. Mary, married I. Anderson and had issue; died 1786.

7. Micah, died unmarried after April 15, 1791.

WILL.

In the name of God, Amen. I, James McDonough, of St.
Georges Hundred in the County of New Castle Delaware State
being weak in body but of sound and disposing mind memory and
understanding Praised be God therefor, and considering the cer-
tainty of Death and the uncertainty of the time thereof, do now
make and declare this my last will & Testament in manner fol-
lowing, to wit : —

First Whereas I have heretofore by Deed given unto my Son
Thomas McDonough all my Messuages, Lands & Lotts of Land
at the place commonly called and known by the name of the Trap
in the Hundred aforesaid, as also a meadow Lott in the Augustine
marshes commonly called the Barrack Lott, my wish and will is
that the same shall be under and subject to the payment of all my
Just debts except one third part of any sum that may become
chargeable on my Estate on account of my entering into a Bond
as security for the late Mary Robinson otherwise Dushane to
Cornelius Kittle since deceased ; I also devise give and bequeath
unto the said Thomas McDonough all the Debts which at my
death may be outstanding due and owing to me.

Secondly Whereas I have heretofore by Deed given unto my
Son Patrick McDonough all that parcel of Land that he now lives
on together with two Lotts of Land that I bought of Cornelius
Kittle and wife, together with two upper Lotts of Meadow on the
Augustine Marshes, my wish and will is that the same shall be
under and subject to the payment of one third of any sum that
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may become chargeable on my Estate by means of being security
as aforesaid for the late Mary Robinson otherwise Dushane to
Cornelius Kittle since deceased, and also under and subject to the
maintainance and Education of my Grandson James Anderson
untill he shall arrive at fit age to be put apprentice at the discre-
tion of my Executor hereafter mentioned.

Thirdly Whereas I have heretofore given and put my Son
Micah McDonough in full possession of all my moveable Estate
consisting of Negroes, Horses, Cattle, wheat in the ground, farm-
ing utensils and household furniture, I now will and Bequeath him
the sum of one Hundred pounds to be paid him by my Executor
hereafter mentioned in one year after my decease, the said One
hundred pounds to be under and subject nevertheless to the
maintainance and Education of my Grand Son Joseph Anderson
untill he shall arrive at fit age to be put apprentice at the discre-
tion of my said Executor.

Lastly I do hereby nominate and appoint my said son Thomas
McDonough Sole Executor of this my last Will and Testament
and do make him the Residuary devisee of any undisposed part
of my Estate not herein before specified, hereby revoking all
former and other wills by me heretofore made. In Testimony
whereof I have hereunto ordered my name to be wrote and put
my Seal thereto this fifteenth day of April in the year of our
Lord one thousand seven hundred & ninety one.

Signed, Sealed, Published, pronounced
& declared by the Testator James Mc-
Donough as & for his last Will and
Testament in the presence of us the
subscribers who signed the same in his
presence and at his request, the contents
being first distinctly read unto him and

by us, he being blind. James McDonough
John Hanson per order in the
Ephraim Hyatt presence of the

Jacob Ozier Witnesses
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SAMUEL VANCE.

b.
m. before 1751.
d. January, 1768.

SamuEL VANCE, son of John and Mary ( ) Vance, lived in
St. George’s Hundred, New Castle County, Delaware, and was
probably born there. Nothing is known concerning him except
what can be gathered from the New Castle County land records,
in which he appears frequently as grantor and grantee. He
seems to have been a miller and is called a “yeoman” in the
proceedings of the Orphans’ Court relative to the settlement of
his father’s estate, of which he was administrator. He should not
be confounded with the Samuel Vance of an earlier generation
who appears in the land records from 1708 to 1736 and who is
called in different deeds a “joyner” and a “carpenter.”

1759, September 21.

“This Indenture made the twenty first Day of September in
the thirty third Year of Reign of George the Second King of
Great Britain et. and in the Year of our Lord One Thousand
seven hundred and fifty nine Between John Vance and Mary his
wife of St. Georges Hundred and County of Newcastle upon




SAMUEL VANCE. 12§

Delaware of the one part and Samuel Vance of the Hundred and
County aforesaid son of the afsd John Vance of the other part
witnesseth that the said John Vance and Mary his wife for and in
Consideration that the said Samuel Vance shall from time to time
and at all times hereafter during the Natural Life of him the said
John Vance find and provide for him the sd John Vance and his
family for the time Sufficient Bread Corn, and to grind the same
and also for the Love and good will that the said John Vance and
Mary his wife hath to the sd Samuel Vance son of the sd john
Vance they the said John Vance & Mary his wife have granted”
etc.

The property conveyed consisted of the mill property on which
Samuel was then living.
1765, April 25.

Sells, as administrator of the estate of Robert McBride, to Peter
Hyatt for £320 certain property in St. George’s Hundred.

As the principal creditor of Robert McBride Samuel Vance was
appointed administrator of his estate April 22, 1761:

1766, April 8.

Sells, as administrator, to George Parker the ‘“Mill Plantation ”
of 289 acres, 152 perches, a portion of the property left by his
father John Vance.

1766, April 9.

Buys, on personal account, from George and Mary Parker for
£579: 18 the “ Mill Plantation” sold him April 8, 1766.

1766, May 19.

He and wife Hannah sell to John Jones for £700:5:3 the
“ Mill Plantation” bought from George Parker and wife April g,
1766.

Samuel Vance died intestate in January, 1768, and letters of
administration were issued to Hannah Vance, his widow, January
19 of that year. Some time before October 14, 1777, probably as
early as 1773, she married Richard Hambly and died in 1801I.
Her will, which follows, is dated September 1, 1800, and was
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proved March 12, 180t. On January 19, 1773, Richard Hambly

was appointed guardian of Samuel Vance’s two minor children,

Martha and Peter. On January 18, 1780, the Orphans’ Court, on

the request of Peter Vance, who was still a minor, appointed

Major Thomas McDonough of St. George’s Hundred his guardian.

This change in guardianship was in accordance with the provi-

sions of the law which gave minor children over fourteen years of

age the power to choose their own guardians.
The children of Samuel and Hannah ( ) Vance, all born
in St. George’s Hundred, were : —

1. John, died without issue before February 17, 1779.

2. Mary, born 1751; married Major Thomas, son of James and
Lydia (Laroux) McDonough, 1770, and had issue; died No-
vember 1, 1792.

3. Hannah, born probably 1753 ; married before January 19, 1773,
Richard Humphries and had issue; died before February 17,
1779

4. Martha, born probably 1755; married between January 19, 1773,
and February 17, 1779, Isaac Davis and had issue.

5. Peter, born between 1760 and 1766 ; married and had issue;
died before December 13, 1796.

WILL.

In the Name of God Amen, I Hannah Hambly of St Georges
hundred in the County of New Castle and State of Delaware, do
hereby make this my last will and Testament.

And first I give my Soul to God that gave it to be saved accord-
ing to the Gospel of the Lord Jesus Christ and my Body to the
Earth to be desently Buried and tuching such worldly goods as
it hath pleased God to Bless me with I dispose of in the following
manner.

And first I Order that all my Just debts be paid out of my
Estate

I Give unto my beloved Daughter Elizabeth Hambly one equal
half part of my Estate after my Just debts be paid as aforesaid
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And I further Will and Order that if my said Daughter Elizabeth
aforesaid should die before her marriage that then her part of my
Estate shall be equally devided between my four Grand-Daughters
hereafter mentioned or to their Lawfull representatives.

I give the remaining half part of my Estate of whatever kind so
ever to be equally devided between my Grand Daughters Hannah
Davis Mary Davis Ann Johnston and Rachel Vance And it is my
Will that the shares belonging to Ann Johnston and Rachel Vance
aforesaid be put to interest as soon as conveniently can be after
my decease and to be paid to them when they shall arrive to the
age of Eighteen years Principal and Interest together And I
further will and Order that if any of my Grand Daughters should
die before their marriage that their share of my Estate shall then
be Equally devided between the surviving of my Grand Daughters
aforesaid or their Lawfull representatives

And lastly I do hereby nominate Constitute and appoint my
trusty friend Joseph Aspril Executor of this my Testament and
last Will desireing that the same may be Executed according to
the true intent and meaning thereof

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my
seal this first day of September in the year One thousand eight
hundred — all interlining done before signing.

Signed Sealed and declared to be Hannah Hambly
the Testament and last Will of
Hannah Hambly in the presence of
Polly Hickman
her
Eleanor X Burk
mark
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Office of Register of Wills, Wilmington, Del.
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REUBEN SHALER.

b. December 14, 1711.
m. November 12, 1741.

d. 1749.

“ REUBEN SHALER was born at Haddam, removed to this place
(Middletown) and married Abigail Stow, of the third generation
of that name in America (respectable and of a reputable family).
They had three children, a daughter who Died young and Two sons,
the eldest named Reuben after his Father and the youngest, who
now makes this record, Nathaniel. The Father, Reuben, was an
enterprising seaman, had the command of a brig (using generally
the trade between this place and the Island of Barbadoes) in which
it is supposed he was lost in a voyage from the Bay of Honduros
in the Gulf of Florida, having been spoke with in a hard gale in the
Gulf and never heard of after. He left behind a Widow and Two
children, the one then three and the other two years old, a small
estate in this place, vz. Middletown, Connecticut, which was
acquired by his own industry. He left, and deservedly, an ex-
cellent good name, which God grant may be religiously preserved
by all who descend from him.”

The above brief account of Reuben Shaler was written by his
son Nathaniel. It is chiefly interesting as disclosing the manner
in which he met his death. He was but thirty-eight years old
when he died and his life, though short, was active and useful.

Reuben Shaler, son of Abel and Hannah ( ) Shaler, was
born at Haddam, Connecticut, December 14, 1711. Some time be-
tween April 16, 1717, and September 1, 1719, his father removed,
with his family, from Haddam to Bolton, Connecticut.

Reuben was then about seven years old. He remained in Bol-
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ton probably until 1741. He owned considerable property there,
his name appearing frequently in, the Bolton land records both as
grantor and grantee. He removed to Middletown some time be-
tween November 10, 1741, and December 14, 1743. He is de-
scribed in a deed of the former date as being of Bolton, and in a
deed of the latter date as being of Middletown. As he was mar-
ried in Middletown November 12, 1741, the date of his removal
thither probably coincided with the date of his marriage. It will
be noticed that in Nathaniel Shaler’s brief account of his father
he makes no mention of his having lived in Bolton. That fact was
evidently unknown to him. '

Little is known of his life in Middletown beyond the fact that
after removing there he became a sailor and commanded, at differ-
ent times, a number of vessels engaged in trade with the West
Indies, which, at that time, was a source of considerable revenue
to the towns along the Connecticut River. His grandfather,
Thomas Shaler, had been a sailor before him and the family came
from a sea-faring town, Haddam supplying most of the ‘ long voy-
age” men, as they were called, from that part of the colony.
One of the last vessels he commanded was the King George, a
brigantine of 72 tons, manned by a crew of 14 men. He com-
manded this vessel in 1747, and it was probably the one in
which he was lost two years later. There is a family tradition
that on one occasion Reuben sailed under letters of marque in
command of a privateer, but the writer can find no authority for
the statement. From his calling he was commonly known in
Middletown as “ Captain "’ Shaler.

He owned but two pieces of property in Middletown. The first
purchase was made October 11, 1743, when he bought of Curtis
Fairchild, for “One Hundred and twenty Pounds Current old
tenor Money ”, '

One Certain piece of Land Lying in the town plat in sd Middletown Contain-
ing forty three rods, being Six rods and an half wide Northerly and Southerly,
and Six rods and Eighteen Links Long, and bounded Easterly on Jon Delliber's
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Lane, Westerly and Southerly on highways, and Northerly on Land of the heirs
of Peter Butler Dec'd, Together with a Barn Standing thereon.

This is the lot described in the inventory as being on Jamaica
lane (now Green street). The second purchase was made Decem-
ber 13, 1746, when he bought of Henry King for £1100 a piece

of property

in ye town Plat, Containing One Acre Bounded as follows Viz North on
James Browns Homelot, East on the Town Street, South and West on Charles
Hamlins Land, Together with a Dwelling House and all other Buildings Standing
thereon, and also a horse house Standing in ye Street adjoyning with all the
Priviledges and Appurtenances thereunto Belonging or in any wise Appertaining.

This lot, with the dwelling house, remained in possession of the
Shaler family for over one hundred years. The house still stands,
though it has been rebuilt and repaired, of course, at various
times. There is now probably little remaining of the original
building. It was recently raised bodily and another story of brick
built under it. It was, and is still, known as the Shaler house.

Reuben married in Middletown, November 12, 1741, Abigail,
daughter of Samuel and Esther (Mould) Stow. She was born in
Middletown in November, 1721. Mrs. Shaler’s married life was
short, lasting but eight years. No certain news of her sailor hus-
band’s death ever reached her. Day after day she is said to have
sat in the doorway with her spinning wheel waiting and watching
for his return, and it was long before she would believe that he had
met the fate of so many of those who “go down to the sea in
ships.”

On June 11, 1759, she was appointed administratrix of her hus-
band’s estate, an inventory of which was filed September 3, 1759.
The dwelling house had been set aside for her use during her life
as her widow’s dower, which is no doubt the reason it does not
appear in the inventory. On March 3, 1760, she was appointed
guardian of her younger son Reuben, who was then fifteen years
old. The only record of the transfer of any property by her is on
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March 31, 1763, when she sold John Elton for £96:5 eight and
three quarter acres of pasture land just outside the town.

Mrs. Shaler was a churchwoman and one of the original mem-
bers of Christ Church (now Church of the Holy Trinity), which
was organized in 1750. In 1768 thirty-two members of the parish
contributed 4223 for the purchase of one acre of land, containing
a dwelling house and other buildings, situated on the southwest
corner of Church and South Main streets, for a glebe for Christ
Church. Mrs. Shaler was one of the contributors, her donation
being L. .

In the days of which we write there were a number of inns in
Middletown, the principal ones being Elisha Brewster’s, which
was next the Shaler house, and Timothy Bigelow’s, on the other side
of Main street and farther south. It sometimes happened that the
accommodations at the inns were insufficient for those who de-
sired food and shelter, and the traveler was obliged to accept the
hospitality of a private house. In this way Mrs. Shaler enter-
tained many well known persons, among them John Adams, second
President of the United States.

In June, 1771, Mr. Adams made a trip through Connecticut for
the benefit of his health and extended his journey as far as Middle-
town. During his stay there of three days he lodged under Mrs.
Shaler’s hospitable roof. Mr. Adams’ description of Middletown
and his references to Mrs. Shalerand her son Nathaniel, which are
found in his “Diary,” are worth repeating. He had ridden down
the valley of the Connecticut River, through Enfield, Windsor,
Hartford and Wethersfield, and had been struck by the beauty of
those places. Under date of June, 1771, he writes,

8. Saturday
» LJ » » L] -

Rode to Middletown and put up, for the Sabbath, at Shaler's, near the court-
house. Middletown, I think, is the most beautiful town of all. When I first
came into the town, which was upon the top of a hill, there opened before me the
most beautiful prospect of the river, and the intervals and improvements on each
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side of it, and the mountains, at about ten miles distance, both on the east and
west side of the river, and of the main body of the town at a distance. I went
down this hill and into a great gate which led me to the very banks of the river;
and on the right hand is a fine level track of interval land, as rich as the soil of
Egypt. The lots are divided by no fence, but here are strips running back at right
angles from the river ; — on one is Indian corn; on another, parallel to it, is rye;
on another, barley; on another, flax; on another, a rich burden of clover and
other English grasses. And, after riding in this enchanted meadow for some
time, you come to another gate which lets you into the main body of the town,
which is ornamented, as is the meadow I just mentioned, with fine rows of trees,
and appears to me as populous, as compact and as polite as Hartford.

* L ] » » L -
Bespoke entertainment for the Sabbath at Shaler’s, and drank tea. She brought

us in the finest and sweetest of wheat bread, and butter as yellow as gold, and
fine radishes, very good tea and sugar. I regaled without reserve.

“ ] regaled without reserve.” How quaintly he puts it and what
a delicate compliment to his hostess.

9. Sunday
L] L} L] » - L]
Looking into a little bedroom in this house, Shaler's, I found there a few books,

the Musical Miscellany, Johnson’s Dictionary, the Farmer's Letters, and the ninth
volume of Dr. Clarke's Sermons. This last I took for my Sabbath-day book.

- - L} L] L] -

Drank tea with landlady and her son, Mr. Shaler, in pretty western room;
but they are not very sociable.

[ ] L] [ ] L] L] .

Landlady has an only son, Nat. Shaler, and she is very fond and very proud
of him. He lives with a merchant; is now twenty-five or twenty-six, and con-
tents himself still to keep that merchant’s books, without any inclination to set
up for himself; is a great proficient in music, plays upon the flute, fife, harpsi-
chord, spinet, &c; associates with the youngand the gay, and is a very fine Con-
necticut young gentleman.

In 1754 St. John's Lodge of Masons was instituted in Middle-
town and for a number of years its regular communications were
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held in Mrs. Shaler’s house. A royal arch chapter was formed in
1783 according to the following record : —

We the subscribers of St. John’s Lodge, No. 2, in Middletown,
State of Connecticut, having been duly initiated into that most
sublime degree of an excellent super excellent Royal Arch Mason,
in regular constituted Royal Arch Chapters, for the purpose of
promoting the Royal Craft assembled ourselves at the Lodge
Room in said Middletown at Mrs. Abigal Schaler’s after properly
examining each other, and finding each and every one of us to
have been regularly made, agreed to form ourselves into a Royal
Arch Chapter under sanction of St. John's Lodge.

Witness our hands this sth day of Sept. A.D. 1783 and of
Royal Arch Masonry 5783.

WIiLLIAM JoYCE
WiLLiAM REDFIELD
Joun Lewis DEKovEN
Epwarp MILLER
Davip STARr

OLIVER LEWIS

The convocations of the royal arch chapter continued to be held
for many years in the lodge room at Mrs. Shaler’s.

Mrs. Shaler died June 4, 1790, and was buried in the old ceme-
tery overlooking the river. She lived a long and useful life and
died a consistent member of the church and an honored member
of the community.

Their children, all born in Middletown, were : —

1. A daughter who died young.

2. Reuben, born January 29, 1745; died unmarried July 28, 1765.

3. Nathaniel, born July 23, 1747 ; married Lucretia Ann, daughter
of William and Sarah (Hawxhurst) Denning, June 2, 1787, and
had issue; died July 2, 1817.
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INVENTORY.

An Inv of the Estate of Capt Reuben Shalor, Late of Middle-
town In the County of Hartford Dcd taken by us the Sub-
scribers Appraisen under Oath Middletown July 8th A D 1759

£ s d
1 Large China Punch Bowl o 14 O
§ Delph Cups & Saucers o 2 6
6 Large Delph Plates o 3 o
1 Small Do 3d 1 qt wht Stone Cup 1s o 1 3
1 White Tea Pott & Sugr Pott 0O 4 O
1 Blue & White Stone Cupp o 8
1 Stone Cream Pott o 4
1 Black Stone Cream Pott o 2
2 Beakr Glasses 1s 1 Glass Salt Seller 3d o 1 3
1 Wine Glass 4d 1 pint Decanter 1.6d o 1 10
1 Vinegr Cruett 4d 1 flowerd bottle 6d 10
1 pickle bottle 8d 1 tea Cannister 6d I 2
I tin pepr box 2d 1 black tin tea pott 4s 4 2
I do do 1 6
1 pewter slop bowl 1 6
1 Maple oval table 8 o
1 Small Desk 12
I pine table 4
1 large brass coffee pott 8
7 Chairs
6 do
s do old
1 Elboe Chair 1 10 11
5 Large Sild Spoons goz. 7dwt 3 2 2%
5 Sild tea Spoons & tongs 20z, 17dwt I o
1 Case with 10 bottles 10
1 Small Lookg glass ' | G 1
1 Cloaths brush 4
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$ Dozn bone knives & forks
4 Knives & 6 forks

I
I
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Small Round Table
Great Church pray book
Smaller do
Sundry books prized markd
tongs & fire shovel
55% pewter 0 1/6
pewter Spoons 1d 1 Do qt measure §s
Pt Do
tin pudn Pan
tin Cullendr 2.6 1 Do Tunnel 0.0.6
tin Caster 6d Do Sauce Pan 3d
Ladle & Skimmer
a pr Brass Seals & weights
a pr brass flatt Candle Sticks
brass Candle Stick
Irom Do Do
Lignum Vitae pestle & Mortar
Small Brass Kettle
brass Skellett & frame
brass Wash Hand Bason
Brass Warmg pan
Coppr tea Kettle
Large Brass Kettle

Do wt 121b

Do wt8 Ib
Iron Pott wt 29 Ib wth Bale
Do 201b wth Do
Small Pott
Iron Kettle 15 wt
Iron Spitt
Iron Trammells 11 lbs
pr hand Irons 17 lbs

pr tongs and peal
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2
I
1
2
¢

I
2
I
3
I
2
I

2
I

frying pan

Gridiron 4s. 1 chafen dish 6d

box iron & heaters

flesh fork 4d. 3 iron skewers 3d

pr bellowes
tin Candle box

a bolt with a claw 4d. 2 wood axes 6.6.

square table 2.6

Cloathes baskets

Do
hammer
Sives
Churn
Water pail
pails
tubb & Cag
Bowls Wood & 2 trenchers
Shoe Brush
Earthn Potts
bread tray
brass cocks
Bed wt 44 1bs & pillows 10 lbs
Underbed bedsted & Cord

1 pr sheets

-y

o N

- et et

Coverlid

Negroes Bed

Trunk

Wikor Basketts

Cupboard

Bed wt 44 1bs & 1 pr pllws
Under Bed bedsted & Cord
pr sheets

homespun Coverlid
Coverlid

Chest with a Lock
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1 Bed wt 48 1bs & 1 4-1b Bolster & Pillows
Und bed bedsted & Cord
1 pr sheets
I Rug
2 blankets
I Bed Quilt
I pr sheets
1 home Spun blanket
Bedstead & Cord
1 pr sheets
3 sheets
1 pr Cotton Sheets
1 sett Curtains & Valence head cloath & tester
1 sett Callico Curtains & Valence
5 pillow bgs
6 Napkins
4 pillow bgs
I towell
I Broadcloth Coat Waist Coat & 2 pr breeches
I quarter wagoner
2 Ruffled shirts
1 Small trunk
1 Large Do
1 Case with drawers
6 Chairs & Elboe do
2 boxes
1 Gun witht Lock
4 Oyl bottles
1 Great wheel
I Drum Rim 6s. 1 Dutch wheel 10s
4 old tbls
The Home Lot Barn & Shop
1 Lot at the Upper End of Jamaica Lane
2 Drap Table Cloaths
1 Table Cloath

365
50

137
4



1 38 THE MACDONOUGH-HACKSTAFF ANCESTRY.

2 Do old
9 towells

12 Glass Bottles

1 Iron Bound Cask
6 old Bbls & 1 hhd
1 Wood tunnell

I pickle pott

5 old bbls

1 old Small trunk

2 old Gimblets

1 hand saw 1
2

I

1

1

[

- =N 0P O\

Stone potts

Cow 3

Negroe Girl Namd Jane 20

Do Namd Violet 10
2 Sugar boxes 1
2 Small handerchifs
§ yds table linnen ‘10
2 old Wash tubbs 1
2 old bbls 1
7 yds Check at 2s : 14
% yds Cotton yarn (4%) 14
10 oz of Cotton for Candle wicks 2
£ 1b of Cotton Wool 1
3 lbs of tow yarn 4
1 1b & 2 oz of Linn Yarn 3
3 lbs of Sheeps Wool 4
2 oz of Woolen yarn
1 Book titld The Travells & Adventures of Jas
Massey

1 Cambrick Neck Cloath 8
52 Acres of Land at Bolton 104

623 18

Philip Mortimer
Joseph Wright
John Stocker
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WILLIAM DENNING.

b. April, 1740.
” { 1. June 28, 176s.

2. 1777.
d. October 30, 1819.

Among those who devoted themselves to the cause of the colo-
nies during the War of the Revolution and labored faithfully for
their success was William Denning.

The New York Genealogical and Biographical Record (XII,
180) states that he was born in Devonshire, England, but gives
no authority for the statement. The weight of family and other
evidence, however, is in favor of his having been born on the is-
land of Antigua. There were numerous Dennings there who
seem to have occupied prominent positions socially and commer-
cially. Mr. Vere Langford Oliver, in his History of Antigua,
makes frequent mention of the different members of the various
branches of the Denning family, but only twice can the writer find
any mention of the William Denning in whom we are interested,
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once when he says that William Alexander Duer married Hannah
Maria, William Denning’s youngest daughter by his wife Amy
Hawxhurst, and again when he says, “ William Denning or Dun-
ning of Antigua, born April 1740, emigrated circa 1760 to New
York. He had relations who moved to Nova Scotia, one of whom
was a Mrs. Odell.”

Among the prominent families in Antigua at that time were
the Duers, and in this connection the following letter from Mary
K. Van Rensselaer, dated September 20, 1899, is interesting : —

I wish I could prove that William Denning came from the Island of Antigua
via Nova Scotia; that he was left an orphan when about seven years old ; that
his Mother remarried Wm. Chatfield who behaved brutally to the Denning chil-
dren & possessed himself of their father's sugar plantation so that William, when
12 years old, concealed himself on a vessel & worked his way as a cabin boy to
Nova Scotia. )

The history of Antigua that I have tells this story in part but I cannot grove
that our ancestor was the son of Wm. Denning of Antigua, whose ancestor went
there from Bristol, England, about 1690, although Grandpa Duer always said his
father & Wm. Denning came from the same place & Wm. Duer came from
Antigua.

It is unfortunate that nothing.is known of his parents. The
presence of the Denning family in Antigua, however, opens a
field for future investigation in that direction.

While still quite young he made his way to New York, where
he entered the mercantile house at whose head was William
Hawxhurst, one of the most prominent and wealthy merchants of
the city. How long he remained with Mr. Hawxhurst is not
known. In 1765 he calls himself a merchant in his marriage bond,
and it is likely that he was in business for himself at that time,
although he was then but twenty-five years of age. The ability he
displayed in after life is certainly warrant enough for thinking so.
In a New York directory published in 1817 he is also described as
a merchant, from which it appears that he followed during his
life the same business as that in which he started as a young man.

At the time when William Denning came to New York political
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matters were assuming a serious aspect. Coming as he did from
a British dependency his sympathies were probably at first with
the mother country. So far as one of his years could form an
opinion on such matters, he no doubt thought England was right
in her treatment of the American colonies. He came to this
country, however, when young and alone. What family influence
there may have been became weakened by separation. His inter-
ests were transferred to a new sphere. By constant and familiar
intercourse with the leading men of the time he became imbued
with the spirit which animated the colonies and convinced of the
justice of their cause, so that when England and America came to
the parting of the ways there was no question as to his loyalty to
his adopted country.

His well known views on the rights of the colonies and his open
sympathy with the principles advocated by them caused him to be
identified with the very first concerted movements in behalf of
liberty. On October 20, 1774, the delegates to the Continental
Congress at Philadelphia signed, in behalf of themselves and their
constituents, the ¢ Association,” or agreement, by which the
colonies pledged themselves, among other things, to the non-im-
portation and non-consumption of all articles supplied by English
markets.

Soon after this was done the merchants of New York organized
a Committee of Sixty which was charged with the duty of “ carry-
ing into execution the Association entered into by the Continental
Congress,” and William Denning was elected a member thereof.
On April 26, 1775, this committee issued a call for deputies from
each county in the Province to meet in New York on Monday,
May 22, to organize a Provincial Congress.

On May 1, 1775, at a mass meeting held in the city of New
York, he was elected a member of a General Committee, or Com-
mittee of One Hundred. This committee, which superseded the
Committee of Sixty, was formed for the purpose of organizing and
carrying on the war with England, and resolved “to stand or fall
with the liberty of the continent.”
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The following items are taken from the proceedings of the
General Committee : —

May s, 1775.
“ Ordered, That Mr. Duyckinck and Mr. Denning be a Sub-

Committee to attend the sale of a parcel of Cutlery, the property
of Henry Johns, imported in December last.”

June 8, 1775.

“Ordered, That John Imlay, John Berrian, Thomas Buchannan,
William Goforth, Joseph Bull, Abraham P. Lott, Cornelius Clop-
per, and Evert Banker, be a Sub-Committee to inspect and ex-
amine into the Cargoes of any vessels which may arrive in this
Port, suspected of having goods on board not admissible.

“ QOrdered, That Daniel Phenix, Captain Bedloe, William Den-
ning and John Woodward be added to the above Committee.”

August 15, 1775.

Appointed on a committee *“to consider of the most expeditious
and effectual method of carrying into execution the Resolves of
our Provincial Congress of the ninth inst. for dividing this City
and County into Districts or Beats, and make a return of the
names of the inhabitants that by said Resolves are to serve in the
Militia.”

August 22, 1775.

William Denning and Abraham Brinkerhoff to preside at the

election of officers for the company on beat No. 7.

September 4, 1775.

“Qrdered, That Petrus Byvanck, Peter T. Curtenius, George
Janeway, and William Denning, be a Committee to purchase all
the spare Arms in the City, for the use of the Colony.”

September 6, 1775.

“Qrdered, That William Walton, William Denning, John
Broome, and Daniel Phenix, be a Committee to confer with Mr.
Livingston on the business he mentioned to the Chairman, or
any three of them.”
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November 24, 1775.
Appointed on a committee to arrest John Kelley, John Warner
and Robert Leonard’s apprentice, suspected of treachery.

December 19, 1775.
Appointed auditor of the accounts of the General Committee.

January 8, 1776.
Appointed to examine goods imported in the sloop Wanton.

January g, 1776.

Appointed on a committee to arrange for a quorum of the
General Committee to consist of 21 persons in order to facilitate
the transaction of business.

On September 2, 1775, the New York Provincial Congress found
it necessary to issue bills to the amount of $112,500 to meet the
extraordinary expenses incurred in behalf of the general safety of
the colony. Fifteen prominent men were appointed to sign the
bills, one of whom was William Denning. The bills were of differ-
ent denominations and each one had to be signed by any three
of the Committee of Fifteen.

On account of the unsettled state of the country generally in
1775, and the disturbed condition of the city itself, some sort of
military protection became necessary to guard against dangers
both from without and within. Accordingly the city was divided
into beats, or districts, and a military company was formed for the
protection of each. One of these was a body of foot called the
“Independents.”” On August 29 of this year (1775) William
Denning was elected second lieutenant of the fifteenth beat! com-
pany of the “Independents” and received his commission Sep-
tember 15. The company was commanded by Captain Henry
Remsen, who was afterwards raised to the rank of colonel and

1No. 15. Begins at Mrs. Marshall’s corner, in Hanover Square, running along the southeast
side of Smith Street to the corner of the block in Maiden Lane; thence along the southwest
side of said lane to Queen Street; thence along the northwest side of Queen Street and Han-
over Square, ending at Mrs, Marshall's corner, the Sloat, Wall Street and King Street
inclusive,
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was succeeded in the command of the company by his second
lieutenant, who, in the Journal of the New York Provincial Con-
gress, of which he was elected a member the following year, and
in the proceedings of the General Committee is constantly men-
tioned thereafter as “ Captain " Denning.

That there was some difficulty in securing trustworthy persons
to perform the duty of a military guard throughout the city appears
from the following entry in the Journal of the Provincial Congress
under date of January 24, 1776:—

Messrs. Low, Bancker, John Reade and Denning, a Sub-Committee from the
City Committee attending, were admitted. They informed this committee, that
they were charged with two different matters from the Committee of the City. —
The one, that the military night watch in this city is very frequently not to be de-
pended on, — That it very frequently happens, that the Captains or Officers do
not know the greater part of the Ground, ard that there are some Companies
many of which are not trustworthy, and Mr. Denning said, that when he lately
had the care of the guard, he had many persons in his guard to whom he could
not think it prudent to communicate the countersign, — That the City Committee
are of opinion, that the most proper method to guard this City is to raise a
Regiment in this City in Continental pay; and Mr. Denning alleges, that there
is a great number of men in this City, who would willingly enlist for that purpose
provided they can be ascertained, that they will not be ordered out of the Colony
on any Continental duty.

On February 20, 1776, although he was then but thirty-six years
old, he was elected to the Second New York Provincial Congress
to represent the'city and county of New York. He served as a
member of that body during the balance of its session, which
lasted from November 14, 1775, to May 13, 1776, and was one of
the Committee of Safety which sat March 18, 1776, during an ad-
journment of the Congress. He was also a member of the Third
Provincial Congress, which lasted from May 14, 1776, to June
30, 1776.

On July g, 1776, five days after the Declaration of Independence,
the governing body, to which he had been elected for the third
time, once more assembled. While New York was a province
this body had called itself the Provincial Congress. Now that
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New York was a state, it took the name of the Convention of the
Representatives of the State of New York. The Convention
lasted from July o9, 1776, to May 13, 1777. On account of the
insecurity of the times, however, there were very frequent inter-
ruptions, during each of which affairs were in the hands of a
Committee of Safety appointed by the Convention. Mr. Denning
was appointed a member of one of these committees on September
18, 1776.

As a member of the Provincial Congress and of the Convention
his keen and vigorous mind found a wide field of usefulness in
assisting to solve the delicate and intricate questions which con-
fronted them. He is constantly mentioned in the Journal of the
proceedings of both bodies as being present at the meetings, tak-
ing part in the deliberations and serving on various committees,
the most important of which were the Auditing Committee and the
Marine Committee. The former audited all the accounts of the
Congress and the latter had charge of all marine matters pertaining
to the war.

The  Auditing Committee, which was created and on which he
was appointed March 11, 1776, was a particularly important one.
It was directed to not only examine the accounts of the treasurer
of the Provincial Congress, but to separate those items therein
which were of a Continental character from those which were
merely Provincial, in order that New York might be reimbursed
for moneys expended or advanced on Continental account.

The following extracts are from the Journals of the Provincial
Congress and Convention and are interesting as showing the active
part Mr. Denning took in the affairs of both bodies : —

February 21, 1776.

“The committee of the city of New-York, in pursuance of the
order of this Congress of the 13th inst. returned that they had
caused an election to be held at the City Hall on the 2oth inst.
for seven Deputies to serve in this Provincial Congress with the
other Deputies of the city and county of New-York. That there-
upon Messrs. Adrian Rutgers, Abm. P. Lott, Is. Stoutenburgh,
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Evert Bancker, Thos. Randall, Saml. Prince and Wm. Denning
were duly elected.

“QOrdered, That the said return be filed, and that those gentle-
men be requested to take their seats immediately.”

* » - - L] »

“Ordered, That Mr. Van Zandt, Mr. Beekman, Mr. Sands and
Capt. Denning, be a committee to examine and state all the ac-
counts, disbursements and payments made by the Treasurer of
this Congress; that they make particular distinction between con-
tinental and Provincial charges; that they be authorized to call
to their assistance Mr. Gerard Bancker and Col. Curtenius, when
necessary and to employ at the expense of this Congress one or
more such clerks as they shall think necessary, and that they
report their proceedings with all possible dispatch.”

February 26, 1776.

“QOrdered, That Mr. Denning and Mr. Abm. Yates be a com-
mittee to apply to John De Lancey for the use of the said house,
and make report thereon with all convenient speed.”

(The house referred to belonged to John De Lancey and the
Congress desired to use it for a hospital.)

March 11, 1776.

“Ordered, That Mr. Van Zandt, Capt. Denning, Mr. Beekman,
Colo. Brasher and Mr. Sands, be a committee to compose a pay
table, for the purpose of auditing all the accounts against the
treasury of this Congress. That they, or any three of them, do
endorse every account they shall pass; that such endorsement be
a sufficient voucher to the Treasurer for the payment of such ac-
counts. That the said committee do enter in a book or books, to
be by them kept for the purpose, a regular account of all the ac-
counts by them passed. That they be empowered to hire and em-
ploy one able and sufficient clerk, and a room for the purpose;
and that this Congress will make provisions for the payment
thereof. That they be directed to make a separation in the
Treasurer’s accounts, between those that are of a Continental
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nature and those that are merely Provincial, and keep them in a
proper state to be transmitted to the Continental Congress, when
thereunto directed by this Congress or the Committee of Safety.
That they lay before this Congress, or Committee of Safety, a
state of the accounts of this Colony from time to time, as they
shall be thereunto required. That the said committee be allowed
a reasonable compensation for their services.”

L] L] ® L] * L]

“Ordered, That Mr. Randall, Mr. Rutgers and Capt. Denning,
Mr. Van Zandt and Mr. Hallet, be and they are hereby appointed
a marine committee with full powers to take such measures and
give such directions, and employ such persons for the protection
or advantage of trade as they may think proper, useful or neces-
sary; that they apply to this Congress when they may be in
doubt, or want advice or directions; that they be empowered to
keep such matters secret as they think necessary, until they are
executed ; and that the said marine committee have the charge,
care and direction of fitting out the sloop Biskop, according to
the order made on the instant ; that they be also authorized
to give directions as to all imports already arrived, or that may
arrive in any of the Colonies on the account of this Colony, and that
any three or more of them be a quorum for the purposes aforesaid.”

March 18, 1776.

‘Capt. Denning produced a certificate, dated 14th instant,
signed by Abraham Purdy, chairman of the sub-committee, at
Peekskill, that Capt. Albert Sevrin had given bond, with security,
to offer the following quantity of provision for sale to the Presi-
dent of the Provincial Congress, the chairman of the Committee
of Safety, or to dispose of it to the friends of liberty, to wit:
18 bbls. beef, 19 firkins of lard, 1400 bushls of wheat, which
Capt. Denning says are his property.

“Capt. Denning also produced another certificate of the like
tenor and date, that bond of the like tenor and date had been
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given for 16 barrels of beef, 2 do. tallow, 51 pork hams, 41 pieces
dried beef, 27 firkins lard. The said quantities of provisions and
other articles were offered for sale to the Committee of Safety.
Certificates thereof were given to the said Sevrin, and permits to
land them.”

June 11, 1776.

“Ordered, That Mr. Sands, Mr. Denning and Mr. Ten Broeck,
be a committee to enquire into and report the state of the maga-
zines in this Colony, and what quantity of powder is due from the

Colony.”

June 13, 1776.
“Ordered, That Mr. Sands and Capt. Denning be a committee

to wait on Genl. Washington and ascertain whether he will have
further occasion for the attendance of five commissioners now at
the forts in the Highlands, and also whether the company of
minute men from Orange county militia now at those fortifications,
may not be discharged.

“ And Whereas it is represented to this Congress that the men
of Col. Ritzema’s regiment cannot procure their pay, and that
they are mutinous for want of it. Therefore,

“Ordered, That Capt. Denning and Mr. Sands be a committee
to call on Col. Ritzema to know why his men are not paid.”

* » * * » *

“Capt. Denning and Mr. Sands, the committee appointed to
call on Genl. Washington, returned and reported, that the General
has, or will have, an engineer at the fortifications in the Highlands,
and says he will not have occasion for the further service of the
commissioners there, as he will take the sole direction of those
fortifications ; that such minute men as are employed at those
fortifications (only as minute men) may be discharged; but that
none who are enlisted as Continental troops in Capt. Wisner's
company be discharged.”
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August 16, 1776.

Friday morning.
Sir — The bearer of this is Capt. Exceen, of the brig Friendship, loaded by
me in April last, by direction of a committee of Continental Congress, with wheat
and flour for Lisbon. He is returned with his brig to Fire island inlet, with a
load of salt. He had orders to apply to the Convention of whatever State he

arrived at on his return to this Continent. He now waits your directions.

Your most hble. servt,

WILLIAM DENNING.

P.S. He left Lisbon 7 weeks 4 days ago this day. Capt. Exceen says his
cargo consists of 197 moys of salt, on board on account of the Continental Con-
gress; that he had medicines on board (three or four hogsheads) belonging to
Thos. Graat, shipped by Long, about or between 3 or £400 sterling.

To Abraham Yates, Junr. Esqr. Chairman of the Convention of the State of
New-York, at Harlem.

“Resolved, That Captain Ecceen be and is hereby directed to
deliver the Continental salt, now on board of his vessel at Fire
island inlet, to the Commissary-General, or his order.

“ Ordered, That a copy of the aforegoing resolution be served
on Capt. Ecceen, and that one other copy thereof, with a copy of
Capt. Denning’s letter to this Convention, be’ immediately sent by
Capt. Ecceen to Joseph Trumbull Esqr, the Commissary-General.”

» * * * * *

“ Capt. Denning informed the Convention that William Fund-
ran, the pilot, had informed him that the navigation of the East
river may be very easily obstructed between the Battery and Nut-
ten island ; that Fundran farther informed him that the depth of
water at a particular place which he could point out, did not ex-
ceed 5 fathoms ; and that the navigation could be obstructed in 4
hours after proper vessels are prepared for that purpose.

“Ordered, That Capt. Denning wait on His Excellency, Genl.
Washington, and give him the above information; and that
William Fundran is one of our best pilots ; and that Capt. Den-
ning further inform His Excellency that it will be agreeable to the
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wishes of this Convention, that the navigation of the East river
should be there obstructed, if he shall think it advantageous for
the defence of this State.”

August 17, 1776.
HARLEM, Aug. 17, 1776.

Sir — Mr. Denning hath made the Convention acquainted with your Ex-
cellency’s sentiments upon obstructing the navigation of the East River between
the grand battery and Governor’s Island. We now take the liberty of enclosing
the copy of our resolution for that purpose, which, together with this letter, will
be handed to your Excellency by the gentlemen of the committee, to whom we
make no doubt, sir, you will afford every assistance in your power.

I have the honor to be &c.
September 18, 1776.

“ Resolved, That Colo. Broome and Captain Denning be, and
are hereby appointed members of the committee of safety and
correspondence, for that part of this State which lies below the
Highlands; that they be requested immediately to attend that
business; and that Capt. Denning, on his way to attend this Con-

vention, to receive instructions for the said Committee.”

December 3, 1776.
Treasury Office
PHILADELPHIA, Novr. 21st, 1776

Honourable Gentlemen — The Commissioners for adjusting the accounts of
the army at New-York and the Jerseys, under the command of General Wash-
ington, are now engaged in executing that business, and are in immediate want
of all the accounts of advances made by the several States for paying or subsist-
ing the said army.

I am therefore to request you to order an account of such advances by your
State to be forthwith transmitted to the commissioners, that the proper stoppages
may be made, and the State reimbursed accordingly.

When the accounts are prepared, you will please to order them to William
Denning, Thomas Smith and James Stephenson, Esqrs, or either of them, at
Head-Quarters at New-York or the Jerseys.

I have the honour to be, in the name of the superintendents of the Treasury,
honourable gentlemen,

Your most obd. hble. servt.
JoHN GIBSON, Awuditor-General.
January 14, 1778.
“ Whereas the Continental Congress in and by certain resolu-
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tions of the 22nd day of November last, have recommended to the
Legislature, or in their recess, to the executive power of the
respective States of New-Hampshire, Massachusetts Bay, Rhode
Island and Providence Plantations, Connecticut, New-York, New-
Jersey, Pennsylvania and Delaware, respectively to appoint com-
missioners to convene at New-Haven, in Connecticut, on the 15th
day of January then next, in order to regulate and ascertain the
price of labour, manufacture, internal produce, and manufactures
imported from foreign parts, military stores excepted ; and also to
regulate the charge of innholders ; and that on report of the com-
missioners, each of their respective Legislatures enact suitable
laws as well for the enforcing such of the regulations as they shall
ratify, and enabling such innholders to obtain the necessary supplies
as to authorize the purchasing commissaries of the army or any
other person whom the Legislature may think proper, to take from
any engrossers, forestallers, or other persons possessed of a large
quantity of any such commodities or provisions than shall be com-
petent for the private annual consumption of their families, and
who shall refuse to sell the supplies at the prices to be ascertained
as aforesaid, paying only such prices for the same,

*“ Resolved, That William Floyd, Comfort Sands, Peter T.
Curtenius and William Denning, Esquires, be and they are hereby
nominated and appointed commissioners, to attend at the said
meeting or convention, on behalf of this State, with full power and
authority to them or a majority of such of them, as shall from time
to time attend, so as there shall be at least two attending, to
represent this State, to do and transact all business necessary to
be done and transacted in the said meeting or Convention, on the
part of this State, touching the several matters mentioned in the
said resolutions, saving and reserving nevertheless to the Legisla-
ture of this State a right to ratify and adopt such of the regula-
tions and measures to be prepared and concluded on at the said
meeting or convention, as they shall deem proper and expedient.”

Mr. Denning seems to have had a genius for figures. We have
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seen that within a short time after his election to the Provincial
Congress he was appointed on a committee wherea clear head
and a thorough knowledge of accounts were indispensable. The
financial ability displayed by him as a member of that committee
was so marked that on July 19, 1776, the Continental Congress
elected him one of the three commissioners to settle the accounts
of the army under Washington at New York and in the Jerseys.
The following instructions were issued by Congress for the guid-
ance of the commissioners in settling the accounts : —

Gentlemen, — You are appointed commissioners by this Congress, to liquidate
the accounts of the army in You will, therefore, proceed immedi-
ately to and apply to general to direct all persons, who
have been engaged in transacting public business, to lay their accounts before
you. In your examination, you will observe the utmost exactness; taking care
not to allow any accounts for which proper vouchers are not produced. No
officer is permitted to hold two commissions; consequently, is not to receive
pay for two.

Every colonel of a battalion ought to produce muster-rolls, certified by the
muster-master, or such other person as may have been appointed by the com-
manding officer, to muster the men, of the number his battalion, from time
to time consisted of.

No allowance of pay, or rations, is to be made to any officer for men who have
not been actually in the continental service.

If, in the settlement of these accounts, you shall discover any frauds to have
been practised, or abuses committed by misapplication of public monies, you
shall take particular notice of them, and make special report to the committee
of treasury. When you have completed this business, you are to transmit a copy
of your proceedings, with accounts, to the committee of treasury to be by them
finally adjusted and discharged.

The work of settling these accounts was not finished until the
end of 1777. In January or February, 1778, he was appointed
commissioner of accounts at Hartford, Connecticut, but declined
to serve. On January 4, 1778, he was appointed by the Conven-
tion of Representatives of the State of New York one of the four
commissioners from that state to meet in joint convention at New
Haven on January 15, with the commissioners from New Hamp-
shire, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, New Jersey,
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Pennsylvania and Delaware, “in order to regulate and ascertain
the price of labour, manufacture, internal produce, and manufac-
tures imported from foreign parts, military stores excepted; and
also to regulate the charge of innholders.” The Convention was
called at the suggestion of Congress and a report of its proceed-
ings was made to that body, of which report Mr. Denning was one
of the signers. His acceptance of the appointment as a com-
missioner thereto probably prevented his accepting that of commis-
sioner of accounts at Hartford.

On March 30, 1778, he was appointed by Congress one of the
“ commissioners of accounts at the Board of Treasury.” This
position he held until that board was reorganized in the latter part
of 1779. On April 28, 1780, Congress paid a high compliment to
his financial ability by electing him one of the commissioners of
the Board of Treasury. This Board was composed of five com-
missioners, two of whom were members of Congress, and had
entire charge of the national finances. The administration of the
affairs of the treasury had been in the hands of somewhat similar
boards since 1776, but by 1781 it was found that a more concrete
form of financial administration was necessary, and on February
20 of that year Congress voted to place Robert Morris at the head
of the Treasury Department with the title of * Superintendent
of Finance.”

Mr. Morris did not definitely accept the office, however, until
May 7, 1781, and he then requested the Board of Treasury to con-
tinue to serve until he could disengage himself from his private
business. For some months, therefore, there was a mixed admin-
istration of the finances, both the Board and Mr. Morris sharing
therein, and this lasted until September 20, 1781, when the latter
took entire control of the Treasury Department. In a report to
Congress soon after Mr. Morris paid a graceful tribute to the
members of the Board of Treasury whom he had succeeded when
he wrote, “ genius and judgement have undoubtedly been displayed
by the Board to whom Congress entrusted their affairs.”

On February 27, 1782, Congress passed a resolution that the
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where their presence graced many a scene of colonial hospitality.
Mrs. Denning was a handsome and accomplished woman and a
graceful hostess, equally at home in managing her household,
educating her children, or receiving the compliments of the
dignified Commander-in-Chief or the courtly Frenchman.

In a very interesting letter written by Mr. Denning’s grand-
daughter, Mrs. Van Rensselaer, just before her death in 1897, she
says, in speaking of her grandfather,

He was very intimate with General Washington ; was much with him when his
headquarters were at Newburgh; used often to go with him to Fishkill town to
review the troops there. . . . My father was then a boy and would often cross
the river with them to a place, afterwards our home, opposite Newburgh, and
there wait until their return from the village. A big oak tree still stands on the
spot where the ferry then came in, and he remembered well their waiting under
its shadow for the horses sent down from the village for them.

Mr. Denning was a member of the Church and, with Pierre Van
Cortlandt, was elected in 1793 warden of St. Peter’s Church,
Peekskill, N. Y., which was incorporated in 1791. Mr. Denning
and Jarvis Dusenberry were the first delegates from this parish to
the diocesan convention the same year (1791).

At the close of the war the family returned to the Wall street
dwelling in New York. Some time after they moved to 341 Broad-
way, where they were living at the time of Mr. Denning’s death
in 1819.

It wgs during the Convention of 1776-7 that the Constitution of
the State of New York was prepared and adopted. That instru-
ment provided that the legislative functions of the state should be
vested in an Assembly and a Senate. Both these bodies convened
soon after the dissolution of the Convention, May 13, 1777. Mr.
Denning represented the city and county of New York in the
Assembly in the eighth session, 1784~5 ; ninth session, 1786 ; tenth
session, 1787 ; and twenty-first session, 1798. He represented the
Southern District in the Senate from the twenty-second session,
1798, to the thirty-first session, 1808, inclusive, eleven years.

He was one of the subscribers to the shares of the famous old
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Tontine Coffee House, founded in 1792. Among other names
which appear with his own on the list of original subscribers are
those of Henry Cruger, John R. Livingston, Frederick Jay, John
Alsop, Jacob F. Sebor, John Jacob Astor and Nicholas Fish, Mr.
Barrett, in his “ Old Merchants of New York City,” after giving
the names of the original subscribers, says,

That is an aristocratc list. Those who have ancestors whose signatures grace
the Declaration of Independence may point to them with pride, but not more so
than the descendants of the Signers to the Tontine Shares.

They were the créme of the créme of New York society. They were the
founders of our great commercial city, and their names should be honored as
long as the city endures. :

On January 4, 1799, Mr. Denning was appointed a member of
the Council of Appointment. This Council was composed of four
senators, one from each district, nominated and appointed each
year by the Assembly. The appointees of the Council were a
chancellor and the judges of the Supreme Court.

So far as can be ascertained William Denning’s last public serv-
ices were rendered as a New York State senator in 1808. In
1809 he was elected a representative to the Eleventh Federal
Congress, but resigned before taking his seat. He was then in his
seventieth year. During the stormy days of the Revolution and
in the calmer days which followed, he had given freely of his time
and talents to the public service and had fairly earned the right to
stand aside and let the burden of public duty rest on younger
shoulders.

He was one of the directors of the Bank of New York, capital
$950,000, and a director of the New York Insurance Company,
capital $500,000. He was also one of the trustees of the New
York Society Library, one of the governors of the New York
Hospital, a director of the Western Inland Lock Navigation
Company, and an honorary member of “The Marine Society in
the City of New York, in the State of New York,” being elected
in 1772. (For a description of this Society see page 28). He



158 THE MACDONOUGH-HACKSTAFF ANCESTRY.

retained his interest in business affairs up to the time of his death,
and his faculties were unimpaired and active to the last.

He died at the family residence, 341 Broadway, Saturday,
October 30, 1819, and was buried in St. Paul’s churchyard. On
the stone erected in loving memory by his children is this
inscription : —

A tender affectionate Parent
A benevolent indulgent Friend
An enlightened liberal disinterested Patriot.

His granddaughter, Mrs. Van Rensselaer, in the letter already
mentioned, gives this description of him : —

He was a man of medium stature, rather tall than short, slightly built, light
hair and blue eyes, and a very pleasant, attractive countenance; very kind and
gentle in his manner, generally beloved, liberal with his money, kind to the poor.
He always went to the Episcopal Church. I do notknow if he was a member of
it or not. Very courteous in his manner; a gentleman of the old school. Of
his means he gave liberally to the war.

William Denning’s life covered a period of intense interest in
the history of our country. He had seen the gathering, the
breaking and the passing of the tempest which transformed
colonies into states and states into a Union. Through it all he
stood shoulder to shoulder with the sturdy patriots whose names
are a part of the history of the Republic. It was much to have
been a friend of Washington, the soldier-statesman ; of Lafayette,
the gallant Frenchman, and a host of others whose names are
synonymous with loyalty and patriotism; and it is pleasant to
think that his own character and ability was such as to gain their
friendship and merit their esteem.

Mr. Denning was twice married, His first wife was Sarah,
daughter of William and Anne (Pratt) Hawxhurst, born November
27, 1740, whom he married June 28, 1765. After her death,
which occurred October 14, 1776, he married, in 1777, Amy,
widow of Phineas McIntosh and also daughter of William and
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Anne (Pratt) Hawxhurst. She died May 7, 1808. Both Sarah
and Amy were highly educated and accomplished women.

Following is the record made by Mr. Denning in the family
bible : —

New YoRrk, 28th June, 176s.

William Denning aged 25 years and 2 months married to Sarah
Hawxhurst, 2nd daughter of William Hawxhurst of New York,
Merchant. She being aged 24 years and 9 months.
Issue.
ist. Lucretia Ann, born 26th May 1766, married at the family
residence in Wall Street to Nathaniel Shaler of Middletown
Connecticut 2nd June 1787.

2nd. Charles, born 21st August 1767, died 8th August 1768.

3rd. William, born 1i1th September 1768, married to Catherine
Smith, born 13th November 1770, second daughter of Thomas
Smith Esq., Counsellor-at-law, 3rd November 1794.

4th. Sally Hawxhurst Denning, born 22nd January 1770, died
21st November 1770.

sth. Philip, born 2gth July, 1772, died 14th August 1773.

6th. Sarah, born 24th April 1775, married to William Hender-
son in New York, 11th June 1798.

Sarah, wife of said William Denning, departed this life on
Monday the 14th day of October 1776, at one o'clock and ten
minutes P.M., aged 35 years, 10 months and 17 days, at the then
family dwelling in the Town of New Cornwall, in the county of
Orange, a place purchased of James Peters for a retreat for my
family during the Revolutionary War and by me named Salisburgh.

The following year the said William married to Amy McIntosh
widow of Phineas Mclntosh, Merchant. She being a younger
sister of his first wife and about 7 years younger than himself.

Issue of this marriage being :
1st. Amy Amelia, born 6th June 1778 at the said Salisburgh

residence, married in New York to James Gillespie, Merchant,
on Sunday 2oth April 1806. ‘
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2nd. Hannah Maria, born at the said .Salisburgh residence 27th
September 1782, married at Beverly Farm to William Duer,
son of the late Col. William Duer, on Thursday 11th Septem-
ber 1806.

3rd. Charles, born in New York at the family dwelling in Wall
Street, 13th April 1785. After being in the Counting house
of Minturn and Champlin, Merchants, he sailed on Sunday
11th May, 1806, in their ship Eolus, Capt. Mather, for the Cape
of Good Hope and Canton. He left the Cape 3oth Septem-
ber, sickened at sea and after five weeks extreme illness he
arrived at Canton about 24th December, when he landed and
to our infinite sorrow died on the 1oth January 1807, how
much to be lamented by his family and friends. He had no
vice.

Amy, 2nd wife of said William departed this life on Saturday
the 7th May 1808, affectionately attended and surrounded by the
loved children of her sister and her own, Mrs. Shaler, Mrs. Hen-
derson, Mrs. Gillespie and Mrs. Duer, at 5§ o'clock P.M. in the
sixty-first year of her age. On Sunday the 8th the funeral pro-
cession took place from the family residence 341 Broadway, to St.
Paul’s Church, from whence her remains were removed to be de-
posited (at her particular request) at the Beverly Farm to which
place she was attended by Mr. Henderson, Mr. Gillespie, Son
William, Mr. Thomas Hay and myself and interred with the most
respectful solemnity attended also by many of our sorrowing neigh-
bors of the vicinity.

(Note BY LUcrReETIA ANN (DENNING) SHALER.)

The record closes by the departure from this world of its
revered writer, William Denning, in Oct. 1819, in the eightieth
year of his age. Lamented by all who knew him, his universal
philanthropy rendering him beloved by all, but inexpressibly dear
was he to his children, to whose comfort and happiness he was
devotedly and invariably solicitous. This small tribute to his ex-
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cellence is very inadequate to the enjoyments and blessings be-
stowed on the writer of this, the eldest child of this most valued
parent.

MARRIAGE BOND.

Know all men by these presents, that we William Denning of
New York mercht and Peter Bard of the said city mercht are held
and firmly bound unto our Sovereign Lord George the Third by
the grace of God of Great Britain, France and Ireland king, de-
fender of the faith &c. in the sum of five hundred pounds, current
money of the province of New York, to be paid to his Majesty or
his heirs and successors : for the which payment well and truly to
be made and done we do bind ourselves and each of us, our and
each of our heirs, executors and administrators and every of them,
firmly by these presents. Sealed with our seals, dated the 28th
day of June in the fifth year of his said Majesty’s reign. Annoque
Domini one thousand seven hundred and sixty-five.

The condition of this obligation is such that whereas the above-
bounden William Denning hath obtained a license of marriage for
himself of the one part and Sarah Hawkshurst of the city of New
York, spinster, of the other party. Now if it shall not appear
hereafter, that they or either of the said William Denning and
Sarah Hawkshurst have any lawful let or impediment of pre-
contract, affinity or consanguinity to hinder their being joined in
the holy bands of matrimony and afterwards their living together
as man and wife; then this obligation to be .void and of none
effect, or else to stand, remain, abide and be in full force and
virtue.

Sealed and delivered in Wm Denning

the presence of Peter Bard
Edward Smith
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EXTRACTS FROM LETTERS OF WILLIAM DENNING
TO HIS DAUGHTER, LUCRETIA ANN (DENNING)
SHALER.

BrvERLY, 1788.

We had a most pleasing agreeable passage; all went smoothly, not one un-

pleasant countenance on board. You would have thought the new constitution

had actually taken place ! or had been forgotten. We landed about eleven o'clock

that night; the Governor® and several of our fellow passengers accompanied us

up to Beverly where you may be sure we prepared a cold collation for them and
to some it proved a pretty warm one, we parted about two.

BEVERLY, July 22, 1788.

I am here so very indifferent about conventions and new constitutions that I
know not what is doing at Poughkeepsie until informed by your brother from
town though 6o miles nearer Poughkeepsie so entirely does the farm occupy my
time and attention. Who would have thought it.

August, 1788.

1 make a weekly visit in my little boat to Peekskill to despatch and receive
letters.

New Yorxk, Sept. 6, 1788.

The rage for mending and beautifying streets at last extends to stoops. I
have with much pains and importunity saved this street from being very much
disfigured and have this day been obliged to defend my little inoffensive iron
stoop with all my rhetoric, which however has been successful. You will
hardly know our street so much altered, and I am obliged to own much for the
better, but the rage seems to pervade all parts of the town.

I have lately begun to destroy whole bundles of letters and papers of former
days. Many juvenile correspondents had letters carefully filed. Some I am sure
would do none of us much credit. Some from De Peyster, Peter Bard, Peter
Van Shaack and others, most of which have been committed to the flames, but
a file of letters from Dr. John Jones being Historical, Philosophical, sentimental
and friendly I have perserved. They contain many anecdotes relating to the
war well worth preserving. They will be useful to some future historian.

1812.

In the gloomy part of our revolution General Washington told myself and

Judge Fell that all would end well; we should beat our enemy but God only

knew how. So with the present state of the world, it is for the benefit of suffer-
ing humanity but ¢ God only knows how.’

1 Ratified July 26, 1788, 3 George Clinton.
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1813.
1 have always been convinced that this country and Great Britain should ever
be united in the bonds of friendship but we ought never to be compelled by the
bullying administration of that Nation to submit to her control. On terms of
reciprocity only should the two natious be friends.
Feb., 1814.
Peace heals all our wounds and in my opinion the United States have gained
everything a young spirited Nation could wish, a high reputation among the
nations worth millions more than the combat has cost, as well as lives. The
Indians, too, are silenced forever. It has been observed by some letter writers
from Ghent that the Treaty flagged until news of Commodore Macdonough’s
victory arrived, when it was shortly finished. Illy as I think the Britains deserve
our friendship I am now willing to adopt King Charles’ maxim for the conduct of
his son Charles, not to repeat grievances.
Oct. g, 1814.
Capt. McDonough is probably with you at this moment. His Country will
bear him in respectful remembrance, and I most sincerely do. We have already
been acquainted and he was on my list of modest unassuming worthy men.
Tell him he has much to encounter in the universal applause of his Country but
he must submit because he has brought it on himself. You and I differ widely
as to the manner Capt. Macdonough has been mentioned in the President’s mes-
sage. It is the language of the head of Government which never should lead to
Hyperbole or affectation. It was enough for him to speak of the victory; the
Legislature and bis Country to acknowledge the individual merit. It is the
most decent way of executive communication of such interesting facts. Yet are
you not alone in your censure of the manner. I have heard the same remarks
from others. :
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LUDWIG ALBERTUS HERKERSDORF.

4. before 1726.

m. 1753 (probably).
d. after July, 1776.

Luowiec ALBERTUS HERKERSDORF was, so far as can be ascer-
tained, the first of his name to come to this country. Very little
is known concerning him. From a curious old document in pos-
session of one of his descendants, Mrs. Jacob Lockman, of New
York city, we learn that he lived at Alstadt, or the Old Town,
Germany. This old document is a permit for sAnna Elisabetha
Weid to leave her home and go to Alstadt, the residence of Lud-
wig Albertus Herkersdorf, her intended husband.

Following is a translation of the document which -was very
kindly fumished the writer by Alfred B. Nichols, A.B, D.B., In-
structor in German at Harvard University.

Whereas Anna Elisabetha Weid of Emmertzhaussen, District
Friedewald, is minded to marry Ludwig Albertus Herkersdoxf in
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the Old Town, also to move from there and to her husband, ard
therefore has applied in due form for the granting of the neces-
sary permit for change of residence, and no objection has Been
found to granting her request : Therefore, by virtue of this on the
part of the Chancellory, the desired permit is granted the peti-
tioner. Signed and sealed with the customary subscription ot’%?e‘
Chancellory and with seal affixed.
Altenkirchen, 18 May 1753.
( )

( ) Registrar and Couricilman,

Accompanying the translation was the following letter from
Mr. Nichols: —

The lady’s name was in all probability #eid, Weidin being the form used by
the femidle members of the family. Her husband’s name is perfectly clear ex-
capt the second letter which may be an 4 but is probably an . There is hardly
room for an g and what is left is precisely like the other wors ¢'s. The uader-
lined words are in Roman script.

Of the signature none of us can make anything intelligible. Emmertzhaussen
is a village near Altenkirchen in the (now) Prussian province of Nassau.

It would seem from this document that Ludwig Albertus
Herkersdorf and Anna Elisabetha Weid were both natives of
Germany and were probably married in 1753. The date of their
coniing to this country is not known, but it was probably soon
after their marriage, certainly before 1757, for their son Lodo-
wick was born here in that year.

The family settled at either Stony Brook or Setauket, in the
township of Brookhaven, Suffolk County, Long Island, on a large
farm. The head of the family is reputed to have been a man of
¢onsiderable means and to have owned a large number of slaves.
Family tradition seems to be in error, however, respecting the
slaves, for a census of the inhabitants of Suffolk County in 1776
shows that he owned no slaves at all.

It frequently happened that the names of the early immigrants

P
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to this country, particularly those of French, German and
Swedish extraction, were so changed within a few years after
their arrival here as, in some cases, to be scarcely recogniza-
ble. The name of our ancestor was no exception to the rule,
In August, 1775, he appears as “ Lodowick Hackstaff.” Later
in the same month he signs himself “ Luddewick Hacstaff.” In
July, 1776, he is put down as “ Ludwick Hackstaf.” In Febru-
ary, 1780, his wife signed herself ¢ Elizabeth Hackstaff.” This
form of the name is very like that used by a Dutch family now
living near Haarlem in Holland, which is ‘Haakstaf.” The
similarity between the Dutch name and the anglicized German
name may be something more than a curious coincidence and
suggests a field for future investigation.

Were the town records of Brookhaven complete between 1750
and 1798, considerable information of an interesting character
concerning our ancestor could no doubt be secured. Unfortu-
nately the records are fragmentary prior to 1798 and those parts
of them which have been printed contain no mention of him.

A portion of his life covered a period of intense interest in the
history of our country —the Revolution. The writer finds that
Lodowick’s sympathies were not altogether with his adopted
country. In April, 1775, the inhabitants of New York city
adopted what they termed a “General Association’’ which outlined
briefly the attitude they thought they ought to take regarding
the course of England towards the colonies. This Association?
was circulated in Suffolk County in May, and both Lodowick
and his son Lodowick, Junior, declined to sign it. On May 17,
1775, both he and his son also declined to join with the First
Company of Brookhaven militia, of which they were members, in
electing a delegate to the Provincial Congress at New York..
The names of both father and son likewise appear in “A List of
the names of such as have not signed the Association within the
limits of the First Company of Militia for Brookhaven " dated
August 3, 1775. On August 14, however, ‘“after a mature con-

1The Association is given in full on page 98.
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sideration of the bad consequences of their remaining in opposi-
tion to the measures pursued by the Continental Congress,” both
Lodowick and his son signed the Association.!

The reluctance of the elder Hackstaff to declare himself un-
equivocally in favor of the principles advocated by the colonies
was probably due not so much
to his loyalty to King George
as to a passive acquiescence, ww W
characteristic of his race, in the
“divine right” of kings to tax
whomever and whatever they
might wish. He does not appear to have taken any part in the
war which followed. He was then over 50 years old and his age,
apart from any other reason, would probably have prevented his
participating therein.

In July, 1776, a census was taken of the inhabitants of Suffolk
County in which “ Ludwick Hackstaf ” appears as an inhabitant
of Brookhaven, north of the “ County Road,” with the following
tabulated information : —

Signature to the Brookhaven (Long Island) Asso-
ciation, August 14, 1775.

Males above 50 years of age .
" ” '6 " ” ” .
,, under 16 ,, ,, ,, .
Ludwick Hackstaf ( Females above 16 years of age
» underié6 ,, ,, ,,
Negroes above 16 ,, ,, ,,
»» underié6 ,, ,, ,, . . -

This simple statement furnishes us with considerable informa-
tion. First, as he was over 50 years of age in 1776, he must
have been born before 1726. Again, as there were no other male
members in his family above or under 16 years of age, his sons
Lodowick and John must have left Brookhaven, John probably
accompanying his brother to Sing Sing, Westchester County,
N. Y. It also shows that his daughter Abigail had already
married John Hallock of Stony Brook, and that his daughter

1 See page 99 for letter to Provinclal Congress transmitting list of signers.
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Elizabeth had probably gone with hér two brothers to Sing Sing,
unmarried, for the name of her husband, John Dimon or Dimond,
cannot be found on Long Island and is probably a Westchester
County name. The female over 16 years of age was in all prob-
ability Lodowick’s wife, and it is altogether likely that she and
her husband, both being advanced in years and feeling that very
fact would afford them a certain amount of protection against
the insecurity of the times, were desirous that the younger
members of the family should remove to some place which
seemed to be less exposed to the vicissitudes of war.

Both Lodowick and his wife Elizabeth are supposed to have
died at Stony Brook or Setauket, but it is not known when. The
former must have died subsequent to July, 1776, and the latter
after February 22, 1780, for on that date she attached her signa-
ture as a witness to a codicil to the will of William Nicoll of
Islip.

Their children, in the supposed order of birth, were : —

I Abigail, married before July, 1776, John Hallock of Stony
Brook, Long Island.

2. Elizabeth, married John Dimon or Dimond.

3. Lodowick, born in Stony Brook or Setauket, Long Island,
1757 ; married Anne, daughter of William and Sarah (Sax-
ton) Hallock, 1787, and had issue; died February 1, 1825,

4. John, married Sarah ( ) and settled in northern New
York near Lake Champlain.
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WILLIAM HALLOCK.

b. 1723,
m. before 1750,
d. about 1782.

WiLLiaM HaLLOCK, son of William and Dinah ( ) Hallock,
was born probably in Stony Brook, in the town of Brookhaven,
Suffolk County, Long Island, where he lived for many years.
There is but one mention of him in the Brookhaven town records
and that is in 1749, when he was assessed 3s. 3d. county tax.

In May, 1775, there was circulated for signing in Suffolk County’
the “ Association’’ ! adopted by the inhabitants of the city of New
York. This paper, or declaration of principles, was generally signed
throughout the county

and William Hallock was ..
among the patriots who % W
attached his signature .
thereto, Sigusar  the Sk Coumy (Long Hand) i
Between May, 1775, and
July, 1776, he removed from Brookhaven to Greenwich, Conn.,
where his brother Jesse had purchased some property in 1765. It
must have been after May, 1775, for on that date he signed the
Association in Suffolk County, and before July, 1776, for on that
date a census of the inhabitants of Suffolk County was made in
which his name does not appear. Although he was attached to
no particular branch of the service during the Revolution, he
took, notwithstanding, an active part in the hostilities against the
British during their occupancy of Long Island, being in com-
mand of a number of large whale boats which, heavily armed and
well filled with volunteers, would descend unexpectedly upon the
1The Association is given in full on page 8.
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British outposts on the northern shore of Long Island and cause
considerable damage.

His wife was Sarah Saxton of Huntington, Long Island, born
in 1723, a sister of Hannah Saxton who married Zephaniah Platt,
whose sons were among the original settlers of Plattsburgh, N. Y.
William Hallock is supposed to have died in Greenwich about
1782. His wife survived him and after his death went to West-
chester County, N. Y., with her youngest daughter Anne, who
there married Lodowick Hackstaff. She lived with Anne (Hal-
lock) Hackstaff in Sing Sing and New York for many years
and died in the latter place in 1806. She was a member of the
Episcopal Church and family tradition says that she was buried
in St. Paul’s churchyard. The church records contain no men-
tion of her interment there, but they are incomplete and many
of the inscriptions on the tombstones have been rendered so
obscure by time and the elements that the names cannot be
deciphered.

The children of William and Sarah (Saxton) Hallock, in tabu-
lated form for convenience only, were: —

1. Elizabeth, born September 16, 1750; married
and had issue; died 1846.

2. Zephaniah Platt, born 1765 ; married and had issue; died 1831.

3. Anne, born March 30, 1768 ; married Lodowick, son of Ludwig
Albertus and Anna Elisabetha (Weid) Herkersdorf, 1787,
and had issue ; died August, 1840.

4. George, married and had issue.

5. William, married and had issue.

Seven other children.

Bromley

AUTHORITIES.

Hallock Genealogy, 393, 394-
Brookhaven (Long Island) Town Records, 162.
American Archives, Fourth Series, II1, 610.



ANDREW GARR. 171

ANDREW GARR.

b. 1745.
1. before 1780.

m. < 2. in or before 1800.
3.

d. April 12, 1812.

ANDREW GARR was born in 1745 ‘“near Auchencairn, Gallo-
way Shire, Scotland.” The quotation is from the inscription on
his tombstone. The entry! in the Health Department records
of the city of New York concerning his death states that he was
born in England, but this is doubtless a mistake, for the com-
pleteness of the inscription on the stone indicates very clearly
that it was placed there by one who was familiar with the facts,
His granddaughter Elizabeth Garr, who died in New York in
1891, said that her grandfather was a Scotchman who went to
London and came from there to this country. The impression
among some of his descendants that he was born in England
doubtless arose from the fact that it was from there that he came
to America — not from Scotland direct.

Andrew Garr was a shipbuilder and learned his trade either
among his hardy countrymen or, more likely, at London, for there
is where he was married. Who his wife was is not known.
His only child by this marriage was a son, Andrew Sheffield
Garr, born in London in 1780, who afterwards married Elizabeth
Sinclair. As Sheffield is certainly an English name, not Scotch,

1 Transcript from record of deaths reported to the Department of Health, City of New York,

“ Andrew Garr. Date of death, April 1a, 1812, Age, 67 years. Birthplace, England.
Place of death, Charlotte street.* Direct cause of death, pleurisy. Place of burial, Presby-
terian Cemetery.”

¢ Evidently an error. See newspaper notice of death, page 173.
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it was very likely the name of the boy’s mother. In the latter
part of 1783 or in 1784, his wife having died, Andrew Garr left
London with his young son to try his fortune in America. He
came to New York where he lived until his death in 1812.

It is not known where in New York he first made his home,
but in 1790 he was living at 43 Cherry street. In 1794 he moved
to 118 Cherry street; in 1809 to 66 Cherry street ; and in 1810
to 66 Rutgers street, where he died. During these years he fol-
lowed his calling of shipbuilder and had extensive ship yards on
the East River and at the foot of Rutgers street and on Water
street. He also owned a lumber yard near Catharine slip.

In 1793 he was elected a member of the “Saint Andrew's
Society of the State of New York.” (For a description of this
Society see page 107.)

In 1800, or before, he married again, his second wife being
Mary Ogden, probably of New York. By her he had one child,
a daughter, Janet, born December 11, 1800.2 He must have mar-
ried a third time, for on the settlement of his estate in 1826
Andrew S. Garr, his son, one of the administrators, secured a
release ® from “Margaret Garr, of New Haven in the state of
Connecticut, widow of Andrew Garr, late of the City of New
York, Shipwright, deceased.”

It is not known where or when Margaret Garr died. It was

I George Garr, Andrew Garr's grandson, writes, “ My grandfather Garr ... . came to this
country when my father was three years old,” As George Garr's father was born in 1780 the
time of Andrew Garr's coming to this country would be as stated.

2 From records of First Presbyterian Church, New York city.

* Baptized 1800, Dec. 28, Janet, daughter of Andrew Garr and Mary Ogden, his wife, born
December 21, 1800.”

8 Extract from release dated August 24, 1826, in connection with the settlement of Andrew
Gmrr’s estate, “ Recorded for and at the request 6f A. S. Garr, agth day of August, 1826, at
14 Min, past 3 P.M."

“To all persons to whom thése presents shall come or may concemn: I, Margaret Garr of
New Haven in the State of Connecticut, widow of Andrew Garr, late of the City of New
York, Shipwright, deceased, Send Greeting. Whereas Andrew Garr died intestats in the'
Month of April in the year One thousand eight hundred and twelve and administration of
his Goods, Chattels and Credits was granted by the Surrogate of the county of New York
to Andrew S. Garr and Jacob Drake,” etc.
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after 1828, for on February 19 of that year she sold some prop-
erty and described herself in the deed as being at that time *of
the City of New York.”

At the time of her father’s death in 1812 Janet Garr was a
minor and the court appointed her half brother Andrew S. Garr
her guardian. He acted as such until her marriage in November,
1818, to Thomas Lowis,! of New York. After his death, which
occurred before 1826, she married George Pride, also of New
York.

Andrew Garr died April 12, 1812. The following notice of his
death appeared in the New York ZLvemimg Post of April 13,
1812 :—

Died yesterday afternoon after a short illness Mr. Andrew Garr, aged 67
years. His friends and acquaintances and those of his son Andrew S. Garr are
requested to attend his funeral without further invitation to-morrow afternoon at
4 o’clock from his late residence No. 66 Rutgers St.

He left no will and on July 2, 1812, letters of administration
were granted to his son Andrew S. Garr and Jacob Drake. An
inventory of the estate was filed December 26, 1812, and the
final settlement was made August 24, 1826, He was buried in
the Presbyterian Cemetery in Rutgers street. In 1866 the use
of this cemetery was discontinued and all the bodies, except those
claimed by relatives or friends, were removed to Woodlawn.
There he now lies with the time worn stone, taken from his first
resting place, marking his grave in the Rutgers plot.

His grandson, George Garr, writes of his grandfather as “a
handsome man who came of good family.” He adds, “he was a
man of large means and greatly respected. His picture, a finely
painted portrait, is one of my earliest recollections in my father’s
house;”

1Extract from release in connection with the settiement of Andrew Garr’s estate dated
Anugust 24, 1806, and recorded on the same date.

“ To all Persons to whom these presents shall come or may concern I, Jennet Lowis of the
City of New York, widow of Thomas Lowis and daughter of Andrew Garr, late of the said
City of New York, Shipwright, deceased, Send Greeting,”-etc.
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The only child of Andrew Garr by his first marriage was : —

1. Andrew Sheffield, born in London, England, 1780; married
Elizabeth, daughter of James and Elizabeth (Morrell) Sin-
clair, 1805 (probably), and had issue ; died April 11, 1859.

The only known child of his second marriage was: —

1. Janet, born in New York city December 11, 1800; married
first Thomas Lowis November, 1818; married second after
August 24, 1826, George Pride and had issue.

INVENTORY.

A true and perfect Inventory of all and singular the goods,
chattels and credits of Andrew Garr, late of the City of New
York, Shipwright, deceased, which have come to the hands,
possession or knowledge of Andrew S. Garr and Jacob Drake,
Administrators of the same, or into the hands or possession of
any other person or persons for the said Administrators, made by
us whose names are hereunto subscribed, the fifth day of Novem-
ber in the year of our Lord One thousand eight hundred and
twelve.

Cash in his dwelling house 133.50

do in the Bank of New York 2879.51
One lease of a lot of ground in Rutgers Street be.
longing to Henry Rutgers, valued with improve-

ments at 3000.
One lease of a lot in Division Street belonging to
Peter Vanderhof, valued at 200.

One lease of lot at Corlears hook formerly belonging
to Thomas Post
One lease of lot at Corlears hook belonging to Cor-
nelius Ray —these two leases with the improve-
ments are valued together at 2000.
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One lease of two lots of ground at Greenwich be-
longing to the Estate of the late Geo. Clinton,
valued with the improvements at

Pew No. 4 in Presbyterian Church in Rutgers Street

Plate and other household furniture

A quantity of Blocks, falls, rigging, Iron &c

Two Float Stages

A quantity of Spars, plank, ropes &c &c

Sperate Debts as nearly as can be ascertained

Total

Debts owing by the deceased as nearly as can be
ascertained

Appraised by us the day and year above written.
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300.
150.
1283.
1000.
100.
684.48
881.44

$12611.93

$700.

Jacob Weavery
David Stebbins

There are also claims against sundry persons, which are con-
tested, and the recovery of which is doubtful. Amount about

$3000.00

Andw. S. Garr
Jacob Drake

INSCRIPTION ON ANDREW GARR'S TOMBSTONE.

To
The memory of Andrew Garr
Born near Auchencairn
Galloway Shire Scotland
who departed this life April 12th 1812
Aged 67 years.

He died in Jesus and is blest
How kind his slumbers are

From suffering and from pain releas’d
And free from every care.

} Adms.
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Go home my widow and my children
I must lie here till Jesus Christ appear
And at his coming I do hope to have
A joyful resurrection from the grave.

AUTHORITIES.

Family Records.

Directories of New York city.

Records of First Presbyterian Church, New York city.

History of the “Saint Andrew’s Society of the State of New
York.”

Records of the Surrogates’ Court, City and County of New York.

History of Rutgers Riverside Church, New York city.

Records of the Health Department, City of New York.

Records of the Office of Register of Deeds, City and County of
New York.

THE GIRR (GARR) FAMILY IN SCOTLAND.

About eight miles from the railroad station of Castle Douglas,
Gallowayshire, Scotland, in the midst of a fertile farming region,
lies the little village of Auchencairn. It is neat and clean and-
consists of some two score houses stretched on either side of the
single street, across the foot of which runs a little brook. At the
other end stands a modest kirk. To this little village in the ex-
treme southwestern part of Scotland our researches in connection
with the Garr family bring us and here we find, if no positive
information, at least some interesting traditions concerning them.

In attempting to trace the Garr family in-Scotland the interest-
ing fact was brought to light that the name there was evidently
Girr or McGirr. An examination of the records of the parish of
Rerrick, in which Auchencairn is, and inquiry among those who
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would be apt to know shows that the name Garr was unknown,
but the same records do contain the names Girr and McGirr and
there are those still living who remember that the former name
was borne by several who long since have died or moved away.
There are neither Girrs nor McGirrs in Auchencairn at the pres-
ent day.

The best house in the village was built over one hundred years
ago by one John Girr. It was, and is still, called the Bunker Hill
house for the reason, so tradition says, that the builder had a
brother who fought on the American side in the battle of Bunker
Hill. This brother, it is said, came to America prior to the
Revolution and settled in Boston as a ship-builder. No such
name as Girr or Garr appears, however, among the Massachusetts
or New Hampshire troops who took part in that battle. The
nearest approach to it is Guyer. One George Guyer, of Roxbury
(now part of Boston), was a member of one of the Massachusetts
regiments which participated therein. The name Girr might have
become corrupted, especially in writing, to Gire and that, phonet-
ically, to Guyer, the latter appearing under half a dozen different
forms in the Revolutionary records, all of them pronounced the
same. So it is possible that the George Guyer of Roxbury and
Bunker Hill is the Girr of the Auchencairn tradition. If so, he
was the brother of our ancestor Andrew Garr, of New York.

Two miles from Auchencairn there stands what was once the
parish church of Rerrick. It has now fallen into decay and in
the churchyard are the unmarked graves of many of the Girrs.

The following extract is from a letter written by Mr. James
Gibson, schoolmaster at Auchencairn, December 1, 1899, to Mrs.
Jeannette G. W. Kelsey, of Chestnut Hill, Philadelphia. Mr.
Gibson has lived in Auchencairn over fifty years and is doubtless
well acquainted with its local history and its traditions : —

Local tradition says that Andrew Girr! was born about 1745 in a house which
stood about half a mile from the village of Auchencairn, which house has
entirely disappeared mess88MM, years since. In that house his brother John

1 This was Andrew Garr of New York, our ancestor. He was born in 1745.
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(afterwards Captain John Girr) was born and also two sisters whose names were
Grissel Girr and Ann Girr.

Andrew Girr seems to have left this district when a young man, as no one
seems to remember anything about him, but Captain John Girr lived and died
in the district. Tradition says that he died in December 1833, aged 87 years,
and was buried in Rerrick Churchyard, but there is not a tombstone to mark the
place. Captain John Girr commenced to build Bunkershill but it is said could
not have finished it if he had not got money from his Brother Andrew from
America, but though not wealthy he was very much respected. He never
married so that at his death the name in this district died with him.

His Sister Grissel lived with him and was never married. His sister Ann
was married, but her husband did not live long. She had no family. She came
to live with her Brother after her Husband's death and died at Bunkershill. So
far as I can learn they were both very much respected.

I think your Son must have misunderstood Mr. Heughan about one of the
Girr family having to flee the country as a smuggler of whiskey. Mr. Heughan
says that the only reference that he can remember making was that Captain
Girr used sometimes to bring a Keg of smuggled Brandy from the Isle of Man
where it could be got free of government duty.

When I came to this parish more than fifty year since there were many people
living who could have given me particulars that would have been interesting
about the Girr family. Now there is not one living that was personally ac-
quainted with any of them.

In the hope of finding the names of the father and mother of
Andrew Garr of New York, our ancestor, the writer had a com-
petent genealogist, Mr. Walter MacLeod, of Edinburgh, examine
the register of births of the parish of Rerrick in which Auchen-
cairn is situated. This register goes back to 1736, but, unfor-
tunately, is very incomplete as the registration of births was not
strictly attended to at that time. The only items of interest
found were the following : —

1757. Robert Girr, lawful son of John Girr in Auchencairn and Mary Hannah
his spouse, born 7 February 1757.

1762. Helen Girr, lawful daughter to John Girr in Auchencairn and Mary
Hannah his spouse, born 15 December 1762.

Andrew Garr, our ancestor, was born in 1745 and his brother
John in 1746 (probably). They two with their sisters Grissel and
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Ann may have been the children of John and Mary Hannah Girr,
but no evidence has yet been found to show that they were. The
Rerrick register gives the births of other Girrs and McGirrs, but
they are of such late date that the children could not have been
Andrew Garr’s brothers or sisters.

JAMES SINCLAIR.

b. 1754.
m. 1787 (probably).
d. June 12, 1819.

James SiNcLAIR was born in Scotland in 1754. He was a
member of the ancient and powerful Scotch family of Sinclair, but
up to the present time the writer has not been able to discover
who his parents were or to connect him with the proper branch
of that family. Before going into the question of his immediate
antecedents or his own history, a brief account of some of the
earlier members of the Sinclair family will be interesting to his
descendants. This account is taken principally from Douglas’
‘“Peerage of Scotland,” printed in 1764, which is probably as
accurate as any other similar publication.

The sirname of Sinclair, or de Sancto Claro, is originally from
France and sprung from the noble family of St. Clare in that
kingdom. The account of their first settlement in Scotland is as
follows.

Waldernus, Compte de St. Clare, having married Helena,
daughter of the Duke of Normandie, cousin-german of William
the Conqueror, came over to England with that great prince in
1066. His son, William de Sancto Claro, came to Scotland: soon
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thereafter, and, being a youth of distinguished merit, was well
received by King Malcolm Canmore, became Steward to Queen
Margaret, obtained from Malcolm a grant of the lands and barony
of Roslin and several others in the Lothians, and of this William
all the Sinclairs in Scotland are descended.

SiR WiILLIAM SINCLAIR, Steward to Queen Margaret, and said
to have obtained the lands and barony of Roslin, lived many years
after 1100 and was father of

SIrR WiLLIAM SINCLAIR, second Baron of Roslin. He flourished
in the reign of King David the First, who succeeded to the crown
of Scotland in 1124 and died in 1153. He got the lands of Roslin
confirmed to him by that good prince and married a daughter of
the Earl of March, by whom he had a son and successor

Sik WILLIAM SINCLAIR, third Baron of Roslin. He made a
great figure in the reign of King William the Lion, who suc-
ceeded to the crown of Scotland in 1165 and died in 1214. He
got the lands and barony of Roslin confirmed to him in 1180.
He made a donation to the monastery of Newbottle of one merk
sterling yearly, confirmed by King William before the year 1200.
He had issue a son

Sik HENRY SINCLAIR, of Roslin, who succeeded him and was
witness in many charters and donations of King Alexander II,
who succeeded King William in 1214. He is said to have married
a daughter of the Earl of Marr, by whom he had a successor and
heir

SIR WiLLIAM SINCLAIR, of Roslin, who was witness in a dona-
tion of King Alexander II to the monastery of Newbottle in 1243.
He died about 1270 and was succeeded by his son

SIR WILL1AM SINCLAIR, of Roslin, who was one of the greatest
men of his time,

He was appointed High Sheriff of the Shire of Edinburgh in
1271, which office he enjoyed as long as he lived. Of this there
are innumerable documents in the chartularies of Dunfermline,
Newbottle, Kelso &c.

In 1280 he got a charter of confirmation of the lands and barony
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of Roslin, Catticune &c. from King Alexander III, to which
Robert, Bishop of Glasgow, William Fraser, Chancellor of Scot-
land, Gilbert, Earl of Angus, and many others were witnesses,

He was one of the “magnates Scotiae” who, in 1284, obliged
themselves to receive and defend, for their lawful queen and
sovereign, Margaret, daughter of Eric, King of Norway, in case
King Alexander of Scotland died without male issue. In the
same year he was appointed one of the ambassadors extraordinary
to negotiate King Alexander’s marriage.

He was one of the Scotch nobles chosen on the part of Robert
Bruce in his competition for the crown with John Baliol in 1292,
He was afterwards, with many of his countrymen, compelled to
swear allegiance to King Edward I of England, in 1294.

He left issue three sons, Sir Henry, his successor ; William ;
and Sir Gregory.! Sir William died about 1300 and was suc-
ceeded by his eldest son

SR HeNnrRY SINCLAIR, of Roslin, who was ordered by King
Edward I of England to attend him with horses, arms &c. in 1307,
but did not obey the summons. He was a great patriot and a
firm friend of King Robert Bruce, and, for his good and faithful
services, obtained from that prince in 1317 a grant of the muir of
Pentland and several other lands, all erected into a free forestry,
by payment of a tenth part of one soldier yearly.

He was one of the Scotch nobles who signed the famous letter
to the Pope asserting the independence of Scotland, 1320. Sir
Henry died soon after 1328 and was succeeded by his son

SikR WiLL1AM SINCLAIR, of Roslin, a worthy patriot and always
a sturdy defender of the liberties of his country. He also, with
his father, signed the letter to the Pope in 1320. And as he had
been a close companion of the brave Sir James Douglass and had
a share of the glory he obtained in many signal victories over the
enemies of his country, he also accompanied him when he went

1 Sir Gregory was the ancestor of the Sinclairs of Longformacus, and from Matthew, gth
Laird of Longformacus, are descended the Sinclairs of Stevenson who are mentioned later in
this article,
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with King Robert Bruce’s heart to Jerusalem and with him lost his
life fighting against the Infidels as he was returning home in 1331.
He left issue an infant son,

Sik WiILLIAM SINCLAIR, of Roslin, who succeeded him. He
was too young to be concerned in the wars that happened in the
beginning of the reign of King David Bruce, but he soon appeared
to be possessed of the virtues and abilities of his worthy ancestors
and was employed in several negotiations of importance when but
a young man. In 1358 he was appointed one of the ambassadors
extraordinary to the court of England to treat concerning David
Bruce and obtained a safe conduct from King Edward III for
himself and sixty horsemen in his retinue.

He added greatly to the influence of his family by his marriage
with Isabel, daughter and co-heir of Malise, Earl of Strathern,
Caithness and Orkney. He was succeeded by his eldest son

SR HENRY SINCLAIR, of Roslin, who acquired, through his
mother, the Earldom of Orkney which was confirmed to him both
by King Haco VI of Norway and by King Robert II of Scotland
in 1379. The conditions of fealty to the King of Norway, how-
ever, would have made it impossible for him, in time of war, to
retain both his Scottish and his Norse possessions. He was one
of the Scotch commissioners appointed in 1392 to treat with the
English. He married Jean, daughter of Sir Walter Haliburton, of
Dirletoun, and was succeeded, about 1400, by his son

HENRY SINCLAIR, Earl of Orkney, a great patriot and strenuous
defender of the liberties of his country. He was appointed Lord
High Admiral of Scotland and governor to the young King
James I. He was taken prisoner by the English, together with
his royal pupil, on their way to France in 1405. The King was
detained nearly twenty years in England, but the Earl obtained
liberty the same year to return to Scotland upon his guaranteeing
to return to England when summoned. We find that he obtained
a safe conduct to go to England in 1416. He married Lady Egidia
Douglass, daughter and heir of Sir William Douglass, of Nithsdale,
by the latter’s marriage with Princess Egidia, the beautiful daugh-
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ter of Robert II of Scotland. He died some time before 1418 and
was succeeded by his son

WILLIAM SINCLAIR, Earl of Orkney, who was one of the ambas-
sadors appointed to negotiate in 1421 for King James’ liberty and
was afterwards one of the hostages for his ransom in 1424. Being
a man of extraordinary parts and integrity he became a mighty
favorite of King James II, managed all his negotiations of the
greatest importance with fidelity and honor, and was by far the
greatest subject as to wealth, power and interest in the kingdom.
He held many high public offices, possessed extensive landed
property, had great influence and appears to have lived in his castle
at Roslin in almost regal splendor.

In personal appearance he is described as having been “a very
fair man, of great stature, broad bodied, yellow haired, and well
proportioned,” and to have been “ much given to policy, as build-
ing of castles, palaces and churches.” Among the latter was the
celebrated chapel attached to Roslin Castle.

In 1453 or 1454 he was constituted Lord Chancellor of the
kingdom and was one of the guarantees of the treaty in June,
1454, when truce was declared with the English. In 1455 he
obtained from the King a grant of the Earldom of Caithness,
then in the crown by the death of George Crichton, Earl thereof,
whereupon he was afterwards designed Earl of Orkney and
Caithness.

In 1458 he resigned the Chancellor’s office, though still in great
favor with his Majesty. In 1459 he was appointed one of the
commissioners to negotiate a treaty with the English. In 1461,
in the beginning of the reign of King James III, he was again
appointed one of the ambassadors extraordinary to the court of
England. In 1471 he made a surrender of the Earldom of Orkney
in favor of King James III, and it was then annexed to the crown
by act of Parliament. In 1483 he was again appointed ambassador
extraordinary to the court of England. ’

He married twice. His first wife was Margaret, daughter of
Archibald, 4th Earl of Douglass, by whom he had a son, William,
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ancestor of the Lords Sinclair, and a daughter, Catharine, who
married Alexander, Duke of Albany. His second wife was Mar-
jorie, daughter of Alexander Sutherland of Dunbeath. By her he
had five sons : —

1. William, his successor in the Earldom of Caithness.

2. Sir Oliver, of Roslin.

3. Sir David, of Swinburgh.

4. Robert.

5. John, Bishop nominate of Caithness.

The succeeding Earls of Caithness down to the present time
are all descendants of William, 2nd Earl (No. 1 in the table above),
and it is no doubt to one of the numerous branches of his de-
scendants that James Sinclair of New York belongs.

Among the possessions of James Sinclair was a seal on which
was engraved a coat-of-arms.! At his death this seal passed to his
wife, Elizabeth (Morrell) Sinclair ; then to her daughter, Elizabeth
(Sinclajr) Garr; then to her son, Andrew Garr; then to his sister,
Fanny (Garr) Hubbard; then to its present owner, her grand-
niece, Jeannette (Payson) Le Ghait, daughter of Fanny (Wash-
burne) Payson. The arms engraved on the seal are as follows : —

Quarterly : 1st and 4th, Azure, a ship at anchor, sails furled,
within a double tressure flory counterflory or; 2nd and 3rd, Or, a
lion rampant gules; over all dividing the quarters a cross engrailed
quarterly argent and sable.

Crest: A cock proper.

Motto :- Commit thy work to God.

An impression of these arms was recently submitted to J. Bal-
four Paul, Lyon King of Arms, Edinburgh, Scotland, with the
expectation that he would be able to identify them as belonging to

1In discussing these arms it will be well to bear in mind the following armorial bear-
ings: —
Caithness: Azure, a ship under sail or, sails argent,
_ Sinclair: Argent, a cross engrailed sable.
Orkney : Azure, a ship at anchor, sails furled, within a double tressure flory counterflory or.
Spar: Or, a lion rampant gules,
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one of the branches of the Sinclair family, after which it would
have been a comparatively easy matter to discover James Sinclair’s
parents. Mr. Paul wrote on July 7, 1899, as follows : —

In reply to yours of the 24th ult., I may state that the arms on the seal you
send may be blazoned as follows : — Quarterly: 1st, azure, a ship sails furled
within a double tressure flory counterflory or; 2nd and 3rd, or, a lion rampant
gules; 4th, azure, a ship in full sail or; over all dividing the quarters a cross
engrailed quarterly argent and sable.

These are practically the arms of Sinclair of Stevenson, representative of the
Sinclairs of Murkle who were a cadet branch of the Earls of Caithness. They
bear, however, a crescent in the centre of the cross. The crest and motto is not
that of Stevenson but of the Earls of Caithness.

On July 19 the writer called Mr. Paul’s attention to the fact that
the 1st and 4th quarters of James Sinclair’s arms were similar, and
not different as described by him, and on August 8, 1899, he wrote,

In reply to yours of the 1gth ult., I may say that I have again looked at the
seal you mention and find that you are right in saying that the 1st and 4th
quarters are identical. This, however, does not throw any light on the matter
but the reverse, as I know of no such combination of the arms, and I am rather
inclined to think that it may arise out of a mistake on the part of the seal
engraver or some one else.

As engraved on James Sinclair’s seal, then, the arms cannot be
identified as belonging to any branch of the Sinclair family. But
Mr. Paul is inclined to think that the similarity between the 1st
and 4th quarters is a mistake of the engraver and he has good
reason for thinking so, for no branch of the Sinclair family bears
the arms of Orkney in the 4th except the Sinclairs of Hermands-
ton, whose arms are quartered 1st and 4th for Orkney and 2nd
and 3rd for Caithness.

Assuming that the 4th quarter of James Sinclair’s shield should
bear the Caithness arms, as Mr. Paul thinks it should, a careful
examination shows that of all the branches of the Sinclair family
the arms of only two of them bear any close resemblance to his.
One of these branches is that of the Earl of Caithness and the
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other is that of Sinclair of Stevenson! representing the Sinclairs
of Murkle, a cadet branch of the Earls of Caithness.

The arms of the Earl of Caithness and those of James Sinclair
differ only in one respect, the cross in the former being sable
while in the latter it is quartered argent and sable. The differ-
ence between the arms of Sinclair of Stevenson, however, and
those of James Sinclair is more marked, they differing in three
particulars, viz: the crest, the motto, and the bearing by the
former of a crescent in the centre of the cross.

From the arms alone, therefore, it would seem probable that
James Sinclair was a member, or a descendant of the family, of
one of the Earls of Caithness, although the difference in the
crosses cannot be explained. The cross in James Sinclair's arms,
quartered argent and sable, may have been taken as a difference
by some younger son, although such a change is not a mark of
cadency.

The trend of family tradition is in the direction of his having
had an Earl of Caithness for a near ancestor. Several of his
grandchildren were positive in their statements that he was a
younger son of one of the Earls; that their mother went to Scot-
land when a girl and visited the Earl, her grandfather; and that
their grandfather’s brother, John Sinclair, visited this country and
wished to adopt his niece, their mother, when she was quite young.
Fanny (Garr) Hubbard, one of his granddaughters, wrote in 1895
that her brother Andrew told her that their branch of the Sinclairs
were called the “Gordon Sinclairs,” and that he was received by
them as a relative when he visited Scotland many years ago.

Each clue furnished by these family traditions has been carefully
followed up, but the writer has not succeeded, by their help, in
finding James Sinclair’s parents or the branch of the Sinclair
family to which he belonged. He could not have been the son of
John, 8th Earl (1698-1705), for the latter died in 1705. Nor could
he have been the son of Alexander, gth Earl (1705-1765), for
Alexander left only one child, a daughter. William, 1oth Earl

1 See footnote on page 181.
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(1768-1779), had no son James. John, 11th Earl (1779-1789),
died unmarried. He could not have been the son of James, 12th
Earl (1793-1823), for the latter was born in 1766.

As to James Sinclair's daughter going to Scotland when a girl
and visiting the Earl of Caithness, her grandfather, the only Earls
she could have visited as a girl were John, 11th Ear], and James,
12th Earl, but as neither of these was the father of her father it
certainly follows that if she visited the Earl of Caithness he was
not her grandfather, and if she visited her grandfather he was not
the Earl of Caithness. The most promising clue, that of the
reception as a relative by the “ Gordon Sinclairs” of Andrew
Garr, grandson of James Sinclair, may possibly yield some results
through future investigation.

To sum up the question of James Sinclair’s parentage :— A care-
ful and diligent search, with the resources at the writer’s com-
mand, has failed to discover his parents or to connect him with
the proper branch of the Sinclair family, but the weight of evi-
dence is in favor of his having had for a near ancestor one of the
Earls of Caithness.

It is not known when James Sinclair first took up his residence
in America. The first trace that can be found of him here is at
New York in 1790, in which year (September 13) he was elected
a member of the Marine Society. (For a description of this
Society see page 28.) It is certain that he was here at least two
years before that time, however, for his daughter Elizabeth, who
married Andrew S. Garr, was born in New York in 1788. He
was a shipmaster, i. e., commander of a vessel, but when, where
or under what circumstances he entered the merchant service is
not known.

The Marine Society, to which he was elected in 1790, was com-
posed of two classes of members, those who were masters of
vessels and those who were not, the latter known as honorary
members. As he was elected a member of the former class he
must have been, at the time of his election, in command of a vessel
of some kind and must have already followed the sea for some
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years in order to gain the requisite experience and training to fit
him for such a position. As to why he took to the sea of course
we know nothing, but, as a younger son, as he probably was, it
may not have been altogether a matter of choice, especially if his
family were poor, as tradition says they were. It has been thought
that he was, at one time, in the English Navy, but there is no
record at the Admiralty Office in London of his ever having
entered the naval service.

Following is a table of Captain Sinclair’s voyages, chronologi-
cally arranged and as complete as could be made, compiled from
newspapers of the day and such records in the New York Custom
House as were accessible.

1801, November 1g.
Arrived at New York brig Matilda, Sinclair, 35 days from
Madeira.

1802, March 27.
Cleared from New York ship Superior, James Sinclair, for Cape
Francois.

1802, November 22.

Arrived at New York ship Superior, Sinclair, 38 days from New
Orleans.
1803, January 23.

Cleared from New York ship Mary, Sinclair, for New Orleans.
The Mary was owned by R. & I. Thorne of New York.

1803, April 1. )
Arrived at New Orleans ship Mary, Sinclair, from New York.

1803, July 7.
Cleared from New Orleans ship Mary, Sinclair, of and for New

York, to sail shortly.

1803, August §.
Arrived at New York ship Mary, Sinclair, 23 days from New
Orleans, with cotton, sugar, hides and logwood, to R. & I. Thorne.
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1803, November 1.

Cleared from Philadelphia ship Superior, Sinclair, for . . . . ..
1804, March 3.

Arrived at Norfolk, Va., ship ( ). February 19 spoke ship
Fame, Sinclair, from Madeira, 1§ days out.
1804, March 27.

Arrived at Norfolk, Va., ship ( ). March 21 spoke ship

Fame, Sinclair, from Madeira to New York, 40 days out. The
Fame was 21 days in company with the ship Zom Cormick, from
Gibraltar to Norfolk, and supplied her with provisions.

1804, March 3o0.

Arrived at New York ship Fame, Sinclair, §2 days from Madeira,
with wine and lemons to Robert Lenox, owner, and others.

“On the gth of January capt. Sinclair, being partly unloaded,
was driven to sea with the loss of his best bower anchor and cable
and was at sea 18 days. . . . On the 6th of Feb,, being ready for
sea, was blown out a second time with the loss of two anchors and
cables and proceeded for New York and has arrived without an
anchor or a cable. If capt. Sinclair had not cut his cables he
would have drifted foul of the Drager and both must have gone
ashore.”

1804, May 5.

Cleared from New York ship Fame, Sinclair, for Madeira.
1804, September 27.

Arrived at New York ship Fame, Sinclair, 46 days from Lisbon,
with salt to R. Lenox.

After this trip the Fame was offered for sale by her owner,
Robert Lenox, and the following advertisement appeared in the
New York Evening Post :

For Sale

The Ship Fame, Capt. Sinclair, burthen 250 tons, has been hove
down and is now ready to receive a cargo — she sails well, stows
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to good advantage, and may be sent to sea without expence, being
well found in materials of every kind — she lies along side the
Charlotte Murdock, at Dover-street wharf. R. Lenox.

180§, May 7.

Cleared from New York ship Severn, James Sinclair, for Amster-
dam, with sugar, tobacco, rice, silks, coffee, Peruvian bark and
staves.

The Severn was owned by J. & C. Schultze of Baltimore.

1806, April s.

Cleared from New York ship Ckarlotte, James Sinclair, for
London, with turpentine, flour, ashes, indigo, firs, skins, lead,
cotton and staves.

The Charlotte was named after the daughter of Robert Lenox,
the owner. The New York agents of the vessel seem to have
been Jonathan Eldredge and Ferguson & Day.

1806, October 21.
Cleared from New York ship Ckarlotte, James Sinclair, for Liver-
pool, with cotton, ashes, staves and pig iron.

1807, April 18.

Cleared from New York ship Charlotte, James Sinclair, for
Amsterdam, with sugar, pimento, coffee, medicine, jalap, cotton,
oil, cinnamon and logwood.

1809, June 6.
Cleared from New York ship Laura, James Sinclair, for Fayal,

with beeswax, flour, rice, cotton, ashes and staves.

In 1792 and 1793 he lived at 2 Batavia lane. From 1794 to
1798 he lived at 3'Batavia lane. From 1799 to 1811 he lived at 28 -
Catharine street. From 1812 to 1815, the period covered by the
war, his name disappears from the directory altogether and it is
not at all unlikely that he spent those years in Scotland. From
1816 until he died he lived at 28 Catharine street. In the directo-
ries he is variously designated as a “ship-master” and a “ sea-
captain.”
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In 1803 he was elected a member of the Saint Andrew’s Soci-

ety. (For a brief notice of this Society see page 107.) In 1818
he was appointed “city-measurer,” whatever that might have
been.
On June 6, 1818, James and his wife Elizabeth mortgaged ! to
Thomas Bazen, of New York, for $500, a lot on the west side of
Catharine street measuring 27 feet front and 5o feet deep. This
lot was probably numbered 28 Catharine street, his residence sub-
sequent to 1799, and is described as being a portion of the Hen-
drick Rutgers farm. As the property was mortgaged it must have
belonged to James, but an examination of the records in the office
of the Register of Deeds fails to show when or from whom he
acquired it. He or his wife may have inherited it, but this is
hardly likely. The mortgage was satisfied April 4, 1821, by David
Stebbins, executor of Elizabeth Sinclair’s will.

James Sinclair's wife was Elizabeth, daughter of William Mor-
rell. She was born in New York in 1766. The record of their
marriage cannot be found but it was probably in 1787. James
died 3 at 28 Catharine street June 12, 1819,% and his wife died t at

1“ Registered for and at the request of Thomas Bazen this 18th day of June, 1818 at 40
minutes 11 o'clock A M. Memorandum that on this sixth day of June in the year of our Lord
One thousand Eight hundred and Eighteen, James Sinclair of the City of New York Ship
master and Elizabeth bis wife Did mortgage to Thomas Bazen of the same City Gen-
tleman . ..”

9 Transcript from record of deaths reported to the Department of Health, City of New York.

“ James Sinclair. Died June 13, 1819. Age, 65 years. Birthplace, Scotland. Place of
death, 28 Catharine street. Cause of death, consumption. Place of burial, Presbyterian
cemetery.”

3 From the New York Evening Post, Saturday, June 13, 1819.

“Died. This morning Captain James Sinclair, an old and respected Shipmaster. His
friends and acquaintances are requested to attend his funeral to-morrow afternoon at 5 o'clock
from his home, No. 28 Catharine St. The Marine Society is particularly invited.”

4 Transcript from record of deaths reported to the Department of Health, City of New York.

“ Elizabeth Sinclair, Died Feby. 11, 3821, Age, 55 years, Birthplace, New York. Place
of death, Catharine street. Cause of death, consumption, Place of burial, Presbyterian
cemetery, Rutgers street.”

It is evident from the newspaper notice of her death and funeral that the date of her death
should be February 8 instead of February 11.
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the same place February 8, 1821.! They were both buried in the

Presbyterian cemetery on Rutgers street. In December, 1866,

the use of this cemetery was discontinued and the bodies were

removed to the Rutgers plot at Woodlawn. As many of the
graves in the Rutgers street cemetery were unmarked by stones,
there were no means of identifying many of the bodies, and as
there is no record at Woodlawn of the reception of either James

Sinclair's body or that of his wife it must be that theirs were

among the unmarked graves and that they now lie at Woodlawn

among the unknown dead.

James Sinclair died intestate and letters of administration on
his estate were issued to his son-in-law, Andrew S. Garr, May 19,
1824. His wife left a will, a copy of which follows. It is from
this will that we learn the name of her father, and no other trace
of him can be found, although a very thorough search has been
made among the records of various kinds in New York and
vicinity.

The children were : —

1. Elizabeth, born in New York city, 1788 ; married Andrew Shef-
field, son of Andrew Garr, 1805 (probably), and had issue;
died August 28, 18535.

2. Maria, married Ira C. Day June 17, 180;7.

3. Caroline, married Mr. Miller.

4. Jane, married Mr. Beebe.

5. William, died unmarried.

6. James, died without issue and letters of administration were
issued to his brother-in-law, Andrew S. Garr, March 30, 1826.

7. Henry, went to Buenos Ayres, South America, and married
there.

1From the New York Evening Post, Saturday, February g, 1831,

“Died. On Friday, the 8th inst,, after a lingering illness, Mrs. St. Clair, widow of Capt.
James St. Clair. The friends and acquaintances of the family are invited to attend the funeral
on Sunday afternoon at 4 o'clock from her late residence, No, 28 Catharine St.”




FAMES SINCLAIR., 193

WILL.

In THE NaME oF GOoD, AMEN

I, Elizabeth Sinclair, of the City of New York widow being
weak in health but of sound disposing mind memory and under-
standing do make and publish this my last Will and Testament as
follows, that is to say :—

I direct that all my just debts and funeral and testamentary
expenses be paid by my executor hereinafter named. I give to
my father William Morrell the sum of sixty dollars and to each of
my sons William and Henry the value of a suit of mourning such
as my said executor shall think proper and the monies necessary
for the above purposes to be raised by the sale of such of my
property as he shall direct and I likewise give to each of my said
sons a bed and bedding and the residue of all my estate I give
and direct to be divided and paid in equal proportions share and
share alike to and between my three daughters Maria Day, Caro-
line Miller and Jane Beebee my other children being already suf-
ficiently provided for and that being the only reason why they are
not included as legatees in this my last will.

And lastly I appoint my friend David Stebbins of the City of
New York merchant as executor of this my Will.

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand this fourth day
of February in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred

and twenty-one.
Elizabeth Sinclair

Signed published and declared by the testatrix as and for her
last Will and Testament in the presence of — the words “and I
likewise give to each of my said sons a bed and bedding ” being
interlined —

S. Cowdrey
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SIXTH GENERATION.

THOMAS MacDONOUGH.

b.
m. before 1712,
a.

TaoMAs MacDonoucH of Salmon Leap, county Kildare, Ire-
land, is the first of the line of whom anything definite is known.
The information we have concerning him, however, is very meagre.
All that is known is that he lived in the district known as Salmon
Leap, which is on the river Liffey about 12 miles from Dublin,
and that the maiden name of his wife was Jane Coyle. In the
hope of learning something of his parents the writer addressed
a letter to Mr. T. Stanley Torney, a genealogist of Dublin, on the
subject, which elicited the following reply : —

19 Nov., 1897.
Dear Sir: —

I beg to acknowledge your favor of the 11th inst.

Your ancestors Thomas MacDonough and Jane Coyle were born presumably
before 16go. Our great difficalty here is the lack of old Parochial records. The
records, however, at Leixlip, the parish in which is situate the Salmon Leap,
date from 1669 and may contain entries relating to the family.

The vicissitades of olden times caused the destruction of the older records
except in the case of cities.

Itis difficult to trace ancestry beyond 1700 of persons not connected with land.
In the case of owners of land their dealings with the land, such as mortgages,
leases, &c., greatly assist. Is there any tradition of connection with land as
owners or lessees? Of course there are our wills and other records.

The MacDonoughs are Celtic and were anciently of note in the counties of

195
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Cork and Sligo, a principal family of theirs being chiefs of Duhallow, county
Cork, their castle being at Kanturk in that county. There was also a Celtic fam-
ily of Coyle. It is sometimes comparatively easy to trace some of the early Cel-
tic pedigrees, but during the troublous 16th and 17th centuries many difficulties
are met with.

I have no doubt that there would be some substantial outcome from a research
and I shall be happy to institute same and send you a report for 10 dollars.
Such a report will certainly contain some substantial information and suggestions.
I cannot promise more without investigation.

You did not mention religion. It is useful to know.

The MacDonoughs participated in the vicissitudes of the Great Rebellion ot
1641, several having been ¢ transplanted,” as Daniel, Terlough and Oliver Mac-
Donough (1678), whilst some obtained decrees of Innocency.

Waiting the favor of reply,
"8 1 am, dear Sir, yrs faithfully,
T. STANLEY TORNREY.

A second letter to Mr. Torney brought the following response : —

27 Dec., 1897.
Dear Siy : —
I beg to acknowledge rect of your favor of the rrth inst. with its enclosed
draft for $10 and thank you for same.
Unfortunately it has come at an inopportune time, as the Public Record Depart-
ments and Libraries are closed for the Vacation lasting over a week or so.
I shall speed the matter as much as possible and trust to be able to send you
some satisfactory information.
Yours faithfully,
T. STANLEY TORNEY.
Note. MacDonoch appears to be more ancient way of the spelling in English.
The clan, a powerful one in the olden days, was descended from Mulroona, a
younger son of Teighe, King of Connaught (who died A.D. 956) by his wife, an
aunt of Brian Boru on that Monarch’s mother’s side.

After waiting a reasonable time for Mr. Torney to make an in-
vestigation and no communication being received from him, the
writer asked him for a report, but the request remained unanswered.
A second letter met with no better results and it was thought inad-
visable to pursue the matter further.

Some information of a general character concerning the clan, or
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family of, MacDonough is found in O’Hart’s “Irish Landed
Gentry” and his “ Irish Pedigrees.”

On consulting these works one of the first things to attract the
writer’s attention was the fact that the name was originally spelled
as in this article — MacDonough. This is particularly interesting
as it no doubt supplies the reason why Commodore Thomas Mac-
donough spelled his name as he did, in spite of the fact that his
father and grandfather spelled it McDonough, and justifies other
members of the family in following his example. He doubtless
learned, either from his own family or through the Long Island
branch, that the name was originally spelled Mac, not Mc, and
chose to adopt for his own use the original rather than the then
prevailing form. The use of the small “d” instead of the large
“D” was probably due to a misapprehension as to the exact
form of the original name.

In his “Irish Landed Gentry” O’Hart says, «“. , . it will be
seen that ‘MacDonough,’ Lords of Corran and Tirerill, were a
younger branch of the great house of McDermott, Princes of
Moylurg, who were a younger branch of the O’Connors, Kings of
Connaught, details of whose wealth and territories, of their wars
and alliances, are given in the Annals of the Four Masters.”

Teice, King of Connaught, who died in 956, married Creassa,
daughter of Arca, Lord of West Connaught, and aunt of Brian
Boru, Monarch of Ireland. By her he had two sons, Conchobar,
afterwards King of Connaught, and

MuLROONA MOR, who had a son

MurToGH, Prince of Moylurg. He married a daughter of the
Lord of Tyrawley and had a son

TEIGE, who had a son

MuLROONA, who had a son

TEIGE MOR, who had a son

DiarMaID (Irish, ke god of armns), who had a son

ConcHOBAR (or Connor), who was the first of the family to as-
sume this sirname. He had a son

TomarTacH NA CARRIGA (cairig —Irish, & 7ock), who had a son
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DonocH, brother of Cormac, Lord of Moylurg. Donoch was
the ancestor of the clan Donchada (of Connaught), anglicized
MacDonough.

Thomas MacDonough of Salmon Leap, the subject of this arti.
cle and father of James McDonough of Delaware, was descended
from the Donoch mentioned above. He married before 1712 Jane
Coyle, who probably also lived in Salmon Leap. That they were
both Protestants is inferred from the fact that the immediate
succeeding generations in America were members of the Episco-
pal Church, to which most of the family belong at the present
time.

The only known children of Thomas and Jane (Coyle) Mac-
Donough were: —

1. James, born 1712; settled in Delaware and married Lydia,
daughter of Peter Laroux, 1746, and had issue ; died January
18, 1793.

2. John, settled on Long Island where he married and had issue.

AUTHORITIES.
Family Records.
O’Hart’s “Irish Landed Gentry,” 640.
O’Hart’s “ Irish Pedigrees,” 276, 285, 342.

PETER LAROUX.

b.
m. before 1729.
d.

PeTER LAROUX appears to have lived, for several years at least,
in St. George’s Hundred, New Castle County, Delaware. Noth-
ing is known of his parents or the place or date of his birth or
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death. The Rev. George Foot, in writing of the early settlers of
Delaware, says,

The third class was composed of the French Huguenots. After a most unre-
lenting persecution during the 26 years which succeeded the massacre on St.
Bartholomew’s day Henry IV, by the Edict of Nantes adopted in 1598, gave to
the Protestants the same rights and privileges and immunities with the Roman
Catholics. This was, in fact, extending to them a full toleration of their reli-
gious principles.

But Louis X1V deprived them of these rights in 1681 and attempted by armed
forces to compel them to renounce their Protestant principles, and in 1685 he
revoked the Edict of Nantes and gave them up to the rage of persecution. These
steps drove more than 500,000 Protestants to Switzerland, Germany, Holland
and England. Of these a portion settled in this vicinity. To this class belonged
the Naudains, the Dushanes, the Gettons, Laforge, the Bayards, the Larrouxs,
the Seays, or Sees, the Vigorues and Cannons, who settled here at an early
period.

The first trace of Peter Laroux the writer can find is in the
minutes of the Board of Property of the Province of Pennsylvania.

There, under date of 3mo,, 1, 1722 (May 11, 1722, present style), is
the following entry: —

John Butcher desires the Grant of about 50 or 60 acres of Land joyning on his
Tract where he dwells, the Lands of Alex'r Adams and Philip Bavele, near
Drawer’s Creek, in Newcastle County. He is willing to give five Shillings p.
acre, and to pay next fall. He has assigned his Pretence to Peter Laroux,
Brother-in-Law to And'w Peterson.

From other records it is shown that on May 20, 1724, he bought
from Samuel Mahoe for £50 sixty acres of land in St. George’s
Hundred which he sold November 21, 1727, to Owen Carty for
A120.

It will be noticed that in the extract from the minutes of the
Board of Property of the Province of Pennsylvania it is stated that
Peter Laroux and Andrew Peterson were brothers-inlaw. To
establish this relationship either Peter must have married Andrew’s
sister or Andrew must have married Peter's sister. A careful

" examination has been made of all records likely to throw any light
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on the matter but nothing has been found to indicate which one
married the other’s sister.

He must have removed from New Castle County and died else-
where for his will is not recorded there nor is there anything to
show that he died intestate. That he had male issue or male rela-
tions of his name is certain, for the name was known in New Castle
County until about 1800, when it disappeared.

His only known child was : —

1. Lydia, born 1729; married James, son of Thomas and Jane
(Coyle) MacDonough, 1746, and had issue; died August 21,
1764.

AUTHORITIES.
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JOHN VANCE.
b.

”e.
d. 1763.

Joun VANCE lived, and was probably born, in St. George's
Hundred, New Castle County, Delaware. Nothing is known of
his parents although an examination has been made of such rec-
ords as would be likely to show who they were. There were
numerous Vances in New Castle County, among them a John
Vance who died in 1727 leaving a widow, Mary, and several chil-
dren, none of whom is mentioned by name in his will. He may
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have been the father of the subject of this article but it is simply
conjecture.
The Rev. George Foot says of the early settlers of Delaware,

The residence of the Puritans who landed on Plymouth Rock in 1620, for
many years in Holland, and the correspondence between those who came to
America and that portion of the Pilgrims who remained behind, laid open a field
of enterprise to many of the Hollanders, who soon embarked for America. The
Dutch bad previously settled in New York and a part of New Jersey. A por-
tion of these emigrants located in Delaware. To this class belonged the Al-
ricks, the Hansons, the Vandegrifts, the Van Dykes, the Vanzandts, the Vances,
the Hyatts and the Kings.

Mr. Foot was of the opinion that the Vances were of Dutch
extraction. If so the name cannot have retained its original
form, for Vance is certainly not a Dutch name. The writer thinks
Mr. Foot was in error and that they were of English descent, for
the name Vance was and is known in England and evidently
underwent no change when transplanted to America. As early
as 1685 William Penn made grants of land in Delaware to John
and William Vance. They were probably brothers and the ances-
tors of the American Vances.

John Vance of St. George’s Hundred seems to have been a
very active and prominent man. His name occurs frequently in
the New Castle County land records both as grantor and grantee
and he is described therein as a *“yeoman.” Another John Vance,
designated a ‘“mariner,” appears in the land records about the
same time who was probably a cousin or an uncle of our ancestor.

1729, November 2o.

Buys from Alexander Adams for £300 a tract of land on the
north side of Drawyers creek known as “ Rowles Sepulcher ” and
containing 250 acres.

1730, April 20.

Sells to Francis Land for £141:12 the property known as
“ Rowles Sepulcher” which he bought from Alexander Adams
November 20, 1729.
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1738, May 16.

Buys from Garret and Anthony Dushane for £10 some property
on the north side of Drawyers creek in St. George’s Hundred
commonly called ‘ Lackford Hall,” for which he received a patent
March 24, 1740.

1741, February 23.

Buys from Samuel Van Burkeloe and Mary, his wife, for £18
five acres of land on the north side of Second Drawyers creek
in New Castle County.

1742, February 18.

Buys from Thomas Noxon for 427 a half interest in a grist
mill and the property pertaining thereto lying on the north side
of Drawyers creek in St. George’s Hundred.

1742, May 2o0.

Buys of Lucas Mounce and wife Ann for £40 one hundred

acres on the south side of Second Drawyers creek.

l7 5 3’ J uly *
Buys of John Land for £100 six hundred and twenty acres on
the southwest side of Second Drawyers creek.

1760, February 1q.

He and wife Mary sell to Peter Alrichs for £200 three hundred
acres, a portion of a larger tract of land known as ¢ Lackford
Hall,” purchased May 16, 1738.

1761, February 17.
Buys of Thomas Cooch for £504 : 3 : 3 three hundred and forty-
four acres in St. George’s Hundred.

1762, July 10.

Constitutes John Jones his attorney to have surveyed and con-
firmed to him (John Vance) 600 acres of swamp land in Appo-
quinimink Hundred and agrees with him concerning the expense
thereof. Of the 600 acres, 300 are recorded as being granted to
him June 7, 1750, but the grant of the other 300 acres is not on
record. The above agreement with John Jones was witnessed by

—— e —————————teeed
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Mary Vance (wife of John Vance) and Elizabeth Bennett and
was proved by the former May 21, 1766.

On February 10, 1738, he was granted 26 acres near Drawyera
Bridge, in New Castle County, and this was confirmed by patent
from John, Thomas and Richard Penn March 24, 1738. On De-
cember 14, 1741, he was granted 100 acres in St. George's Hun-
dred, which were confirmed by patent from Thomas and Richard
Penn June 13, 1746. On June 7, 1750, he was granted 120 acres
in St. George’s Hundred and 300 acres of swamp land in Appo-
quinimink Hundred.

In 1754 he was appointed guardian of Richard and Joshua Cur-
tis, his grand-children. In 1755 he was appointed administrator
of the estate of Edward Congleton. From 1749 to 1752 he was
one of the trustees of the New Castle County Loan Office, the
trustees of which were then superintending the printing and
emission of £20,000 of new paper money and were each under a
bond of £1000. In 1747 and in 1756 he was captain in the
Lower Regiment of New Castle County militia which was com-
posed of nine companies of about fifty men each.

The Vances were members of Drawyers Church and their
names occur frequently in its records. John is recorded as being
a member of its congregation in 1750.

He died in the early part of 1763 and letters of administration
were issued to his son Samuel March 28 of that year. The latter
dying in 1767, Peter Hyatt was appointed administrator in his
place October 8, 1768, His wife Mary survived him and, with
Nicholas Van Dyke, was appointed guardian of the minor children
Joseph, Sarah and John, April 16, 1765.

The children of John and Mary ( ) Vance, all probably
born in St. George’s Hundred, were : — *
1. Joseph, married Rachel ( ) and had issue ; died 1797.

2. Sarah, married Dr. Benjamin Merritt and had issue; died after
February 21, 1784.

3. Samuel, married Hannah ( ) and had issue; died Janu-
ary, 1768.
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4. Mary, married George Parker and had issue; died before Feb-

ruary 21, 1784.

5. Martha, married Peter Hyatt and had issue ; died before Feb-
ruary 21, 1784.

6. Hannah, married Richard Curtis and had issue ; died 1776.

7. John, died unmarried and under age before February 21, 1784.
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ABEL SHALER.

b. June 14, 1673.

- { 1. January §, 1697/8.
" 2. August 7, 1706,

d. September 19, 1744.

ABEL SHALER, son of Thomas and Alice (Spencer) (Brooks)
Shaler, was born in Haddam, Connecticut, June 14, 1673. He
remained in Haddam until some time between April 16, 1717, and
September 1, 1719, when he removed to Bolton, Connecticut. It
was after the former date for that is the date of the birth of his
daughter Miriam which is recorded in the Haddam town records,
and it was before the latter date for that is the date of the birth
of his son Ebenezer which is recorded in the Bolton town records.
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The town of Bolton was settled about 1716. On October g,
1720, a petition bearing the names of fifteen of the inhabitants,
among them Abel Shaler’s, was presented to the General Court
at Hartford asking for town privileges. These were granted at
the same sitting of the Court. The first town meeting was held
December 1, 1720, when Abel Shaler was chosen one of the three
selectmen.

On February 3, 1727, he was assigned the fiftieth part of the
town land, being one of the twenty-seven who ‘ have lived at
Bolton aforesaid for more than four
years and have in all things fulfilled
the Conditions and Regulations by us Cw M
the Committe ordered.”

He was a member of the Congre-  From an agresment respecting the
gational Church both at Haddam and j.7en o hisfathers esiate, Decem-
at Bolton, his name appearing on a list
of the Bolton church members in 1725, the date of the organiza-
tion of the church, with a note to the effect that he had been
received by letter from Haddam.

In the land records of both Haddam and Bolton Abel Shaler’s
name appears many times both as grantor and grantee. The
original “ Shayler Farm ” or * Abiel Shayler Homested,” as it is
called in the records, is one mile south of Bolton Centre on the
main road to Hebron.

He was married twice. His first wife was Mary ( )
whom he married in Haddam January s, 1697/8. His second wife
was Hannah ( ), whom he married in Haddam August 7,
1706. She survived him and probably married again, for there
is no record of her death as Hannah Shaler. He died Septem-
ber 19, 1744.

The children of the first marriage were : —

1. Marah, born in Haddam June 21, 1699; married —— Hill
(probably) and had issue ; died before December 20, 1742.

2. Jemima, born in Haddam February g, 1702/3; married Daniel
Dart and had issue ; died after December 20, 1743.
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3. Mary, born in Haddam June 13, 1705 ; married —— Grover;
died after December 20, 1742.

The children of the second marriage were : —

1. Ephraim, born in Haddam February 8, 1707/8; married Eunice
( ) and had issue ; died before August 16, 1769.

2. Sarah, born in Haddam December 27, 1709; married Joseph
Fitch December 25, 1729, and had issue ; died after Decem-
ber 20, 1742.

3. Reuben, born in Haddam December 14, 1711 ; married Abi-
gail, daughter of Samuel and Esther (Mould) Stow, No-
vember 12, 1741, and had issue; died 1749.

4. Hannah, born in Haddam August 20, 1714; married Samuel
Spencer, Jr., April 26, 1736, and had issue; died after
December 20, 1742.

5. Miriam, born in Haddam April 16, 1717; died after December

20, 1742.
6. Ebenezer, born in Bolton September 1, 1719; married Judith
( ) and had issue; died before May 23, 1771.

7. Nathaniel, born in Bolton April 10, 1722; died before Decem-
ber 20, 1742 (probably).

8. Abel

9. Thankful
mer died before December 20, 1742 (probably), and the latter
died after that date.

10. Timothy, born in Bolton May 23, 1729; died after December

20, 1742.

twins, born in Bolton January 23, 1725. The for-

WILL.

In the name of God amen. I Abiell Shailer of Bolton in Hart-
ford county being through the Goodness of God of Sound &
disposing mind & memory, Calling to mind my Mortallity and the
uncertainty of my Life, Do hereby make and ordain this my last
will and testament, First & Principally Resigning my Soul to
God the Father of Spirits from whom I Did Receiue it & my
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Body to the Earth to be Decently Buried, and for these Worldly
Goods or Estate with which it has pleased God to bless me I Will
and Dispose of as followeth.

Item, I Giue & Bequeath to my louing Wife Hannah one third
part of my moueable Estate, And also one Cow ouer & aboue sd
third part to be her & her heirs and assigns foreuer. Also I
hereby Giue her the use & Improuement of my fifty acres I now
Liue on with the buildings & appurtenances So Long as She
Continues my Widow, and In Case She Should See Cause to
marry again then I will her ten pounds money to be paid her by
my Executors.

Item, I giue unto my Grandson Abraham Hill Twenty pounds
to be paid him as hereafter prouided.

Item, I giue to my Daughter Jamima Dart thirty pounds.

Item, I Giue to my Daughter Mary Grouer thirty pounds.

Item, I Giue to my Daughter Sarah Fitch no more than what I
have already Giuen her.

Item, I Giue to my Son Ephraim Shailer fiue shillings besides
what I haue already giuen him.

Item, I Giue to my Son Ruben fiue shillings besides what I
haue giuen him.

Item, I Giue unto my Daughter Hannah Twenty Six pounds to
be paid her as hereafter prouided.

Item, I Giue to my Daughter Miriam Thirty Pounds to be paid
her as hereafter prouided.

Item, I Giue to my Daughter Thankfull thirty pounds to be
paid her as hereafter prouided.

Item, I Giue to my Son Timothy my Thirty acres Lying where
it is Called Allins Farm & also my Ten Acre Division Called the
Sixth Division.

Item, I giue to my Son Ebenezer my Fifty acres I Liue on with
the orchard, Buildings & appurtenances after my wifes marriage
or Death which Shall first happen ;

My Will Further is that all my Just Debts be paid out of my
moueables, and that the remainder of the mouecables besides my
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wifes third part be paid & Distributed to pay the aboue named
Legacies So far as they will Extend & the Remainder of said
Legacies I Do hereby order my Son Ebenezer to pay within fiue
years after my Decease, and I Giue him ye abouesaid fifty acres
as aboue prouided he pay them as hereby prouided, and I do here-
by order my frinds Mr. John Bissell & Sergt Franciss Smith both
of Bolton Executors of this my last Will & that this is my last
Will & Testament I Testify by Seting thereto my hand & Seal
this 2oth Day of December A:D: 1742

Sealed Published & Declared to be
his Last Will In presence of John Bissell
Hannah Bissell Lucy Bissell

Abiel Shailer

INVENTORY.

Imprimis, A Loose Coat 25/ plain Cloth Coat £4 An

old plain Cloth Coat 18 black Jacket 12/ a black

Jaket 12/ pair duroy breeches 12/ 7 19 00
1 pr plain Cloth breeches 5/ pr Stockins 6 old pr Do.

2/ woolen Shirt 4 1 Do. 3/6 bedstead & Cord

18/6 feather bed £6 7 19 00
Under bed 5/6 old Sheets 10 pr new Do. £3

feather boalster 30/ 2 feather pillows 5 each 10/

two pillow beers 4 each 8/ 1 Do. 3/ 1 Do. 3/

I check blanket 25 7 04 00
I birds Eye blanket 10 Linen bedticken 35/ old

Sheet 5/ 2 table cloths 4/ Strainer 2/ old Sheet

5/ 1Do.5/ 1 trundle Bedstead 14 4 00 00
3 old blankets 10/ old Stampt Curtains 10/ 1 bible

15/ psalm book 2/6 Election Sermon 12d 1

Towel 2/ old brass kettle £2.10 4 10 06
Small Iron pot 7/ 1 Do. & pot hook 24/ Tramel 10

Slice 5/ tongs 3 warming pan 5/ frying pan 6/

2 puter plattes 24 1 Do. 9 4 13 0O
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A qt pot 10/ 2 basons 6/ 5 puter Spones 3/ 3 old
knives & 2 forks 2/ Iron Candlestick 3/6 three
Small Earthen plates 2/ 1 Earthen pan 12d

2 Earthen Milk pans 2/ bier barel 8/ old Churin 12d
wood tray 2 Great Spinning wheel 3/ Chest 6
Small Spinning wheel 5/ 1 old Sider barel 7

1 Do. 6/ 1larg barel 8/ 2 Cyder barels 7 each 14/
new half barel 7/ 2 tubs 2/6 each

2 old tubs 2 each 4/ 3 pails § each 15/ wooden
bottle 4/ 2 baskets 4/ small do. 15d

old Saddle 15/ beetle rings 4s. 6d. - bridle bits 12d
the top of a breast bit 2 wood Tunnel 3/6 §
Wooden Trenchers 15d 3 wooden Dishes 3/3

Cyder barel 4/ Sope tub 2/ 1 old Cyder barel 3/
Small pipe 6/ Suet Tub 2/6 Leather Coller 2/
Smoathing Iron 12/ 3 larg tubs 12d each 3/ 2%
bushels 3/ % peck 12d

a Small Tub 12d 2 tubs 2/each4/ 1 Do.3/ 2
Sacken bags 8/ Draft chain 21/ weavers Loom
£5 a Slay & harness 8/ To 2 reeds one 28 &
one 30/ '

1 Cow £13 one Do. 12/ To 4 old Chairs 10/ great
Chair 3/ 2 load hay in ye Barn £4

a percel of Barley in the Barn £3 oats in the Barn
A1 To Indian Corn £12 flax £3.15 peason
the Ground £3

Thomas Loomis
Matthew Loomis

209

I 07 06

1 14 00
2 00 0O

I 09 03

I 10 06

I 07 06

10 0§ 00

24 18 00

18 15 0O

105 II 0O

A List of Moveables Set To the Widow Hannah Shailor,
Rellict of Abell Shailor late of Bolton Dec’'d for her Nessessity

To a bedsted & Cord 18/6
a feather bed £6 underbed & sheets £3.5.0

o018 6
9 5 ©
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boalster 30/ 1 feather pillow 2/6 pillow beer 2/ 114 6
1 Chekerd Blanket 25/ 2 old blankets 7/ 2 table

Cloths 4 116 O
a bible 15/ towell 2/ Iron pot & pot hook 24 2 10

an old brass kettle £2/10 Tramel 10/ Slice 5 tongs3 3 8 o
warming pan 4 & By pan 6 1 puter plate 12/ qt pot

10/ 111 O
bason 3/ 2 puter Spoons 15d knife & fork 8d Iron
Candlestick 3/6 o 8 g
1 Earthen plate 8d beer barel 8/ 1 tub 2/6 1 pail
5/ 016 2
2 trenchers 6d Smoathing Iron 12d 1 Chair 2/6 0 4 O
422 2 7
June 3 1746.
AUTHORITIES.

Haddam (Conn.) Record of Births, Marriages and Deaths.

History of Tolland County, Conn., 577, 579.

Manuel of the Congregational Church, Bolton, Conn. (1876), 11.

Bolton (Conn.) Town Records. '

Hartford (Conn.) Probate Records.

New England Historical & Genealogical Register, LII, 418, 419;
LIV, 81.




SAMUEL STOW. 211

SAMUEL STOW.

4. October, 1681.
m. February 8, 1705.
d. September 28, 1741.

SamueL Stow, son of Thomas and Bethia (Stocking) Stow,
was born in Middletown, Connecticut, in October, 1681, probably
in that part of the town lying north of Little River and known as
the Upper Houses (now Cromwell).

Very little is known concerning him. In 1703 both he and his
father appear on a list of taxable inhabitants of the Upper Houses
and the former is put down as being worth £39:5.

In the same year (1703) this part of Middletown was set off as
a separate parish or society, but a church organization was not
perfected until 1715. Samuel Stow
and his wife were among the original v
members of the North Society, as it J Nrre J o
was then called, being received by  From will dated September 36, 1741.
letter from the older church in Mid-
dletown proper. He was one of the first three deacons of the
church in the Upper Houses, being elected and ordained probably
soon after 1716, the date of the election of the first deacon. He
continued in this position until his death in 1741.

In the records of the North Society there is the following curi-
ous item : —

At a meeting of ye society February 15th 1715, the society agreed with Sam
Stowe to beate the drum and sweep the meeting house for the year ensuing, and
to look after the doors, for one pound, five shillings money, or as money.

His wife was Esther, daughter of Hugh and Martha (Coit)
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Mould, whom he married February 8, 1705. He died September
28, 1741, and his wife, who was born about 1685, died July 24,
1750.

Their children, all born in Middletown, were : —

1. Esther, born February 20, 1706.

2. Samuel, born November 2, 1707.

3. Bethia, born April 7, 1710.

4. Martha, born August 30, 1712.

5. Jedediah, born March 1, 1715.

6. Isaac, born April 23, 1717.

7. Jonathan, born June 27, 1719.

8. Abigail, born November, 1721 ; married Reuben, son of Abel
and Hannah ( ) Shaler, November 12, 1741,and had
issue ; died June 4, 1790,

9. Lucia, born August 31, 1723.

10. Stephen, born May 22, 1726.

WILL.

In the Name of God Amen the Twentisixth day of September
1741 1 Samuel Stow of Midletown in the County of Hartford
and Colony of Conecticut in New England Shoemaker being Sick
and weak in body but of perfect Mind and Memory thanks be
given unto God : Therefore Calling to mind the Mortality of my
Body, and knowing that it is Appointed for all men once to die,
do make and ordain this my Last Will and Testament, that is to
Say Principally and first of all I give and Recomend my Soul in
to the hands of God that gave it; and my body I recomend to the
Earth to be Buried in decent Christian Buriel at the Discretion of
my Executor; nothing doubting but at the Generall Resurection
I shall receive the Same again by the Mighty Power of God. and
as touching such Worldly Estate wherewith it hath pleased God
to Bless me in this life, I give demise and despose of the same in
the following manner and form.
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After my Just Debts and Funeral Charges being first payd,

Imprimis I give and bequeath to Esther my dearly beloved Wife
the west End of my Dwelling House with the sellerage and so
much of the Utentials in the House as she shall have ocation for
for her own Improument : and so much room in my Barn as she
shall need and one cow which of them She shall Choose: also
the Jmprovement of one third part of all my Jmproved lands:
with the third part of the Orchard: this as above mentioned I
give to my wife During her Natural Life or Widow whood but if
she should marry my will is that she shall be cutt off from the
Improvment of any lands

Item I give to my two Daughters Esther and Bethiah and also
to to my Grandaughter Submitt Stow only heir to my Eldest son
Samuel Stow Decd what they have alread had and nothing more
at present but affter my wifes Decease my Will is that those three
last above mentioned shall have an Equal Shear in deviding those
movables that my wife shall leive at her Decease: with my other
two Daughters Abigail and Lucia

Item I give to my well beloved son Jerediah Stow one half of
my home lot to be taken off on the North side of said lot
making a Crooked line between that North part and that on the
south part so as to leve out the Tannhouse and the Tannfatts:
also I give to my son Jerediah one third part of my Barn

Item I give to my well beloved son Isaac Stow all my rights of
land on the East side the Great River also one half my Boggy -
meadow land

Item I give to well beloved son Jonathan Stow one half of my
home lot to be taken on the south side with all the buildings
thereon (Except one third part of the Barn) with the Tannhouse
and Tanfatts allso the Cydermill and press also I give to my son
Jonathan all my Burtswamp Paster also the one half of my Boggy
Meadow also all my land at Pistolpoint also I give to my son Jon-
athan all my Husbandry Tooles also all my Tanning and shoe-
making Tooles and further my will is that my son Jonathan shall
have my yoak of oxen and my two Mairs & one of my cows also
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my four young Cattle also a Gun these things as above mentioned
I give to my son Jonathan obligeing him to pay all my Debts and
funeral Charges and also to make up to his two sisters Abigail and
Lucia what shall be wanting of a hundred and ten Pounds after
my wife has spared to them what shee Can out of the Utentials
in the House : and further that he shall find his Mother her fire-
wood during her Widowhood and further I give to my son Jon-
athan three Acres of land off from the West End of my lot at
Wolf-pit-hill also all my sheep

Item I give to my two Daughters Abigail and Lucia fifty five
Pounds a peice which is to be made out of the Utentials in the
House so far as my wife can spare them and what they fall short
of a hundred and ten Pounds my Will is that my son Jonathan
shall make up to his sisters

Item I give to my well beloved son Stephen Stow all my lot-
ment of land at Wolfpithill Excepting the three acres given to
my son Jonathan further my will is that my Read cow and all my
swine Except one and all my Corn and flax & wool shall be dis-
posed off for the Present soport of my famely

and I do Constitute make and ordain my son Jonathan Stow my
sole Executor of this my last Will and Testament Ratifying and
confirming this and no other to be my last Will and Tesament Jn
Witness where of I have hereunto sett Hand and Seal the day and
year aboue written

Saml! Stow
John Shepard
Thomas Johnson Signed Sealed Published pronounced and
Jona Stocking declaired by the Said Samuel Stow as his
. last Will & Testament in presence of us

Witnesses

Middletown December y¢ 15th A.D. 1741 Then personally Ap-
peared Capt. Thomas Johnson and Mr John Shepard & made Sol-
emn Oath that they Saw Deacon Sam! Stow Decd Sign Seal Pub-
lish and Declare the within written Instrument to be his Last will
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and Testament and that at the Same time they Judged Him to be
of Sound Disposing mind and Memory and that they with Jon-
athan Stocking Set to their names as witnesses In presence of
the Testator Sworn

before me Jabez Hamlin Just Pacs

Exhibited by Jonathan Stow Ex* January AD
1741/2 the sth Day approved Test Jos: Talcott
Clerk.
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WILLIAM HAWXHURST.

b. 1703.
m. 1736 (April 5, probably).
d. October 26, 1790.

William Hawxhurst, son of Samson and Hannah (Townsend)
Hawxhurst, was born in 1703 probably at Buckram, now Locust
Valley, Queens County, Long Island, N. Y. (/7 e his parents
see act appended to this article.)

In partnership with his brother Benjamin, William was engaged
in the milling business with its concomitant branches and was also
an importer and dealer in general merchandise.” His mills were
mainly at Cold Spring Harbor. From the number of documents
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of various kinds recorded in the Town Book and from the receipts
for the delivery of grain and agreements to purchase that appear
therein, it is evident that the family must have been living at
this time in the town of Oysterbay,! probably in the village of the
same name.

The following items are taken from the Town Book and are of
interest as relating to his business : —

1748.

William Wright sells to William and Benjamin Hawxhurst go
acres of land at Cold Spring Harbor adjoining the Hawxhurst saw
and fulling mill dam. (Cold Spring Harbor is on the stream divid-
ing the towns of Huntington and Oysterbay.)

1750.
William Hawxhurst sells to brother Benjamin property at west
end of the town.

1750.

William Hawxhurst transfers to brother Benjamin moiety of
three grist mills, one saw mill and one fulling mill at Cold Spring
Harbor, with other buildings etc.

1753.

William Hawxhurst of Oyster Bay,! merchant, appoints as his
attorneys James Burling and Paul Richards, of New York city,
David Seaman, Daniel Underhill, Jobn Cock and Samuel Willis,
of the township of Oysterbay, to dispose of property at Cold Spring,
bought of Joseph Ireland and Thomas Dodge, and the smith shop
at west end of dam, etc. John Cock and Daniel Underhill are to
dispose of the live stock ; wife Anne and daughter Hannah to dis-
pose of goods in the shop; and goods expected from England are
to be sold on arrival and money remitted, etc., etc.

Witnesses : Daniel Birdsall, Penn Townsend, Lazarus Horton.

The two brothers seem to have attempted to carry on a more
extensive business than the field warranted, for they failed, and in
1Qpysterbay is the township; Oyster Bay the village.
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an act for the relief of certain insolvent debtors passed by the
Assembly on January 27, 1770, William is mentioned as having
made an assjgnment.

The following items are taken from Onderdonk’s “ Queens
County, N. Y.” The first two appeared in the New York Postboy,
a newspaper published during the period indicated, and the last is
probably from the same paper although it is not so stated.

July 3, 1749.

Reasonable rewards. —Run away from William and Benjamin Hawkshurst,
‘Oysterbay, a negro man, Tom, a middle size yellow fellow, pretty well clothed,
and took a horse.

1754.

On the evening of the 4th September, a negro man, Tom, middle stature, pock-
broken, belonging to Benjamin Hawkshurst, Cold Spring, was discovered carry-
ing away from his master’s mills a bag of Indian meal to sell it. Whereupon
he left. It is supposed he has been instrumental to wrong his master to a con-
siderable value. Whoever takes him may depend upon being well rewarded.
He was brought up in the city and can work at the baking business.

January 30, 1769.

To let, the noted mills and farm thereto belonging, at Cold Spring, now in
occupation of Rowland Chambers, lately known as Hawkshurst's Mills. Enquire
of Nathaniel Marston, New York. .

William was a private in Captain Cornelius Van Horne’s com-
‘pany of colonial militia, his name appearing as * Hauckshurst "’ on
a roll of the company dated February 8, 1737/8.

In 1755 lists were made out of the number of slaves owned in
the various towns on Long Island, and William is put down as
owning one male and one female slave at Huntington, and one
female slave at Oyster Bay.

In addition to the business at Cold Spring and Opyster Bay,
already mentioned, he may also have had at that time certain
interests in New York city, for a William Hawkshurst was admitted
a freeman there November 26, 1734. He was certainly in business
there later for his son-in-law William Denning speaks of him
in 1765 as “William Hawxhurst of New York, Merchant.” In
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Sabine’s * Loyalists of the American Revolution” he is described
as being a merchant of New York and dealing in “pig-iron,
anchors, potash, kettles, negro wenches and children, horses, &c.”
After 1753 he apparently made no further attempt to carry on
business in Long Island, and seems to have devoted much of his
time to his interests in the Sterling Iron Works, situated in
" Orange County, N. Y., with which he became connected and of
which he was afterwards one of the proprietors.

These works were the first of their kind in the state of New
York and must have been the first, or among the first, in this
country. According to Eager’s History of Orange County, the
furnace was erected in 1751 by Ward & Colton, and the forge in

d from S 1 Cock, May 14, 1738.

1752 by Abel Noble, of Pennsylvama. The first anchor manu-
factured in the state was made by these works in 1753, and steel
was first turned out here by Peter Townsend in 1776.

A quantity of land was taken up by those interested in the
works. William Hawxhurst had surveyed to him 104 acres on
November 29, 1757; 104% acres on July 20, 1761 ; and 100{%
acres on April 13, 1768. This land was held under title from the
government of New Jersey, it lying within the bounds of that
colony at the time of purchase. The boundary line which was.
subsequently determined upon between New York and New Jer-
sey brought the property within the bounds of the province of
New York, and the New York Assembly passed an act on Febru-
ary 16, 1771, guaranteeing the title thereto.

On June 10, 1760, the Assembly passed “An Act to enable the
persons therein named to lay out a Road from the Sterling Iron-
Works across the High Lands to Haverstraw Landing on Hudsons
River in Orange County.” 'The petitioners for the road were
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«William Hawxhurst and others Interested with him in the Said
Sterling Iron-Works and sundry other Persons Inhabiting and
holding Lands in the County of Orange aforesaid.” Henry Wis.
ner, Jr., Charles Clinton and William Hawxhurst were appointed
commissioners to lay out the road.

The following entry appears among the minutes of a meeting
of the Council held at Fort George, in the city of New York,
Wednesday, May 27, 1761 : —

The Petition of William Hawkshurst praying for a Grant for the sole making
of Anchors and Anvills within this Province for the Term of Thirty years, or such
other Term, and under such Regulations as shall be thought meet, was presented
to the Board, and being read was rejected.

In the Journal of the New York Provincial Congress, under date
of May 22, 1776, there is the following entry : —

Francis Lewis, Esquire, informed this Congress that William Hawxhurst is
employed by contract in making anchors for the Continental navy, in which busi-
ness he cannot proceed without a small supply of gunpowder, and therefore he
applied for 100 weight of gunpowder, for William Hawxhurst, for the use of the
iron works, to be paid for in cash.

Ordered, That Mr Richard Norwood, commissary of Colony stores, deliver
to Mr. William Hawxhurst one hundred weight of gunpowder at the price of
thirty pounds, on receiving the ready money for the said hundred weight of gun-
powder, and that the said Richard Norwood, pay the said sum of thirty pounds
to Peter Van Brugh Livingston, Esquire, as Treasurer of this Congress, and
take a receipt for the same.

In 1777 a bill was rendered the Government by the Sterling
Iron Works, through Noble & Townsend, for a boom and chain.
This was the famous iron chain the Government ordered to be
extended across the Hudson River, just below West Point, to pre-
vent the British vessels from passing up as they did after taking
Fort Montgomery. The links were made of bar iron nearly two
inches square, each link weighing between 140 and 150 pounds.
The whole chain weighed 186 tons, and was made and delivered
in six weeks. It was made in pieces, ten links being fastened to-
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gether in the usual manner at the forge and the eleventh link left
open with holes through the ends, through which a bolt could be
passed to unite that link with the next one. The pieces were
taken separately in carts to where the chain was to be extended
across the river and there joined together. The British did not
again attempt to pass up the river after the chain was placed in
position, and it was taken up in 1783, unbroken and in good con-
dition. In the bill referred to there is the entry : — *“ Aug. By
cash paid Mr. Hawxhurst . . . £500.”

In 1771 Joseph Totten and Stephen Crossfield obtained a li-
cense to purchase from the Indians a tract of land on the west side
of the Hudson River and in 1772 they bought 800,000 acres, which
were divided into lots. William Hawxhurst seems to have had
some interest in this property for on February 18, 1774, he gave
a deed of release to Ebenezer Jessup for lot No. 7 in the Totten
and Crossfield purchase.

The writer has always believed that William Hawxhurst was a
friend to the American cause during the Revolution and it was
-somewhat of a surprise to find him mentioned among those whom
Sabine describes as loyalists. In that writer's ¢ Loyalists of the
American Revolution ” there is the following paragraph : —

Hawxhurst, William. Of New York. Merchant, *¢ dealing in pig-iron, anchors,
potash, kettles, negro wenches and children, horses,” &c. In 1776 he was an
Addresser of Lord and Sir William Howe. .

The address alluded to by Mr. Sabine is as follows : —

To the Right Honourable RICHARD, Lord Viscount HOWE, of the Kingdom
-of Ireland, and to His Excellency the Hon. WILLIAM HOWE, Esquire, Gen-
eral of his Majesty’s Forces in AMERICA, the King's Commissioners for restor-
ing peace to his Majesty's Colonies in NORTH-AMERICA.

The humble Representation and Petition of the Freeholders and Inhabitants
of QUEEN'S County, on the Island of NASSAU, in the Province of NEW-
YORK :

Your Excellencies having, by your Declaration of July last, opened to us the
pleasing prospect of returning peace and security, long banished by the many
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calamities surrounding us, we entertained the most sanguine expectations that
the Colonies would at length have submitted to their duty, and acknowledged the
constitutional authority they had so wantonly opposed.

When we compared the dismal situation of the country, suffering under all the
evils attending the most convulsive state, with the mild and happy government
it had before experienced, we saw no ground for hesitation ; from happiness we
had fallen into misery, from freedom to oppression! We severely felt the
change and lamented our condition. Unfortunately for us, these hopes were
blasted by the infatuated conduct of the Congress. Your Excellencies, neverthe-
less, having been pleased by a subsequent Declaration again to hold up the most
benevolent offers, and to repeat his Majesty’s gracious intentions towards the
obedient :

Permit us, his Majesty's loyal and well-affected subjects, the freeholders and
inhabitants of Queen's County, humbly to represent to your Excellencies that we
bear true allegiance to his Majesty George the Third, and are sincerely attached
to his sacred person, crown and dignity ; that we consider the union of these
Colonies with the parent State essential to their well being; and our earnest
desire is that the constitutional authority of Great Britain over them may be
preserved to the latest ages.

And we humbly pray that your Excellencies would be pleased to declare this.
County at the peace of his Majesty, and thereby enable us to receive the benefits.
flowing from his most gracious protection.

Queen’s County, October 21, 1776.

This address was signed by 1293 persons, among whom were
Henry, Simeon, John, Joseph and Samuel Hawxhurst, and W.
Hawxhurst. Mr. Sabine assumes that “ W. Hawxhurst ” is Wil-
liam Hawxhurst of New York city, merchant. In this he is
certainly wrong. In the first place, William Hawxhurst trans-
ferred all his interests from Queens County to New York city
and Orange County, N. Y., after his failure in Oyster Bay in 1753,
and it is most unlikely that he would have returned to Queens
County for the purpose of signing this or any other address. In
the second place, William Hawxhurst was under contract to the
Government as early as May 22, 1776, to manufacture anchors for
the Continental navy. He was also furnishing the Government
with iron work (see page 219). The fact that he rendered such
services precludes the possibility of his having been a loyalist, for
under no circumstances, it is presumed, would the Government
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have entrusted its interests, direct or indirect, to any whose
loyalty was doubted.

The “ W. Hawxhurst ”” who signed the address was undoubtedly
William, son of Joseph and Sarah (Mott) Hawxhurst, who was
fifteen years old at the time. Of the other Hawxhursts who
signed Joseph was his father and Henry, Simeon and John his
cousins. Samuel the writer cannot place.

He is described by his great-great-granddaughter, Mary Thorne
Jackson, of Middletown, Connecticut, as a fine looking man, who
always wore a cocked hat, sword and lace ruffies. He was a man
of wealth for those days and was one of the first in New York to
keep a private carriage. Having no sons, he educated his three
daughters like boys and they were considered very clever women
for those early colonial days. Thompson, in his History of Long
Island, says of him that he was “a man of much reach of mind
and of great forecast and sagacity. It is well known that he fre-
quently predicted an event which has since happened, the uniting
the Great Lakes with the Hudson River by a canal.”

William married Anne, daughter of Ebenezer and Mehitable
(Mudge) Pratt, of Oyster Bay. His marriage bond is dated April
5, 1736. The name is there spelled “ Hawks,” the form some-
times colloquially used.! According to Dr. Peter S. Townsend,
William was a gay young gallant with a cocked hat and scarlet
coat, who, without the consent or approval of Anne’s parents, took
her behind him on a pillion like a young Lochinvar and carried her
away to a magistrate to be married. “ This is confirmed,” writes
Dr. Townsend, “by our housekeeper, Caroline Spenham, who
rocked me in my cradle and was brought up in the Hawxhurst
family,” The authority for the statement that his wife was the
daughter of Ebenezer and Mehitable (Mudge) Pratt is also con-

1 That this form of the name was not uncommon is shown by the following memorandum
concerning William's father taken from Documents Relating to the Colonial History of the
State of New York: — :

“ An Act for confirming an agreement and exchange of lands in the township of Oysterbay
formerly made between Samson Hawks and John Pratt deceased &c.”

“ Samson Hawks " is the Sampson Hawxhurst of the act appended to this article,
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tained in the notes of Dr. Townsend who quotes his grandmother
Hannah, wife of Peter Townsend and daughter of William Hawx-
hurst, as saying that her grandmother was the wife of Ebenezer
Pratt and that her maiden name was Mehitable Mudge. Dr.
Townsend was an indefatigable collector of genealogical material
and his notes, which are now in possession of his nephews at
Oyster Bay, contain much valuable information concerning the
Hawxhurst, Townsend and other families, Among his notes the
writer found the following interesting item : — :

My maternal great-grandfather Mr. Wm. Hawkeshurst Esq. was an eminent
merchant of New York long before the American Revolution. Jesse Oakley,
brother of Judge Thos. Oakley of the Supreme Court of New York (1839)
told me his father Jesse (as my mother had told me) was brought up in my
grandfather Hawkeshurst’s counting house & that at that time he, Mr. H.,
was the only person in New York besides the governor who drove his carriage.
My father's sister (Aunt Sarah) says he was a tall, fine looking, rather spare
man, with an acquiline nose like my Mother's brother, uncle Isaac Townsend,
& of polished manners. He wore a blue mantle and a cocked hat with gold
lace. He traded much with the west Indies & with Newfoundland. In the
latter at the solicitation of a Mrs. Denning he took on board a youth named
Wm. Denning, her son, and brought him up in his store at New York. Mr.
Hawkeshurst md Anne, daughter of —— Pratt of O. Bay.

The newspaper notice of William Hawxhurst’s death, taken from
Onderdonk’s “ Queens County, N. Y.,” reads : — “ 1790, Oct. 29.
—Died, on Tuesday, aged eighty-seven, William Hawkshurst,
merchant of New York. He was interred in the family burying-
ground, Oysterbay.” The Tuesday preceding October 29, 1790,
was October 26, and the date of his death was, therefore, as given
at the head of this article, namely, October 26, 1790. The date
of the death of his wife is not known. '

Their children, all born in Oyster Bay, were : —

1. Hannah, married Peter Townsend (marriage bond dated Feb-
ruary 14, 1761) and had issue.

2. Sarah, born November 27, 1740; married William Denning
June 28, 1765, and had issue ; died October 14, 1776.
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3. Anne, married Lieutenant Budd of the English navx&lovember
28, 1773, and had issue.

4. Amy, born 1748; married first Phineas McIn‘sh and had
issue ; married second William Denning, he: brother-in-law,
1777, and had issue ; died May 7, 1808.
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The following act, passed December 16, 1737, and confirmed
June 12, 1739, is given in full because of its genealogical value.
It mentions by name William Hawxhurst, his parents, and his
mother’s father, three generations in all.

An Act for Confirming An Agreement and
Exchange of Lands in the Township of Oyster-
bay formerly made Between Sampson Hawx-
hurst and John Pratt Deceased and Securing
those Claiming under them or Either of them in
their Possessions; AND also to Secure those in
their Possessions who Hold Certain other Lands
in the said Township which were formerly
Conveyed to the said Sampson by his Brother
William Hawxhurst.

WHEREAS John Townsend late of Oysterbay in Queens
County Deceased by Deed under his hand and Seal bearing Date
the Eighteenth Day of January one Thousand Six hundred and
Ninety Eight in Consideration of Natural Love and Affection did
Grant unto Sampson Hawxhurst his Son in Law and to his
Daughter Hannah the Wife of the Said Sampson A Certain par-
cell of Land Containing about one hundred and Eighty acres
lying at a place Called Cedar Swamp in the Township of Oyster-
bay aforesaid TO HOLD unto them the said Sampson and Han-
nah and their Heirs which he the said Sampson should beget
of his aforesaid Daughter Hannah to dispose of Amongst them
as he the said Sampson Should See Cause, as in and by the
said Deed may more fully and at Large appear, BY Virtue
of which Deed they the said Sampson and Hannah became
Seized of the premises and were possessed thereof Until some
time in the year One Thousand Seven hundred and Thirteen
when the said Sampson and Hannah did Consent and Agree to .
and with one John Pratt of Oysterbay aforesaid Carpenter to
Exchange the said Lands for the Lands and premises hereinafter
mentioned, and Accordingly the said parties did Execute Either



226 THE MACDONOUGH-HACKSTAFF ANCESTRY.

to the other Certain Deeds or instruments in writing under their
hands and Seals bearing Date the Twenty ffifth day of March
in the said Year one Thousand SEVEN Hundred and Thirteen
for that purpose That is to say, the said Sampson Hawxhurst
and Hannah his wife did Give and Execute unto the said John
Pratt a Certain Deed for the Lands Conveyed unto them by their
flather as aforesaid TO HOLD to him the said John In ffee
Simple, AND the said John Pratt and Anne his Wife did Give
and Execute unto the said Sampson Hawxhurst A Deed for a
Certain Tract or Neck of Land and Meadows at a place Called
Matenicock in the Bounds of Oysterbay aforesaid Containing by
Estimation Two hundred and Thirty Acres TO HOLD to him the
said Sampson in ffee Simple As in and by the said two last men-
tioned and in part recited Deeds May also more fully and at Large
appear; BY VIRTUE of which Exchange so made the said par-
ties possessed themselves of the Lands by them Exchanged and
Conveyed to Each other as aforesaid and were Generally Esteemed
and taken to be the real true and Lawfull owners and proprietors
thereof ; And Accordingly the said John Pratt in and by A
Certain Deed under his hand and Seal bearing Date on or about
the Twenty Seventh Day of May in the Year one Thousand
Seven hundred and Nineteen for A Valuable Consideration Did
Sell and Convey the Lands which he so had in Exchange from the
said Sampson Hawxhurst to one John Wood in ffee, and so the
Same Lands have since from time to time been Sold Conveyed
and Devised in Several parcells to Several persons under the said
John Wood, who have made very Considerable Improvements and
Buildings thereon, and Now hold and possess the Same under him
by Virtue of the Titles aforesaid, AND the said Sampson Hawx-
hurst by his Last Will and Testament under his hand and Seal bear-
ing Date the Twenty Third Day of October One Thousand Seven
hundred and Thirty two Devised the Lands which he so had in
Exchange from the said John PRATT unto and Among his Chil-
dren therein Named in ffee, who now Hold and possess the Same
Accordingly, AND WHEREAS William Hawxhurst brother to
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the aforesaid Sampson by Deed under his hand and Seal bearing
date the Twentieth Day of October one Thousand Seven hundred
and Two In Consideration of Natural Affection did give and
Grant unto the said Sampson Hawxhurst in General Tail;
All his right of Lands and Meadows which he had within the
patent and Township of Oysterbay both divided and undivided
Consisting of Several Lotts in divers parts of the Said Town by
Estimation all amounting to about one hundred and ffifty acres, as
in and by the said impart recited Deed may more fully and at
Large appear AND WHEREAS the said William and Sampson
Hawxhurst Soon after the makeing and Executing of the Same
Last mentioned Deed did for a Valuable Consideration Sell and
Convey two of the said Last mentioned Lotts (so as aforesaid Set-
tled on him the said Sampson in Tail) unto one William Crooker
in ffee, notwithstanding the Settlement aforesaid, AND WHERE-
AS after the Death of the said William the said Sampson by Virtue
of the said Last mentioned Deed of Settlement from his brother
the Said William Hawxhurst possessed himself of the said Lands
and was Generally Esteemed the true rightfull and Lawfull owner
and proprietor thereof, And accordingly Sold a Great part of the
Same Lands and Meadows Contained in the said Last mentioned
Deed to Several persons in ffee Simple, and the remainder of What
he Did not so Sell, he by his Last Will and Testament Devised
Some part to pay his just Debts and the remainder unto and
Among his Children in ffee who hold and Enjoy the Same
By Virtue thereof; AND WHEREAS Micajah Townsend of
OYSTER BAY in Queens County aforesaid and William
Hawxhurst the Eldest son and heir at Law to the aforesaid
Sampson Hawxhurst in behalf of themselves and the rest of
the present owners and possessors of the Lands and premises
aforesaid, by their Humble Petition to the House of Represen-
tatives ; Setting forth the premises herein before recited, and
further that the said Lands have from time to time been Sold
and disposed of from one to another believing that the said Samp-
son had Good Right to Sell and dispose of the Same in ffee
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Simple according to his Conveyances; And that Great Improve-
ments have been made thereon, and the Same are Now held
by Several ffamilys who will in a Great measure be Ruined in
Case the heir in Tail Should attempt to take Advantage of the
Ignorance of the times and persons who purchased the Same
Lands as aforesaid, And as the petition’'r William Hawxhurst the
Eldest Son and heir at Law to the said Sampson is Willing and
Desirous that the Deeds Conveyances and Devises So as aforesaid
made by his aforesaid ffather and Uncle Should be Good and Valid
to pass an Estate in ffee Simple to the said John Pratt and the
rest of the Grantees of the Lands to them Sold or devised accord-
ing to the intention of the parties, prayed Leave to bring in a Bill
to be relieved in the premises, AND WHEREAS Proof hath been
made before his Hon'’r the Lieutenant Governour in Councill and
Entred in the Councill Book, that Publick Notifications of the said
petition’rs Intentions to Apply for this Act have been made in the
Parish of Hempstead where the Premises Lye for three Sundays
and more Successively before the presentation of their said peti-
tion pursuant to his Majesty’s Royal Instructions for that purpose,
And the General Assembly Conceiveing it highly reasonable and
just that relief should be Given in the premises

BE IT THEREFORE ENACTED BY HIS HONOUR
THE LIEUTENANT GOVERNOUR THE COUNCILL
AND GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND IT IS HEREBY EN-
ACTED BY THE AUTHORITY OF THE SAME That the
said Micajah Townsend and all and every other person and persons
who now own and are possessed of any part or parcells of the
Lands so as aforesaid Exchanged and Conveyed by the said Samp-
son Hawxhurst and John Pratt to Each other or Contained in the
said Deed from William Hawxhurst to his brother the said Samp-
son Hawxhurst as aforesaid, BY VIRTUE of any devise Gift
Grant or Purchase made of from or by the said Sampson and Wil-
liam Hawxhurst or Either of them or the said John Pratt or the
Executors of the said Sampson or of from or by their or any of
their Assigns Claiming by from or Under them the said Sampson
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and William Hawxhurst or Either of them or the said John Pratt
or the Executors of the said Sampson, Shall from hence forth and
for Ever be adjudged Deemed and taken to be the true rightfull
and Lawfull owner and owners of Such part of the Said Lands so
by them Severally possessed, and Shall and may have hold and
Enjoy the Same against the Heirs of the said John Townsend
Sampson Hawxhurst William Hawxhurst and John Pratt and
against the Heirs of Each and Every of them, According to their
Respective Deeds of purchase, or Gift, or Devise made unto them
by Will; any thing in the said Deed of Settlement from the said
John Townsend to the said Sampson Hawxhurst or in the said
Deed of Settlement from the said William Hawxhurst to the
said Sampson or Either of them to the Contrary thereof in any
wise notwithstanding —

AND BE IT FURTHER ENACTED BY THE AUTHOR-
ITY aforesaid, That all the Remainder of the Lands aforesaid so as
aforesaid Settled on the said Sampson Hawxhurst which he in his
Life time did not Sell Convey and dispose of shall be and hereby
Are Vested in the Sons of him the said Sampson in ffee; to be
Divided Among them according to the true intent and meaning of
the Last Will and Testament of him the said Sampson Hawxhurst.

SAVEING always unto his Majesty his heirs and Successors
And all Bodys Politick and Corporate and all other persons what-
soever (Except such as are mentioned in this Act and those Claim-
ing by from or Under them) their Respective rights of in and to
the premises and every part thereof ; PROVIDED always that
neither this Act nor anything therein Contained shall be of fforce
untill his most Sacred Majesty shall be Graciously pleased to Give
his Royal Assent thereunto. (The Colonial Laws of New York,

11, 982—986.)
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WILLIAM HALLOCK.

b. after 1679.
m.
d. 1765 (before March 1g).

WiLLiam Havrvrock, son of John and Abigail (Swazy) Hallock,

was born probably at Setauket, in the town of Brookhaven, Long
Island, where his father lived for many years. William is sup-
posed to have lived at Stony Brook, also in the town of Brook-
haven, and the Brookhaven town records contain two references
to him, once in 1741 as being assessed 2s. 11d. county tax, and
again in 1749 as being assessed 17s. 10d. county tax.

He married Dinah ( ), but the date of his marriage is not
known. His wife survived him. He died in 1765 and before
March 19, as is shown by proceedings of the Surrogates’ Court,

New York city.

. His will was pro-
W’%Wﬂ 4¢%’% bated June 1,
From his will dated March 4, 1748/5. 1765, and the
original is on file
in New York. A curious thing about the will is that it is dated
March 4, 1748/9, about 16 years before the testator’s death, an
unusual occurrence in those days when the period between the
making of a will and the death of the maker was generally very
brief.
The children, all probably born in Stony Brook and in tabulated
form for convenience only, were : —
1. Jesse, born about 1715 ; married Phceebe Burling 1765 and had
issue ; died 1790.
2. William, born 1722; married Sarah Saxton before 1750 and
had issue ; died about 1782.
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3. Richard, born May 13, 1724; married Sarah Ludlam before
1755 and had issue; died February 12, 1821.

4. David, married and had issue.

5. Mary, married William Long before March 4, 1748/9.

6. Dinah.

7. Sarah.

8. Elizabeth.

WILL.

IN THE NAME OF GOD AMEN. .

Ye forth day or March Anno quo : 1748-9 I, William Hallack of
Brook Haven in Suffolk County and Colony of New York Yeoman,
being perfect in health and Memory, thanks be to God for the
same therefore calling to mind the mortallity of Man, and know-
ing that it is appointed for all men once to die do make and ordain
my Last Will and Testament, that is to say principally and first of
all I give and recommend my soule into the hands of Almighty
God that gave it and my body I recommend unto the earth to
be buried in a Christian decent manner according to the discres-
sion of my Executors hereafter named nothing doubting but to
receive the same by the Mighty power of God and as touching
such world estate wherewith it hath pleased God to bless me in
this Life, I give, demise and dispose of the same in the following
manner and form.

IMPRIMIS. I give and bequeath to Dinah my dearly beloved
wife all my moveable estate after my just debts and funeral charges
are paid out of the same by my Exts and also my whole estate
both personall and real during her Widowhood and no longer ex-
cepting the Lott whereon my son Jesses house now stands being
about Sixteen rods wide and to extend across the road Westward
the same wedth to the end of my bounds and likewise a lott of
the same wedth on the other side the length of my bounds to my
son William and the homestead between these two Lotts and hill
fronting to Richard and David equally between them at the
Decease or Marriage of their Mother.
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Item. I give and bequeath unto my sons Jesse William Rich-
ard and David after the decease or marriage of their Mother all
the remainder of their lands and Meadows equally except Jesse
and his part to be ten pounds the best so judged by reasonable
men.

Item. I give and bequeath to my four daughters Mary Dinah
Sarah and Elizabeth all my moveable estate equally among. them
to be divided after the expiration of the said widowhood, it is my
will that the part which falleth to my daughter Mary Long wife
to William Long to be given to her and her own disposal and not
his for her own use and also that she may Lodg the same in any
of her friends hands for her use, and I do hereby make and ordain
my wife Dinah Hallock and my son Jesse Hallock my Executors
of this my last Will and Testament and I do hereby utterly dis-
allow revoke and disannul all and ever other former Testaments
Wills, Legacies, Bequeasts and Executors Whatsoever by me in
any ways before named Willed and bequeathed ratifying and con-
firming this and no other to be my last Will and Testament.

In Witness whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and seal the
day and year above written.

William Hallock.

Signed, Sealed, Published Pronounced and De-
clared by the said William Hallock as his last
Will and Testament in the presents of us the
subscribers Samuel Davis George Davis Jesse
Willets.
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WILLIAM MORRELL.

b.
m. before 1766.
d. after February 4, 1821.

A diligent search has failed to bring to light any information
concerning William Morrell, father of Elizabeth (Morrell) Sinclair.
Were it not for the fact that his daughter mentions him in her
will we would not know even his name. According to family
tradition he was a Huguenot and lived in New Rochelle, West-
chester County, N. Y. Such records as were available in New
Rochelle and also the records of the office of the Register of Deeds
and of the Surrogate’s Court at White Plains, Westchester County,
have been examined, but no trace of him was found therein.

While there is nothing but family tradition to support the state-
ment that he lived in New Rochelle, there is positive evidence
that he did live, for a time at least, in New York city. This evi-
dence is contained in the record in the Department of Health, City
of New York, relative to the death of his daughter, Elizabeth
(Morrell) Sinclair, who, it is stated, was born in New York (see
footnote 4, page 191). This places William Morrell in New York
in 1766. Records in the city and vicinity which would be at all
likely to mention him have been examined, but no information
was discovered concerning him. There were other Morrells in
New York and among them at least one Huguenot family. In
the records of the present French Church du St. Esprit (formerly

“Eglise Francoise 2 la Nouvelle York”) there is the following
entry : —

Bateme — Aujourdhuy 18¢ Juin 1758. apres Lexercisse du soir 4 eté Batisé par
moy Pasteur soussigné Mathieu fils naturel et legitime de Jacques Balme et de
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Suzanne Balme sa femme, parain Mathieu morel, maraine Jeanne Marie Morel,
lenfant est né le 15. du mois de may dernier, fait en Consistoire le dt Jour 18¢
Juin 1758.
JEAN CARLE Pasteur MATHIEU MOREL
JANNE MARIE MORELLE
VALLADE ANCIEN
JAQUE DESBROSSES

The Mathieu and Jeanne Marie Morel (Morelle) here mentioned
had a daughter Catherine, born April 19, 1759, and a daughter
Marguerite, born February 7, 1762, both of whom are mentioned
in the same records. If William Morrell was a Huguenot it is
possible that he was connected with the family mentioned in the
records of the old French Church.

There were also Morrells in the western portion of Long Island,
one of whom, William Morrell of Queens County, ship carpenter,
married Elizabeth Baker of the same County January 21, 1763.
The similarity in the names, the date of the marriage and the
significant repetition of the name Elizabeth make it not at all
unlikely that William and Elizabeth (Baker) Morrell of Long
Island were the parents of Elizabeth (Morrell) Sinclair.

That the latter’s father was married before 1766 is deduced from
the knowledge that she was born in that year, and that he died after
February 4, 1821, is known from his being mentioned in her will
which was made on that date.

His only known child was : —

1. Elizabeth, born in New York city 1766 ; married James Sin-
clair 1787 (probably) and had issue ; died February 8, 1821.
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SEVENTH GENERATION.

THOMAS SHALER.

b

m: 1669 (probably).
d. 1692.

THOMAS SHALER'S great-grandson, Nathaniel Shaler, writes of
his great-grandfather as being ‘“the first (and, as I suppose, the
only one) of the name that ever came to this country. He, it is
said, landed first at Killingworth, in what capacity I know not or
for what reasons he quitted his Native Country, but I trust he
must have been an Adventurer with small means, as much wealth
has never been in possession of the family down to the present
generation. They have hitherto sustained the character of being
industrious Honest people and of good repute.”

It is supposed that Thomas Shaler came from Stratford-on-
Avon, England. He is first found in this country at Haddam,
Connecticut, in 1662. On May 20 of that year the General
Court of Connecticut completed the purchase from the Indians
of the land on which Haddam now stands, and shortly after a
party of 28 men from Hartford, Windsor and Wethersfield, of
whom Thomas Shaler was one, commenced a settlement there.
He was assigned a house lot a little way back from the river and
near his father-in-law, Garrard Spencer.

On June 13, 1671, there was a division of unoccupied land on
the basis of 20 acres to every 4100. The choice of location
was drawn in order as follows:—‘Mr. Bate, George Gates,

235
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Thomas Brooks, parsonage lot, Daniel Brainrd, John Baly, Wiates
lot, Garird Spenser, Tho. Spenser, Steven Luxford, John Hensson,
Joseph Stanrd, Samuell Spenser, James Welles, widow blachford,
thomas Shailler, william Corbe, Mr. Noyes, John Bate, william
ventrous, Goodman Ackley, thymo Spenser, thomas Smith, Good-
man dybell, dainell Cone, william Clark, John Paranes.” This
was the first general division of common land on the west side of
the river. It was probably not laid out in .a body but each man,
in the order in which his choice occurred, was allowed to select
20 acres to every hundred pounds of his valued estate wherever
he desired provided the land was not already taken.

In October, 1671, according to the records of the General
Court, he was propounded for freeman.

In the record of the proceedings of the General Court for
October, 1676, there is the following entry:—

Vpon the request of Thomas Shaylor, this Court haueing presented to them
a deed of sale that Mary Corby gaue him for a parcell of land in Haddum, bear-
ing date the 10th of January, 1674, and being informed that Wm. Corbe had
made sale of the sayd land to Shaylor in his life time, by the information of
Ensigne Spencer and George Gates the Deputies of s¢ Haddum — this Court
upon request saw good reason to confirme the sayd deed and grant of land
therein made, unto Thomas Shaylor and his heirs and assignes foreuer.

During a portion of the period between June 14, 1673, and
October 16, 1683, he seems to have lived at Killingworth, near
Haddam. On the former date his son Abel was born and on the
latter date his daughter Hannah, both births being recorded in
the Haddam town records. On December 16, 1677, according to
Savage, a son, Nathaniel, was born in Killingworth, which indi-
cates residence at that place. Another son, Timothy, was prob-
ably also born at Killingworth, for he does not appear in the
Haddam records.

Even in those early days there was considerable trade between
the towns along the Connecticut River and the West Indies, and
in common with many of the river men, Thomas Shaler spent
more or less of the time at sea. In writing of his great-grand-




THOMAS SHALER. 237

father Nathaniel Shaler did not say, for he probably did not know,
that Thomas was a sailor, the calling of many of the men of
Haddam. His last voyage was made in 1692 to the West Indies,
and as he never returned he was probably lost at sea.

From the wording of the entry in the records of the Probate
Court when letters of administration were issued on his estate
some years later, it is evident that no certain news of his death
ever reached his family. His was one of those numberless cases
where poor Jack has set sail from the home port with a light
heart and a fair wind, never to be heard of again.

After waiting patiently and hopefully for many years, Thomas
and Timothy Shaler applied on November 1, 1714, for letters of
administration on their father’s estate. They were granted and
the administrators were directed to file an inventory of the estate.
On December 22 of the same year the brothers Thomas, Abel
and Timothy signed an agreement respecting the division of the
property, Thomas waiving certain rights which the law gave him
as the eldest son.

Thomas Shaler’s wife was Alice Brooks, widow of Thomas
Brooks and daughter of Garrard (or Jared) Spencer, whom he
married in 1669 (probably). Goodwin says that she married him
in 1673, but that cannot be so for their son Thomas, whom Good-
win says was born about 1674, was born December 26, 1670, as
shown by the Haddam town records. Thomas Brooks, whom she
married in 1662, died October 18, 1668, and she undoubtedly
married Thomas Shaler soon after, probably in 1669, as stated
above. Thomas Shaler died in 1692 and his wife died probably
before December 22, 1714, as there is no mention of her in the
agreement signed by Thomas, Abel and Timothy Shaler respect-
ing the division of their father’s estate.

The children of Thomas and Alice (Spencer) (Broeks) Shaler
were : —

1. Thomas, born in Haddam December 26, 1670; married Kathorn
( ) October 22, 1696, and had issue; died after Decem-
ber 22, 1714.
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2. Abel, born in Haddam June 14, 1673; married first Mary
( ) January §, 1697/8, and had issue; married second
Hannah ( ) August 7, 1706, and had issue; died Sep-
tember 19, 1744.

3. Timothy, born in Killingworth (probably) ; married first Eliza-
beth ( ) March 28, 1695/6, and had issue; married
second Martha ( ) November 16, 1715, and had issue.

4. Nathaniel, born in Killingworth December 16, 1677 ; died be-
fore December 22, 1714 (probably).

5. Hannah, born in Haddam October 16, 1683; married John
Clark of Hartford, Conn. ; died after December 22, 1714.

EXTRACTS FROM HARTFORD (CONN. PROBATE
RECORDS.

This Court grants Letters of Administration on the Estate of
Thomas Shaylor, Sometime of Haddam, (supposed to be) deceased,
Joyntly to Thomas Shaler and Timothy Shaler sons of the Said
dec’d, provided they give bond as the Law requires. And this
Court Orders the Said Administrators to make and bring to this
Court a true and perfect Inventory of the Estate of the dec’d on
or before the first Munday of February next, and also render an
Acco’t of their Administration on or before the first Munday of
March next. And the Said Thomas & Timothy Shaler Gave
bond accordingly and had Letters of Administration this day.
(November 1, 1714). :

HADDAM, DECEMBER 22nd, ANNO DOM. 1714.

Know all men by these presents that We the subscribers viz.
Thomas Shalor, Abell Shaler and Timothy Shaler Brothren, and
Sons of Thomas Shaler late of the Town of Haddam aforesaid, as
Wee Suppose deceased, and for what Lands, rights in Lands or Com-
monage or Buildings that was our Hon’ed Fathers, Wee the
aforesaid three Shalers Brethren, do for our Selves, our heirs, and
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Assigns, agree and Determine, that (Notwithstanding the Liberty
given by Law to the Eldest Son) shall be thus divided, viz.

To Thomas Shaler Eldest Son, that house and Lott that was
Samuel Gaines his Originall house lott, and a Small Lott in the
Cove meadow, and Fifty three pound right on the neck, or plain
on the East Side the Great River, and Eighteen acres of Land
that was James Hadlocks, and Twenty four acres of Land at Cow
Swamp, and one third part of all rights in undivided Lands and
Commonage on this West Side the Great River.

And to Abell Shaler a House lott that was William Corbys,
containing Eight acres, and that Tract of Land Called Shalers
Farme, and one third part of all the rights in all undivided Land
and Commonage on the West Side the Great River in Said
Haddam.

And to Timothy Shaler that house and house lott that was
bought of Thomas Spencer of Saybrook, and one third part of all
the rights of undivided Lands and Commonage on this West Side
the Great River in Said Haddam bounds.

To the above written, or division of the Lands and Right in
undivided Lands and Commonage that was our hon’d deceased
Fathers as is above Exprest, Shall be, and Remain to be, forever.
And that Wee the Said Thomas, Abell and Timothy Shalers, for
our Selves, our heirs, and assigns are fully satisfied in the above
premises, and do hereby oblige our Selves and aforesaid heirs and
assigns forever hereafter to abide by and Rest Satisfied in.

In Testimony whereof and in full Confirmation of the above
written, Wee have put to our hands and Seals this Date above
written

Thomas Shaler
Abel Shaler
Timothy Shaler

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in presence of us, James Wells,
Joseph Armold.
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INVENTORY.

An Inventory of the Estate of Thomas Shaler late of Haddam
deceased taken by us the Subscribers December 22d Anno Dom.

1714.

Imprimis, a little old house, Orchard & 8 acres up-
land £16. 8 acres wek was Korbys right £8.

12 acres upland £15. wthan old house upon’t yt was
Thomas Spencers £23.

14 acres in Cove meadow £6. 8 acres upland wrcb
was Hadlocks £3. 24 acres at Cove Swamp £3.

80 acres upland & bog meadow called Shalers Farme
A12. 25 acres in the woods £3/15

53d right in undivided land 20/ 189d right dito 70/
land at Matchemoodus £6.

An acco't of movables Hannah Shaler rec’d as pr re-
ceipt £17. apprised by Jno. Ventrus & Jos.
Arnold

3 Calves £2. one Cow 43. old Iron 10s

James Wells
Moses Ventrus
Joseph Arnold
Benj Smith

AUTHORITIES.

History of Middlesex County, Conn., 369, 372.
Goodwin’s Genealogical Notes, 199, 200.
Savage’s Genealogical Dictionary, IV, 5.
Field’s History of Haddam, Conn., 5, 45.

24 00 00
38 00 00
12 00 00
1§ 1§ 00
10 10 00

17 00 00
00 10 00

117 15 0O

Haddam (Conn.) Record of Births, Marriages and Deaths.

Colonial Records of Connecticut, 1665-1677, 163, 287.
Hartford (Conn.) Probate Records.
Hinman'’s ¢ First Puritan Settlers,” 238.
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THOMAS STOW.

6. 1650.
m. October 16, 1675.
d. March 19, 1730.

THomas Stow, son of Thomas and Mary (Griggs) Stow, was
born in Concord, Massachusetts, in 1650. From there he went
with his father, probably in 1669, to Middletown, Connecticut,
where he lived and died.

He settled probably in that part of Middletown then called the
Upper Houses, now Cromwell, for he is included in a tax list of
the inhabitants of the Upper Houses in 1703, being rated as worth

£43. :

* At a town meeting held November 18, 1679,

it was voated be willing that a belle which is purchesed by parte of the
inhabitance of the towne and properly belongs to the purchesers theirof & their
heirs aftter them, that if they be willing that the sayd belle shall be hanged up in
the meeting house that now is belonging to the sayd towne whether the towne
will as a towne defraye the suffisent hanging and fiting to suttable ringing of the
sayd belle for the benefite of the towne and to pay yearly the charge of ye
ringing at all suttable seasons & so to continue soe longe as y¢ purchers shall
see cause. The towne voated excpted the abovesayd. The proprietors of the
bell are these underwritten.

In the list of names which follows *“ Thomas Stow junior” is
put down as having contributed 41 toward the purchase of the
“belle.”

In May, 1717, the General Court did ‘“‘establish and confirm
Mr. Thomas Stow of Middletown to be Ensigne of the north
company or trainband on the south side the ferry river in the town
of Midletown aforesaid.” Six years later, in May, 1723, the Gen-
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eral Assembly did “establish and confirm Mr. Thomas Stow of
Midletown to be Lieutenant of the third company in the town
of Midletown aforesaid, and order that he be commissioned
accordingly.”

In the town records under date of February 8, 1719/20, there
is the following entry : —

We the subscribers do petion to the inhabitants of Middletowne that we may
improve the land we have encloased at the place called the three mile hile two
crops more, and in so dowing you will oblige humble peticioners.

John Stow, Thos. Stow, Sarg Bacon, Sarg Stow, Benjamin Wetmore, David
Strickland.

This petion is granted provided the petioners procure & alow to the town flax
enuff to make a soficiant ferry roape to reach across the ferry river.

In 1724 he was town constable. In May, 1726, the General
Court, on his petition, authorized Elizabeth Blake, widow of John
Blake and executrix of his estate, to execute a deed for a certain
piece of property in Middletown purchased by the petitioner from
the said John Blake who had neglected to deed the property in his
lifetime.

Thomas Stow married Bethia, daughter of Samuel and Bethia
(Hopkins) Stocking, October 16, 1675. He died March 19, 1730,
and his wife, who was born October 10, 1658, died November 6,
1732.

Their children, all born in Middletown, were : —

1. Bethia, born April 6, 1678.

2. Samuel, born October, 1681 ; married Esther, daughter of Hugh
and Martha (Coit) Mould, February 8, 1705, and had issue;
died September 28, 1741.

3. Bethia, born February 22, 1684.

4. Mary, born August, 1688.

5. Thomas, born May 7, 1691.

6. Hannah, born February 11, 1696.

7. Joseph, born August §, 1703.
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WILL.

For as much as my time is Vncertaine, and i know not ye time of
my death i account it my duty to make my last will, and testament
which is as followeth

I resign, and give up my soul, & body to my Soveraign Lord and
maker my God & father in my Lord & Saviour Jesus Christ and
to prevent trouble to those yt shall Survive me, I doe dispose of
yt portion of outward Estate y® Lord hath been pleased in his
mercy to bless me wtk in manner following, Debts, funeral charges
being first payd

I give to my Loving wife Bethiah Stow So much of my estate
to be for her use as She Shall find need of During her natural
Life, as also i give to my wife above mentioned to be att her
Sole dispose all my Stock of creatures wch i shall leave as
also all my right of Lands on ye East side of ye great River yt is
Lying in yt tract of Land belonging to middletown web is called
ye last division, weh sayd stock of creatures & Land is to be at
her dispose so much of it as is left after my Just debts are payd
out of them

Item, I give to my Son Samll ye whole of my home lot wth yt part
of the buildings weh belongeth to me, as also i give him all my
part of Land called y¢ Jsland in pistol point or near Pistol point,
as also three quarters of, my boggy meadow Lot, as also i give him
yt part of my Brother John Stockins Lott in ye west quarter weh
fell to my wife web is called y® mountaine and also i give him so
much of what remains of ye said Lot yt is not before disposed of
and web Lyes atthis side y® mountaine yt is to say of ye ea/t side
of ye mountaine as shall be in proportion a third part of sd Land,
all ys besides wt i have formerly given by deed of gift i doe give to
my Son Samll

Item I give to my Son Thomas Stow a quarter part of my boggy
meddow Lot, as also one third part of y® Lotment of Land in ye
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west quarter wek fell to my wife by brother John Stockin yt is to
say a third part of wt belongs to me of sayd Lot on y® East side
of y¢ mountaine and wek is not before disposed of y* besides wt
i have given formerly given him by Deed of gift i doe give to my
Son Thomas

Item I give to my Son Joseph Stow y® halfe of my pasture att
burch Swamp, as also i give him my Land in wongoge meddow, as
also i give him all my Land att Timber hill as also i give him one
third part of my Right of Land in y* Lotment of John Stockins in
y¢ west quarter yt is to say a third part of wt remains undisposed
of before and weh is on ye east side of y® mountaine all ys i give
to my son Joseph he paying te<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>